# Molecular Line Emission from Planet-Forming Disks with ALMA



Alice S. Booth School of Physics and Astronomy University of Leeds

Submitted in accordance with Doctor of Philosophy

February 2020

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is her own, except where work which has formed part of jointly authored publications has been included. The contribution of the candidate and the other authors to this work has been explicitly indicated. The candidate confirms that appropriate credit has been given within the thesis where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

© 2020 The University of Leeds and Alice Susan Booth.

For Bill, Mardie and Isobel. Thank you for everything.

" For small creatures such as we the vastness is bearable only through love." - Carl Sagan

## Preface

The chapters in this thesis are based on work presented in the following jointly authored publications:

- I. Booth, A. S., Walsh, C., Kama, M., Loomis, R. A., Maud, L. T. and Juhàsz, A., Sulphur monoxide exposes a potential molecular disk wind from the planet-hosting disk around HD 100546 (A&A, 611:A16, 2018)
- II. Booth, A. S., Walsh, C., and Ilee J. D., First detections of H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> and HC<sup>15</sup>N in the HD 97048 protoplanetary disk: evidence for a cold gas reservoir in the outer disk (A&A, 629:A75, 2019)
- III. Booth, A. S., Notsu, S., Nomura, H., Walsh, C., Ilee, J. D., et al., The first detection of <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O in a protoplanetary disk: a robust tracer of disk gas mass (ApJL 882:L31, 2019)
- IV. Booth, A. S. and Ilee, J. D., <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O suggests gravitational instability in the HL Tau disk (MNRAS, 493:L108, 2020)

Papers III and IV form the basis of Chapter 3, paper II forms the basis of Chapter 4 and Paper I forms the basis of Chapter 5. For I and II C. Walsh is the data PI and for III it is S. Notsu (supervised by H. Nomura). For I and II ALMA data were self-calibrated by C. Walsh with L. Maud and A. Juhàsz, and for III by E. Akiyama. Archival data used in II and IV was self-calibated by A. S. Booth. A. S. Booth detected and imaged the SO, H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>, HC<sup>15</sup>N and <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O lines and performed all of the data analysis. R. Loomis developed the Matched Filter package used in I and III. The disk model used in I was provided by M. Kama, in II a public model from the DIANA project was used with guidance from J. D. Ilee and in III C. Qi provided a model. These persons provided guidance on the use and origin of the models. A. S. Booth performed all of the line radiative transfer modelling in each paper. A. S. Booth wrote the first drafts of all manuscripts. A second draft was iterated with C. Walsh and then further drafts with the rest of the co-authors in the case of I, II, and III. For IV second and subsequent drafts were iterated with J. D. Ilee.

## Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank my supervisor Catherine Walsh for always being there to answer my questions, even if I was asking the same thing for the second or third time. You are everything a student needs in a mentor and more. Secondly, a big thank you goes to John Ilee for being such a helpful chap over the last few years both in science and in refilling my pint glass. Then to my office mates, I am overwhelmingly grateful for the scientific discussions, camaraderie and adventures we have shared over the past few years. You have all made me feel at home in Leeds and I have made some wonderful friends. I am thankful for the "Girls Nights" featuring copious amounts of wine and cheese, trips to the cinema and long evenings in the Fenton. I'd like to thank my drum teachers Dave Jones and Nestor Matthews for indulging me in my rockstar dreams with equal parts Taylor Swift and Sleater-Kinney. Thank you to my disk partner in crime James for being an excellent travelling companion. To Abi, you have made my time in Leeds incredibly special. Thank you for always having a shoulder for me to to lean on. For my friends in other places thank you, and specifically, Amber - for the continuous encouragement; and Jennifer - for always finding time to laugh with me. For my family in Aberdeen, thank you for supporting me in pursuing this PhD no matter how frustrating I can be. We have had a difficult few years and I could not have done this without you all. A special mention has to go to Uncle Brian who at times has had more enthusiasm about astronomy than I do. Finally, I cannot forget about Ollie our dog who is a lighting bolt of love in the darkest of times.



## Abstract

The physical and chemical conditions in the protoplanetary disk set the initial conditions for planet formation. Constraining the properties of disks is of key importance for understanding how planets assemble. Observations of molecular lines in disks provide valuable information on disk properties. This thesis presents ALMA observations, analysis and modelling of molecular line emission from four disks that all exhibit evidence for forming planets. Using the firstever observations of  $^{13}\mathrm{C}^{17}\mathrm{O}$  in protoplanetary disks, the CO gas mass of the HD 163296 and HL Tau disks are robustly constrained. The new masses are a factor of 2-10 times higher than existing estimates using  $C^{18}O$ , and highlight the potential gravitational instability of the HL Tau disk. Analysis of the radial distribution of HCO<sup>+</sup> and  $\rm H^{13}CO^+$  in the HD 97048 disk reveals a low ratio that can be explained via chemical fractionation. This indicates that the gas temperature in the outer disk is low ( $\approx 10$  K) despite this disk being hosted by an A-type star. Both silicon and sulphur bearing volatiles are observed to be significantly depleted in disks, similar to dark clouds. Multiple lines of SO and SiO are targeted towards HD 100546 and HD 97048. The detection of the shock tracer SO in the HD 100546 disk is attributed to either a disk wind or a circumplanetary disk. Complementary chemical modelling reveals the molecular carriers of S and Si in the two sources, and predicts SiS as tracer of S and Si in disks. This thesis shows that  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  is a robust tracer of disk gas mass, HCO<sup>+</sup> isotopologue emission may trace reservoirs of cold gas in typically warm disks, and Si and S bearing molecules are useful probes of shock induced structures such as circumplanetary disks.

# Contents

	Abb	reviations
	List	of Figures
	List	of Tables
1	Intr	oduction 1
	1.1	Star formation
	1.2	Disk evolution
	1.3	Disk structure
		1.3.1 Physical structure
		1.3.2 Chemical structure
	1.4	Precursor and complementary observations to ALMA 17
	1.5	Disk properties via ALMA observations
		1.5.1 Mass
		1.5.2 Temperature
		1.5.3 Dust sub-structure
		1.5.4 Molecular sub-structure
		1.5.5 Disk dispersal
	1.6	Signatures of planets in disks 29
	1.7	This thesis
<b>2</b>	Met	hods 35
	2.1	Observations with ALMA

## CONTENTS

		2.1.1	The basics of interferometry	36
		2.1.2	Working with ALMA data	39
	2.2	Chem	ical modelling	40
	2.3	Radia	tive transfer	45
		2.3.1	Molecular excitation	45
		2.3.2	Equation of radiative transfer	47
		2.3.3	Radiative transfer with LIME	49
	2.4	Summ	nary	51
3	$^{13}\mathrm{C}$	<sup>17</sup> 0 as	a tracer of disk gas mass	53
	3.1	Introd	luction	53
	3.2	HD 16	53296	54
		3.2.1	The HD 163296 disk	54
		3.2.2	Line identification and imaging	54
		3.2.3	Line radiative transfer modelling	58
		3.2.4	Comparison to other mass estimates	65
		3.2.5	The impact of CO chemistry on the disk mass $\ldots \ldots$	66
		3.2.6	Constraints on the location of the CO snowline $\ldots \ldots$	67
		3.2.7	Is the disk gravitationally stable?	68
	3.3	HL Ta	au	70
		3.3.1	The HL Tau disk	70
		3.3.2	Line imaging	72
		3.3.3	Conversion of line flux to gas mass	76
		3.3.4	Assumptions affecting the gas mass	78
		3.3.5	Comparison to other mass measurements	79
		3.3.6	The (in)stability of the disk $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	80
		3.3.7	The region of instability in context	81
	3.4	Concl	usions	83

## CONTENTS

4	$\mathrm{H}^{13}$	$CO^+$ a	nd $HC^{15}N$ in the HD 97048 Disk	85
	4.1	Introd	uction	85
	4.2	The H	D 97048 disk	86
		4.2.1	Line imaging	87
	4.3	Result	S	90
		4.3.1	Channel maps, moment maps, and line profiles	90
		4.3.2	Deprojection and azimuthal averaging	91
	4.4	Chemi	cal modelling	93
		4.4.1	Fiducial model results	98
		4.4.2	Modifications to the fiducial model	98
	4.5	Discus	sion	108
		4.5.1	Can isotope-selective chemistry explain the $\mathrm{H^{13}CO^{+}}$ emis-	
			sion?	112
		4.5.2	Estimating the gas depletion in the cavity	115
		4.5.3	A comparison with other Herbig Ae/Be disks	115
		4.5.4	What is the effect of the ringed dust (and gas) structure on	
			the chemistry?	118
	4.6	Conclu	nsion	120
<b>5</b>	SO	in the	HD 100546 Disk	123
	5.1	Introd	uction	123
	5.2	The H	D 100546 disk	124
	5.3	Line ir	naging	126
	5.4	.4 Results		127
		5.4.1	Detected SO emission	127
		5.4.2	Relative line strengths via matched filter analysis	134
	5.5	Line ra	adiative transfer modelling	135
	5.6	Discus	sion	141

## CONTENTS

		5.6.1	Location and abundance of the detected SO emission	141
		5.6.2	Sulphur chemistry	145
		5.6.3	What is the SO tracing?	147
	5.7	Conclu	usions	149
6	Тар	ping in	nto the semi-refractory reservoir in protoplanetary disk	s151
	6.1	Introd	uction	151
	6.2	Colum	n density upper limits	152
	6.3	Chem	ical modelling	155
		6.3.1	Model set-up	155
		6.3.2	Model results	158
	6.4	Discus	ssion	159
		6.4.1	The detectability of SiO and SO	159
		6.4.2	Si and S chemistry	165
		6.4.3	Volatile sulphur depletion or enhancement in the HD $100546$	
			disk?	169
	6.5	Conclu	usion	170
7	Cor	onclusions		
	7.1	Summ	ary	173
		7.1.1	${}^{13}\mathrm{C}{}^{17}\mathrm{O}$ as a tracer of disk gas mass $\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfill\hfi$	173
		7.1.2	$\rm H^{13}CO^+$ and $\rm HC^{15}N$ in the HD 97048 disk $\ .$	175
		7.1.3	SO in the HD 100546 disk	177
		7.1.4	Tapping into the semi-refractory reservoir of protoplane-	
			tary disks	178
	7.2	Future	e work	178
		7.2.1	Disk gas masses	179
		7.2.2	Disk midplane temperature structures	180

	7.2.3	Key molecular tracers in Herbig Ae/Be disks	180
	7.2.4	SO as a tracer of circumplanetary disks	181
7.3	Final	remarks	182
References			185

# List of Figures

1.1	Low mass star formation	4
1.2	Disk evolution	8
1.3	T Tauri and Herbig Ae disk structures	13
1.4	Disk chemical structure	14
1.5	Disks in the Orion Nebula	17
1.6	Disk mass with ALMA	22
1.7	DSHARP continuum gallery	26
1.8	Molecular rings in disks	27
1.9	Kinematic planet detections	32
2.1	The Atacama Large Millimeter/submillimeter Array	36
2.2	Image cube visualisation	41
2.3	LIME grid building mechanism	50
3.1 3.2	HD 163296 continuum and ${}^{13}C^{17}O$ observations $\dots \dots \dots \dots$ HD 163296 observed and modelled radial emission profiles for the	59
-	Qi $et al.$ (2011) model	62
3.3	HD 163296 observed and modelled radial emission profiles for the	
	Qi $et al.$ (2015) model $\ldots$	63
3.4	HD 163296 disk model	64
3.5	$^{5}$ C <sup>18</sup> O and $^{13}$ C <sup>17</sup> O model radial emission profiles at 5 au resolution	69

## LIST OF FIGURES

3.6	HD 163296 Toomre Q parameter	71
3.7	HL Tau <sup>13</sup> C <sup>17</sup> O channel maps	72
3.8	HL Tau continuum and ${}^{13}C^{17}O$ observations	73
3.9	HL Tau model and observed gas surface density	75
3.10	HL Tau Toomre parameter and region of instability	82
4.1	HD 97048 HCO <sup>+</sup> and H <sup>13</sup> CO <sup>+</sup> channel maps	101
4.2	HD 97048 $H^{13}CO^+$ and $HC^{15}N$ channel maps	102
4.3	HD 97048 HCO <sup>+</sup> , $H^{13}CO^+$ and $HC^{15}N$ moment maps	103
4.4	HD 97048 $H^{13}CO^+$ and $HC^{15}N$ line profiles	104
4.5	HD 97048 radial emission profiles	104
4.6	HD 97048 smoothed radial emission profiles	105
4.7	HD 97048 disk model	106
4.8	HD 97048 observed and modelled radial emission profiles	109
4.9	HD 97048 HCO <sup>+</sup> and H <sup>13</sup> CO <sup>+</sup> residual channel maps $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	110
4.10	$\rm HCO^+$ chemical fractionation as a function of temperature $\ . \ . \ .$	114
4.11	Gallery of $\mathrm{H^{13}CO^{+}}$ and $\mathrm{H^{13}CN}$ radial emission profiles in disks	116
4.12	Cartoon of the HD 97048 disk	121
5.1	HD 100546 SO integrated intensity maps	128
5.2	HD 100546 SO and CO channel maps	129
5.3	HD 100546 SO and CO line profiles	130
5.4	HD 100546 SO line profiles	131
5.5	HD 100546 SO red and blue shifted integrated intensity maps $~$	133
5.6	HD 100546 SO red and blue shifted stacked integrated intensity	
	maps	134
5.7	HD 100546 SO matched filter response	136
5.8	HD 100546 disk model	138

### LIST OF FIGURES

5.9	HD 100546 RADEX modelling results	140
5.10	HD 100546 residual integrated intensity maps	142
5.11	Line profiles of the individual J=7 $_7-6_6$ (left) and J=7 $_8-6_7$ (right)	
	transitions with the LIME model line profiles plotted on the top:	
	disk model (red) and wedge model (blue). $\ldots$	143
5.12	Cartoon of the HD 100546 disk	144
5.13	HD 100546 b detection	149
6.1	Stacked SiO and SO spectra for HD 100546 and HD 97048 $\hdots$	154
6.2	HD 100546 and HD 97048 disk models $\hdots$	157
6.3	Chemical model 2D gas phase molecular abundances $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	160
6.4	Chemical model 2D ice phase molecular abundances	161
6.5	Chemical model 2D atomic and ionic abundances	162
6.6	Chemical model 2D gas and ice phase molecular abundances $\ . \ .$	163
6.7	Model column densities	164
6.8	Radial model and disk averaged column densities for SiO and SO	165
6.9	Point model abundances in time	166

# List of Tables

1.1	Molecular tracers in disks at sub-millimetre wavelengths	19
2.1	ALMA observing bands	37
2.2	Chemical reactions and representative rates	43
3.1	HD 163296 CO isotopologue observations	57
4.1	HD 97048 ALMA observations	89
4.2	Reaction rate coefficients for $HCO^+$ formation $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	96
4.3	HD 97048 model parameters	107
5.1	HD 100546 ALMA observations	125
5.2	HD 100546 SO integrated intensity map statistics	132
5.3	Model and observed line ratios for the detected SO transitions	139
6.1	SiO and SO rotational transition data	152
6.2	HD 100546 and HD 97048 ALMA observations of SiO and SO $$	153
6.3	SO and SiO column density upper limits and measurements	155
6.4	Initial molecular abundances	156

## Chapter 1

## Introduction

Over the past two decades, extreme advances have been made in the field of exoplanet science and there are now more than 4000 planets detected around stars in the Milky Way <sup>1</sup>. Most of these detections (> 75%) are due to the incredibly successful Kepler mission (Borucki, 2017). The diversity of these exoplanet systems now brings their formation history, in the disks of gas and dust around young stars, to the forefront of research. Over the last six years, observations of these protoplanetary disks with the Atacama Large Millimeter/submillimeter Array (ALMA) are driving forward our understanding of planet formation. Observing at millimetre wavelengths, ALMA allows us to map the physical and chemical conditions of the disk: the initial conditions of planet formation. This Chapter summarises the relevant background material for observing and modelling molecular line emission from disks on which this thesis is focused. This includes an overview of star formation, disk evolution, disk structure, and the different disk properties probed with ALMA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>NASA Exoplanet Archive: https://exoplanetarchive.ipac.caltech.edu/

## **1.1** Star formation

The formation and evolution of protoplanetary disks in inherently linked to the formation of stars. The general paradigm of isolated low mass star formation has been understood now for a number of decades (Larson, 2003; Shu *et al.*, 1987). Star formation is associated with giant molecular clouds (GMCs; Bergin & Tafalla, 2007). These clouds are 2 - 10 pc across with H<sub>2</sub> densities of order  $10^2 - 10^3$  cm<sup>-3</sup> and temperatures of  $\approx 10$  K. Observations show that these clouds are made up of complexes of higher density filaments and even more compact cores. These cores have typical H<sub>2</sub> densities of order  $10^4 - 10^5$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, temperatures of  $\approx 10$  K and are  $\leq 0.5$  pc across.

The internal gas pressure of the core is the primary support mechanism against gravitational collapse. The maximum density a cloud can have to be stable to collapse can be estimated by the Jeans criterion which is determined from the balance between internal cloud pressure and self-gravity (Jeans, 1902). An extension of this estimation is the Bonnor-Ebert critical density which considers an isothermal cloud in hydrostatic equilibrium within a medium with some external pressure (Shu, 1977). If the gas in molecular clouds was all unstable and undergoing a free-fall collapse then the galactic star formation rate would be  $\approx 100 \times$  greater than has been measured. This, coupled with the long cloud lifetimes ( $\approx 10$  Myr), means that there have to be other support mechanisms in clouds (Evans, 1999). Molecular clouds are observed to be undergoing rotation, but the rotational energy is only a few percent of the gravitational energy; therefore, they cannot be rotationally supported (Goodman *et al.*, 1993). Magnetic fields and turbulence; therefore, are thought to provide significant cloud support (McKee *et al.*, 1993).

At some point these cores become unstable to gravitational collapse due to the loss of turbulent, thermal and magnetic support via cooling and ambipolar diffusion. The slow rotation of the cloud is amplified upon collapse due to the conservation of angular momentum. A centrifugal force arises due to this increase in rotational velocity that opposes a spherical collapse. This force is strongest perpendicular to the rotation axis resulting in the formation of a circumstellar disk (Terebey *et al.*, 1984). The initial radial extent of this disk is determined by the centrifugal radius. This is where the gas and dust are no longer in-falling but are now rotating, and the radius at which this happens depends on the initial specific angular momentum of the cloud and the sound speed. The angular momentum of a typical cloud core is generally a few orders of magnitude higher than that of an individual star, meaning that this angular momentum needs to be removed from the system in order for a star to form. Disks play a key role in this as they mediate both the accretion of material onto the forming star and the transport of angular momentum outwards. This will be discussed further in Section 1.2.

As the cores located in molecular clouds are the precursors to stars they are called pre-stellar cores. Their evolution to main-sequence star can be traced observationally via spectral energy distributions (see Figure 1.1). An SED shows the energy emitted by a source as a function of wavelength and young stellar objects (YSOs) can be classified according to this. This was first formalised by Adams *et al.* (1987) and was subsequently added to by Andre *et al.* (1993) and Greene & Lada (1996). YSOs are categorised as Class 0, I, II or III with the additional flat spectrum (FS) classification between Classes I and II. This observational criteria matches with predictions from theoretical calculations of the flux from a rotating and collapsing core as described above (Adams *et al.*, 1987). In the Class I stage the SED excess is dominated by the hot dust in the envelope while in the latter stages of evolution it is due to the dust disk. As the envelope disperses and the disk settles the magnitude of this excess decreases (see Figure 1.1). A parallel classification of T Tauri stars developed alongside this

where YSOs are classified by the width of their H $\alpha$  emission line. Classical T-Tauri Stars (CTTS) are actively accreting and Weak-lined T-Tauri Stars (WTTS) are passive (Wood *et al.*, 1996). These are broadly equivalent to Class II and III respectively.



Figure 1.1: The stages of YSO evolution in low mass star formation with characteristic SEDs shown in the bottom right corners of each panel.

The protostar accretes material from the disk via magnetospheric accretion (see Hartmann *et al.*, 2016, for a review). The mass will flow onto the star along the stellar magnetic field lines and will produce a shock as it hits the stellar surface which is observable at UV and X-ray wavelengths. To conserve angular momentum this process also launches accretion powered jets and disk winds from within  $\approx 1$  au in the Class 0 to I sources. The typical accretion

rate is of order  $10^{-8}$  to  $10^{-7}$  M<sub> $\odot$ </sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> (e.g., Calvet *et al.*, 2004) but this can be variable. EXor objects show increases in accretion rate by 1 to 2 orders of magnitude on timescales of months to years and FU Ori objects show much higher accetion rates,  $10^{-5}$  to  $10^{-4}$  M<sub> $\odot$ </sub> yr<sup>-1</sup> which can last for decades or more (Herbig, 1977, 2008). This variability has been attributed to instabilities in the inner disk creating an irregular flow of material to the inner disk edge, and unstable disk and magnetic field interactions (Hartmann & Kenyon, 1996). Once the mass of the protostar is high enough deuterium burning ignites in the core followed by hydrogen burning resulting in a main sequence star (McKee & Ostriker, 2007).

The evolutionary scenario described above is for low-mass star formation, i.e.,  $M_{star} \leq 2 M_{\odot}$ . Stars with masses greater than this are fully radiative rather than having the radiative core and convective envelope of low mass stars. These intermediate mass YSOs, Herbig Ae/Be stars, have a mass range from  $2 M_{\odot} \leq M_{Star} \leq 8 M_{\odot}$ . Herbig Ae/Be stars follow a similar SED evolution as for low mass stars (Waters & Waelkens, 1998). Herbig Ae/Be sources exhibit signatures of magnetospheric accretion but have lower accretion rates. Over this intermediate mass range the accretion from a disk. This is due to their radiative envelopes resulting in weaker magnetic fields. There are still questions regarding how more massive stars form (Tan *et al.*, 2014), but there is now evidence for rotating Keplerian-like disks around O-type stars which supports a disk accretion theory of massive star formation (e.g., Johnston *et al.*, 2015).

## **1.2** Disk evolution

As described in Section 1.1, during core collapse a circumstellar disk forms which mediates the transfer of material from the in-falling envelope to the protostar. At this early stage in the disk's life time it maybe susceptible to gravitational in-

stabilities (GI; Kratter & Lodato, 2016). GI is associated with non-axisymmetric spirals which will influence the physical and chemical conditions in the disk. These spirals are local enhancements in the disk density and temperature that sweep through the disk. This will do several things to the gas and the dust. The trapping of dust in the spirals enhances the rate of grain growth and shock heating of the gas will, in turn, affect the local chemical composition (e.g., Ilee *et al.*, 2011; Rice *et al.*, 2004). As a general rule GI becomes relevant when the disk to star mass ratio is high ( $M_{disk}/M_{star} \ge 0.1$ ). The stability of a disk against spiral instabilities can be quantified via the Toomre Q parameter (Toomre, 1964):

$$Q = \frac{c_s \kappa}{\pi G \Sigma}$$

where  $c_s$  is the sound speed of the gas,  $\kappa$  is the epicyclic frequency (equal to the angular velocity  $\Omega$  in a Keplerian disk) and  $\Sigma$  is the surface density of the gas. Disks with  $Q \leq 1.7$  will be susceptible to the formation of spiral asymmetries or fragmentation, possibly resulting in the formation of bound companions (Durisen *et al.*, 2007).

Protoplanetary disks in the Class II stage are generally thought to have a disk mass of 1 - 10% of the host star's mass. These disks are described as viscous accretion disks and the theoretical framework originated from the seminal papers from Lynden-Bell & Pringle (1974) and Pringle (1981). As mentioned in Section 1.1 disks are essential in removing the angular momentum from the forming star. Due to some source of viscosity, there is net transfer of mass inwards through the disk, which is accreted into the star, and a net transfer of angular momentum radially outwards, causing the disk radius to increase. The underlying viscosity  $\nu$  in the disk is parameterized by  $\alpha$  where:

$$\nu = \alpha c_s H$$

and  $c_s$  is the sound speed and H is the scale height of the disk. Typical values for  $\alpha$  range from  $10^{-3}$  to  $10^{-1}$ . This framework allows for the modelling of viscous disks without the difficulty of also modelling the source of the viscosity (Pringle, 1981; Shakura & Sunyaev, 1973). The molecular viscosity alone is not sufficient remove the angular momentum. A primary source of the viscosity is thought to be due to the magneto-rotational instability (MRI; Balbus & Hawley, 1991). This is an instability that arises when a magnetic field is present in a differential rotating fluid. The significance of this depends on the ionisation fraction of the disk as this is the material that will be coupled to the magnetic field.

The general evolution of a protoplanetary disk is as follows and these stages are shown in Figure 1.2 (Williams & Cieza, 2011). Initially, the flared disk loses mass due to accretion of material onto the star. In the outer disk there is the removal of gas via photo-evaporation from high-energy photons. Due to the radial pressure gradient in the disk the gas orbits at a slightly sub-Keplerian velocity. As the grains grow, the surface area to mass ratio decreases and the dust dynamics are decoupled from the gas. The dust then experiences a drag force resulting in a loss of angular momentum causing the orbital radius of the particle to decrease. This drag force (and gravity) dampens the relative inclination of the dust's orbit causing the dust to settle in the midplane of the disk. The dust will travel towards a local pressure maximum in the disk which may result in the grain falling into the star or forming a dust trap or ring (Testi *et al.*, 2014).

The micron-sized dust grains present when star formation begins are the building blocks of Earth-like planets. Terrestrial planet formation begins with the collisional growth of dust from micrometre to centimetre sizes (Testi *et al.*, 2014). Further growth to metre sized bodies via collisions of similar sized particles becomes inefficient as centimetre sized particles tend to bounce rather than stick (Zsom *et al.*, 2010). This "bouncing barrier" can be overcome if particles of dif-



Figure 1.2: Typical stages in protoplanetary disk evolution (based on Williams & Cieza 2011). Disk observations are from Avenhaus *et al.* (2018), Andrews *et al.* (2011) and MacGregor *et al.* (2017).

ferent sizes are colliding. Metre sized objects then face the "drift-fragmentation barrier". Dust in the disk will drift radially inwards once decoupled from the gas motions and this speed depends on the particle size. Collisions with high differential speeds will result in fragmentation or erosion of these larger bodies. Additionally, if the drift timescale is too fast, then a 1-metre size object at 1 AU would fall into the star in  $\approx 100$  yrs (Weidenschilling, 1977). There are a number of solutions proposed to overcome this including the streaming instability (e.g., Youdin & Goodman, 2005). This results in a high density concentration of dust that can grow to kilometre-sized via gravitational collapse. The growth from kilometre sized planetesimals to planetary embryos either occurs from the collisions between the planetesimals or via the accretion of smaller particles. The final stage of accretion is chaotic with collisions between embryos and it may take > 10<sup>7</sup> yrs for the system to become dynamically stable (Izidoro & Raymond, 2018).

Gas giant planets are proposed to form via two mechanisms: core accretion (CA; Pollack *et al.*, 1996) and gravitational instability (GI; Boss, 1998). Although these two mechanisms have historically been put in opposition it is possible that both are active in disks (Boley, 2009). CA begins in the same way as terrestrial planet formation but in the outer disk beyond molecular snowlines (e.g., H<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>, CO) where there is also icy material available to form the cores. Once the core is  $\approx 10 \, \text{M}_{\text{Earth}}$  it will start accreting a gaseous envelope. When the core and envelope masses are approximately equal the envelope will collapse onto the cores required to build giant planets via the collisions of km sized particles is inefficient and in some cases may take longer than the lifetime of the gas disk. The rate of this process can be accelerated by having the core accrete cm sized pebbles instead. This allows gas-giant planets to form in the disk before dissipation (Lambrechts & Johansen, 2012). As described in Section 1.1 disks

with a high mass may be susceptible to gravitational instabilities. In the case where the Toomre Q parameter is  $\approx 1$ , and where the cooling time is less than the orbital period, the disk will fragment. Giant planets can form via the gravitational collapse of these clumps which are expected to be in the Jupiter mass range with orbits  $\gtrsim 10$  au (e.g., Boss, 2011; Rice *et al.*, 2003).

Theoretical models predict that disk dispersal should occur on timescales up to  $\approx 10$  times shorter than observed disk lifetimes (Alexander *et al.*, 2014; Panić *et al.*, 2013). Once the accretion rate falls and matches the evaporation rate the outer disk can no longer feed material to the inner disk. UV photons from the star are now able to penetrate the upper atmosphere of the disk more efficiently. An inner hole in the disk forms out to a few au and the gas disperses rapidly. In planet-forming Class II disks, jets/outflows are not the main driver of disk dispersal. Instead, the removal of angular momentum is achieved by slower disk winds (< 30 km s<sup>-1</sup>). Disk winds are proposed to be driven by photo-evaporation and/or magneto-hydrodynamical (MHD) effects (Alexander *et al.*, 2014; Ercolano & Pascucci, 2017).

The remnants of protoplanetary disks are called debris disks (Hughes *et al.*, 2018). These are gas poor disks with planetesimals and possibly planets. Their relatively young age but lower dust and gas content make direct imaging potential of exoplanets much easier. For example, in the debris disk around Fomalhaut there is a detection of a giant planet at visible wavelengths interior to the narrow dust ring that has been observed with ALMA (see Figure 1.2; Kalas *et al.*, 2008; MacGregor *et al.*, 2017). Similarly, there is a giant planet embedded in the Beta Pic debris disk (Lagrange *et al.*, 2009, 2019). To determine the formation mechanism(s) of these planets we need to constrain the physical and chemical conditions in the younger protoplanetary disks where planet formation is in progress.

## 1.3 Disk structure

#### **1.3.1** Physical structure

Protoplanetary disks have strong radial and vertical density and temperate gradients (see the diagram in Figure 1.4). The disk density and temperature structures can be parameterized with analytical formulae. These prescriptions are based on the results from theoretical models of viscous disks and have been shown to be consistent with observations (e.g., Beckwith *et al.*, 1990; Dutrey *et al.*, 1998; Hughes *et al.*, 2011; Williams & Cieza, 2011).

The surface density,  $\Sigma(r)$ , of a disk can be described as a power law with an exponential taper:

$$\Sigma(r) = \Sigma_0 \left(\frac{r}{r_c}\right)^{-\gamma} \exp\left(-\frac{r}{r_c}\right)^{2-\gamma}$$

where,

$$\Sigma_0 = (2 - \gamma) \frac{M_{\rm d}}{2\pi r_c^2} \exp\left(\frac{r_{\rm in}}{r_c}\right)^{2-\gamma},$$

 $M_d$  is the total mass of the disk and  $\gamma$  describes the steepness of the surface density slope.  $r_c$  is the critical radius where the slope changes from the power law to the exponential and  $r_{in}$  is the inner radius of the disk (Hartmann *et al.*, 1998; Lynden-Bell & Pringle, 1974). The 2D gas density distribution,  $\rho(r, z)$ , can be obtained by solving the equation of hydrostatic equilibrium:

$$\frac{\partial \ln \rho}{\partial z} = -\left[ \left( \frac{GM_{\text{star}}z}{\left(r^2 + z^2\right)^{3/2}} \right) \left( \frac{\mu m_{\text{H}}}{kT} \right) + \frac{\partial \ln T}{\partial z} \right]$$

where  $\mu$  is the mean molecular weight of the gas (2.2 - 2.4),  $n_{\rm H}$  is the mass of a hydrogen nuclei, T is the gas temperature (K) and k is the Boltzmann constant. The smaller micron-sized grains are suspended in the gas but as they grow to millimetre sizes they will settle towards the midplane. At each radius, r,  $\rho(r, z)$ 

is normalised such that:

$$\Sigma(r) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \rho(r, z) dz.$$

The temperature of the emitting layer of gas/dust typically follows a power law:  $T(r) \sim r^{-q}$  (Beckwith *et al.*, 1990). Initial models used isothermal vertical temperature gradients in the gas but it has been shown from observations that there is also a significant vertical temperature gradient in disks (e.g., Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2013). The temperature structure of the disk is set by a balance of different heating and cooling mechanisms. Heating in the disk comes from the stellar radiation, X-ray and UV radiation and cosmic rays. This energy is then processed by the dust via scattering or absorption and emission, or photo-electric heating. The gas can cool via rotational, vibrational or electronic transitions, forbidden line emission, recombination or collisions (Woitke, 2015). This balance can be computed with full themochemical models (e.g., Woitke *et al.*, 2009a) but the following analytical description is a good approximation. The 2D temperature of the gas can described by two power laws, one for the midplane ( $T_{mid}$ ) and one for the atmosphere ( $T_{atm}$ ):

$$T(r, z) = \begin{cases} T_{\text{mid}} + (T_{\text{atm}} - T_{\text{mid}}) \left[ \sin \left( \frac{\pi z}{2z_q} \right) \right]^{2\delta} & \text{if } z < z_q \\ T_{\text{atm}} & \text{if } z \ge z_q \end{cases}$$

where the parameters  $\delta$  and  $z_q$  describe the steepness of the profile and the height in the disk where the temperature switches to the atmospheric value (e.g., Dartois *et al.*, 2003). Figure 1.3 shows two example disk gas temperature and density structures for a T Tauri and a Herbig Ae disk. The key differences are highlighted in the white contours which show the CO freeze-out temperature (20 K) and the CO photodissociation boundary ( $\Sigma(n_{\rm H}) = 1.256 \times 10^{21} \,{\rm cm}^{-2}$ ). This is calculated by integrating the hydrogen nuclei density from the top of the disk vertically downwards (e.g., Qi *et al.*, 2011). In the outer disk there is a region where the conditions for both freeze-out and dissociation are met. Here, how the CO is processed will depend on the relative rates of both processes.



Figure 1.3: Example T Tauri and a Herbig Ae disk parametric models based on Williams & Best (2014). The white contours mark the typical CO freeze-out and photodissociation boundaries.

### 1.3.2 Chemical structure

The initial gas-to-dust mass ratio of the disk is thought to mirror the ISM value of 100. Therefore, the bulk of the mass is made up of gaseous material. Most of this gas is molecular hydrogen and helium,  $\approx 98\%$  of the mass, and the remaining mass is dominated by oxygen, carbon, nitrogen and sulphur bearing molecules. These volatiles have a sublimation temperature of less than a few 100 K and can



Figure 1.4: The 2D dust (left) and gas (right) distribution in a protoplanetary disk.

exist as ices on the surface of grains or in the gas phase (Pontoppidan et al., 2014). The assumption for the solar system and disks is that they have global stellar elemental abundances as they formed from the same parental cloud of gas and dust (Asplund *et al.*, 2009). Most of the oxygen is in  $H_2O$  and CO, and the carbon in CO, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, HCN, C<sub>2</sub>H, C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>2</sub> and C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub>. The main nitrogen reservoir in protoplanetary disks is unclear since we cannot observe N<sub>2</sub> directly in disks, but there is expected to be a significant fraction of N in NH<sub>3</sub> and HCN (Pontoppidan *et al.*, 2019). Sulphur is observed to be significantly depleted in circumstellar regions with detections of gas-phase S-bearing molecules accounting for  $\sim 0.1\%$  only of the estimated cosmic abundance (Dutrey *et al.*, 1997; Ruffle et al., 1999; Tieftrunk et al., 1994). This is despite deep targeted searches in YSOs (e.g., Martín-Doménech et al., 2016). The missing sulphur is thought to reside on the solid dust grains in the disk, the most abundant molecule being  $H_2S$  in cometary ices (Bockelée-Morvan *et al.*, 2000). There is also evidence for sulphur chains, e.g., from  $S_2$  up to  $S_8$  (Jiménez-Escobar & Muñoz Caro, 2011). In refractory form a key sulphur species is iron sulphides (FeS), a main component of primitive comets and meteorites (Keller *et al.*, 2002).

Although the dust only contributes to 1% of the initial disk mass this material is incredibly important as it is this matter that forms terrestrial planets and the cores of giant planets in the core-accretion scenario. In Class II disks the millimetre dust disk tends to be less radially extended with the respect to the gas disk (e.g., Andrews et al., 2016; de Gregorio-Monsalvo et al., 2013; Fedele et al., 2017; Walsh et al., 2014a) as these grains are massive enough to be dynamically decoupled from the gas, whereas the smaller micron sized grains are not. The dust is primarily composed of silicate material. This is evident in the strong absorption resonances at 10  $\mu m$  and 18  $\mu m$  relating to the Si-O and O-Si-O bending modes (Draine, 2003). These features are relatively broad compared with laboratory measurements indicating that interstellar silicates are amorphous rather than crystalline. In addition to this the observed abundance of Si, Fe, and Mg requires almost 100% of the solar abundance of these elements to be condensed into grains. There is also evidence for a mixture of graphite grains and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). Dust grains provide a surface for freeze-out of volatile materials to form ices in dark molecular clouds and in the midplane of protoplanetary disks. One of the strongest absorption features of interstellar ice is the O-H bending mode of solid  $H_2O$  at 3.1  $\mu$ m (Draine, 2003). In T Tauri and Herbig Ae/Be disks there is evidence for grain growth and crystallisation with respect to dust in the ISM (e.g., Przygodda et al., 2003; van Boekel et al., 2003, 2005).

Chemistry in the disk is controlled by the temperature and density structure and the impinging radiation field. Due to the large radial and vertical temperature and density gradients in disks, a range of chemical processes occur and disks are host to a variety of chemical species (see Henning & Semenov, 2013, for a review). Protoplanetary disks can be roughly divided into four regions: the inner and outer midplane, the molecular layer, and the disk atmosphere (see Figure 1.4).
The inner midplane of the disk (approximately  $\lesssim$  20 au but dependent on disk mass) is heated from the dissipation of accretion energy. This region of the disk is very dense and chemistry is dominated by two and three-body neutral-neutral reactions and thermal desorption (e.g., Markwick *et al.*, 2002). In the upper layers of the disk, stellar and interstellar radiation fields are important as the UV radiation dissociates and ionises molecules and atoms facilitating ion-molecule chemistry. The spectral type of the star is important here as T Tauri stars have non-thermal UV emission resulting from accretion and Herbig Ae/Be stars have more thermal UV emission. These differing radiation fields will have different effects on the chemistry in the respective disks since X-rays will result in ionmolecule chemistry and UV radiation will lead to photodissociation (Agúndez et al., 2018; Walsh et al., 2015). In addition to this T Tauri stars have a greater X-ray luminosity than Herbig Ae/Be stars due to their stronger magnetic fields. X-ray photons ionise He in the molecular layer and this ion can then destroy molecules like CO driving gas phase chemistry (Aikawa et al., 1997). Below the atmosphere in the warm molecular layer where temperatures range from 30 -70 K, the molecules are partially shielded from radiation allowing more molecule based reactions to proceed (Aikawa et al., 2002). The disk midplane is shielded from most radiation sources aside from cosmic rays and here temperatures can drop below 20 K resulting in freeze-out/adsorption of most molecules onto grain surfaces forming ices. Water freezes out at around 150 K (this temperature depends on the density); in a T Tauri disk this corresponds to a radial distance of 1-3 au (Notsu *et al.*, 2016). Comparatively, CO is more volatile than H<sub>2</sub>O and; therefore, the CO snowline typically lies beyond  $\sim 20$  au (Zhang *et al.*, 2017). In the disk midplane grain surface and hydrogenation reactions are important and materials can be released from grains into the gas phase via non-thermal desorption triggered by, e.g., cosmic rays (e.g., Aikawa et al., 1999; Semenov



Figure 1.5: Hubble observations of a sample of young disks in the Orion Nebula (taken from Ricci *et al.* 2008).

et al., 2004).

# 1.4 Precursor and complementary observations to ALMA

Before discussing the properties of disks probed via the Atacama Large Millimeter/submillimeter Array (ALMA), it is beneficial to briefly summarize some of the precursor and complementary observations of protoplanetary disks.

The first direct evidence for disks came from observations at visibile wavelenghts. The circumstellar disk around Beta Pic was imaged (Smith & Terrile, 1984) and YSOs in Orion (e.g., O'dell *et al.*, 1993). Visible wavelengths probe the micron-sized dust that scatters light from the flared disk surface and the absorption shadows of the optically thick midplane dust. This can be seen in the images in Figure 1.5 from more recent observations of the Orion Nebula (Ricci *et al.*, 2008). High resolution scattered light observations are executed by telescopes like SPHERE/VLT and these again, probe the light scattered from the disk surface by the micron-sized dust grains that are suspended in the gas disk (e.g., Avenhaus *et al.*, 2018, see Figure 1.2).

Prior to this, the existence of disks was inferred from the infared excess in

SEDs attributed to the thermal emission from the circumstellar dust (e.g., Kenyon & Hartmann, 1987). Transition disks were first identified by Strom *et al.* (1989) by the lack of near-infrared (< 10  $\mu$ m) excess but with a significant far-infrared (> 10  $\mu$ m) excess in the SEDs. This lack of emission is attributed to the disk having an inner hole devoid of micron-sized dust grains.

Interferometry at sub-millimetre wavelengths with the Submillimetre Array (SMA), Combined Array for Research in Millimetre-wave Astronomy (CARMA) and NOrthern Extended Millimetre Array (NOEMA, successor to the Plateau de Bure observatory) have provided resolved images of protoplanetary disks and resolved the gaps in transitional disks (for a review see Guilloteau *et al.*, 2011, also see Figure 1.2). Observations with the The Karl G. Jansky Very Large Array (VLA) probe the centimetre-sized dust in the disk (e.g., Rodriguez *et al.*, 1994). These observations show that the larger grains are radially more compact than the millimetre sized grains (e.g., Carrasco-González *et al.*, 2016).

Due to the rich chemistry in the disk, different molecules can be used to trace different regions and properties (see Table 1.1, adapted from Henning & Semenov 2013). Molecules are primarily used as tracers of disk mass, temperature and kinematics but can do much more, for example, CS and DCO<sup>+</sup> have been utilised as tracers of disk turbulence and CN has the potential to be a direct measure of disk magnetic field strength (e.g., Flaherty *et al.*, 2015, 2017; Teague *et al.*, 2016; Vlemmings *et al.*, 2019). Over 200 molecules have been detected in space but only  $\approx 20$  in protoplanetary disks (McGuire, 2018). This lower number of detections is likely due to the freeze out of molecules onto dust grains in the disk midplane, the destruction of molecules via photodissociation in the disk atmosphere, and the small angular scale that disks subtend on the sky. Space-based infrared observations with *Herschel* and *Spitzer* have detected multiple CO lines and a range of molecules such as CO<sub>2</sub>, H<sub>2</sub>O, C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>2</sub>, HCN and OH in disks that are tracing

Quantity	Molecule	
Mass	<sup>X</sup> C <sup>Y</sup> O, HD	
Temperature	$^{12}CO,  ^{13}CO,  H_2$	
Kinematics	$^{\rm X}{\rm C}^{\rm Y}{\rm O},~{\rm HCO^+}$	
Density	$CS, HC_3N$	
Ionization	$\mathrm{HCO}^{+}, \mathrm{N}_{2}\mathrm{H}^{+}, \mathrm{CH}^{+}$	
Deuteration	HD, DCO <sup>+</sup> , DCN, $H_2D^+$	
Turbulence	$CS, DCO^+$	
Shocks	SiO, SO, $CH_3OH$	
Fractionation	$\mathrm{H^{13}CO^{+}, HC^{15}N}$	

Table 1.1: Physical and chemical tracers in disks at sub-millimetre wavelengths (adapted from Henning & Semenov, 2013). The superscripts X and Y represent the different mass number of different isotopes, where X = 12,13 and Y = 16,17,18.

warm gas (e.g., Fedele *et al.*, 2013, 2016; Pontoppidan *et al.*, 2010). Interferometry allows for spatially and spectrally resolved observations of molecular lines in disks, and before ALMA, the IRAM Plateau de Bure interferometre (PBdI) and the SMA observatories were driving this science (e.g., Dutrey *et al.*, 1996; Guilloteau *et al.*, 1999; Öberg *et al.*, 2010; Qi *et al.*, 2004). Sub-millimetre interferometry probes the warm and cold gas in the outer disk (> 10 au).

# **1.5** Disk properties via ALMA observations

## 1.5.1 Mass

The mass of a disk is its most fundamental property as this sets a limit on the material available to form a planetary system and can influence the mode of giant planet formation. The initial gas-to-dust ratio of protoplanetary disks is thought to mirror the interstellar medium (ISM) ratio of 100; therefore, the bulk mass carrier in young disks is the gas. With ALMA, the mass of a protoplanetary disk can be determined from observations of the dust emission and CO rotational transitions (see Figure 1.6 and Bergin & Williams, 2017, for a recent review). The

sensitivity of ALMA has allowed for the robust detection of the cold millimetre dust and the rarer CO isotopologue,  $C^{18}O$ , in  $\approx 100$  disks resulting in improved disk gas mass estimates and the ability to study disk demographics.

The dust emits radiation over a continuum where the brightness is dependent on the temperature and the optical depth. As observations with ALMA are at millimetre wavelengths these observations are most sensitive to the millimetresized dust. Under the assumption that the millimetre emission is optically thin, the dust mass can be calculated as follows:

$$M_{\rm dust} = \frac{F_{\nu} d^2}{\kappa_{\nu} B_{\nu}(T_{dust})}$$

where  $F_{\nu}$  is the flux at a particular frequency  $\nu$ , d is the distance to the source in pc,  $\kappa_{\nu}$  is the wavelength dependent dust opacity and  $B_{\nu}(T_{dust})$  is the Planck function assuming a constant dust temperature for the disk (typically 20 K). The opacity  $\kappa_{\nu}$  can be expressed as:

$$\kappa_{\nu} = \kappa_0 \left(\frac{\nu}{\nu_0}\right)^{\beta}$$

where the constants  $\kappa_0$  and the spectral index  $\beta$  depend on the dust size distribution and composition (Draine, 2006). A typical value for  $\beta$  is 1 and for  $\kappa_0$  it is 0.1 g cm<sup>-2</sup> for a  $\nu_0$  of 10<sup>12</sup> Hz (Beckwith *et al.*, 1990).

The above method will no longer trace all of the dust mass if the emission is optically thick at the observed wavelength. In the simplest case, ignoring any dust sub-structure in the disk, the dust optical depth will increase with decreasing radius (see Figure 1.6). For example, the dust disk around HL Tau (Class I/II) has been observed with both ALMA and the VLA and the resulting dust mass derived from the centimetre wavelength observations is 2 to 20 times higher than that with the millimetre wavelength ALMA observations (ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015; Carrasco-González *et al.*, 2016). Another indication of optically thick dust is the deficit of line emission at the location of high continuum optical depth. For example, in the HD 163296 disk there is a deficit of C<sup>18</sup>O emission where the dust emission peaks in the inner disk (e.g., Isella *et al.*, 2016). Additionally, there has been recent theoretical work showing that at 1 mm the apparent low optical depth ( $\tau \approx 0.6$ ) derived from observations is underestimated due to scattering (Huang *et al.*, 2018a; Zhu *et al.*, 2019).

Most of the gas mass in disks is in H<sub>2</sub> which we cannot directly observe in the bulk of the disk (Carmona *et al.*, 2011). This is because H<sub>2</sub> has no permanent dipole and therefore the transitions are very weak. As a result, most disk gas masses rely on observations of CO that are then extrapolated to a total gas mass by assuming a constant CO/H<sub>2</sub> abundance ratio in the disk ( $\approx 10^{-4}$ ). The gas mass can be calculated from the total integrated line flux but proper treatment of the disk 2D temperature and density structure, accounting for freeze-out and photodissociation, with radiative transfer is preferred when retrieving disk gas masses (Williams & Best, 2014).

Initial observations tended to target <sup>13</sup>CO and C<sup>18</sup>O. This is because the most abundant isotopologue <sup>12</sup>CO is optically thick in gas-rich disks, especially within the CO snowline. If the line is optically thick then the emission is not tracing the bulk gas mass in the disk midplane but rather the gas in the warm molecular layer (see Figure 1.6). The rarer the CO isotopologue, the closer to the midplane the observations are tracing. However, the <sup>13</sup>CO and C<sup>18</sup>O are likely not optically thin throughout the entire disk, therefore, gas masses determined with these tracers may be underestimated. For example, <sup>13</sup>C<sup>18</sup>O has been detected in the TW Hya disk and this emission is proposed to be optically thin within the snowline whereas the C<sup>18</sup>O is optically thick (Zhang *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, the C<sup>18</sup>O is not tracing the full column of CO gas within the snowline. The under-estimation of disk gas mass due to optically thick line emission will be



Figure 1.6: Disk mass tracers accessible with ALMA.

more significant in more massive gas-rich disks, i.e., those around Herbig Ae/Be stars versus those around T Tauri stars.

In general, the total (gas and dust) mass measurements of Class II disks in nearby star-forming regions are an order of magnitude less than the Minimum Mass Solar Nebula (MMSN) and the gas to dust mass ratios are  $\approx 10$ , an order of magnitude lower than in the ISM (Ansdell *et al.*, 2016, 2017, 2018; Long *et al.*, 2018a). Due to the high occurrence rate of exoplanets detected around main sequence stars, it is hard to reconcile this lack of gas mass with the proposition that these disks will not go on to form any planets. Rather, the lack of mass may indicate that planet formation has already taken place in the Class II disks or that these disk masses have been significantly underestimated (e.g., Greaves & Rice, 2011; Manara *et al.*, 2018). These surveys have revealed some trends including the increase in disk dust and gas mass with increasing host star mass, the decrease in disk mass with age, and the decrease in disk mass with increasing proximity to massive stars.

As the CO gas masses measured are low, there is potentially missing disk mass from the conversion from CO to  $H_2$  mass. Complimentary HD observations imply the depletion of gas-phase CO in disks relative to that in the ISM (Bergin

et al., 2013; McClure et al., 2016). CO can be depleted from the gas phase via freeze out onto the icy grains in the cold midplane, and subsequent conversion to  $CO_2$  and more complex organic species, e.g.,  $CH_3OH$  (e.g., Bosman et al., 2018). The CO abundance also depends on the gas temperature and the level and type of ionisation in the disk (Schwarz et al., 2018). Photodissociation via far-UV radiation destroys CO in the upper disk atmosphere, and isotope selective photodissociation can enhance the various isotopologue ratios relative to  ${}^{12}C^{16}O$ in the atmosphere (e.g., Miotello et al., 2014). Carbon is observed to be more depleted in the cooler T Tauri disks than in the warmer Herbig Ae/Be disks (Kama et al., 2016a).

#### 1.5.2 Temperature

The temperature of the emitting layer of the millimetre dust can be derived from the brightness temperature if the emission is optically thick (e.g., ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015). Otherwise, to reliably constrain the dust temperature radiative transfer modelling and multi-wavelength observations are required (Kim *et al.*, 2019; Tazzari *et al.*, 2016).

The temperature in the gas disk can be well constrained with observations of multiple CO lines. SMA and ALMA observations have shown that the gas and dust are thermally decoupled in the disk atmosphere with the gas having a greater vertical temperature gradient than the dust (Qi *et al.*, 2006, 2011; Schwarz *et al.*, 2016). ALMA observations of CO have now been able to spatially resolve emission from both the top and bottom surfaces of inclined flared disks (e.g., de Gregorio-Monsalvo *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, observations of edge on disks can give a direct measure of the gas temperature as a function of radius and height (Dutrey *et al.*, 2017). Other molecular lines, aside from CO, can be used to constrain the gas temperature, for example, multiple lines of CH<sub>3</sub>CN have been

used to determine the temperature the  $CH_3CN$  emitting layer in the TW Hya disk (Loomis *et al.*, 2018a).

The temperature of the disk can be further constrained by locating key molecular snowlines. The CO midplane snowline in disks is difficult to locate due to the high optical depth of the more abundant CO isotopologues and the vertical temperature gradient of the disk. The CO snowline can be determined directly by observing less abundant, optically thin, CO isotopologues, or by detecting molecules that, due to chemistry, peak in abundance at a location related to the snowline, e.g.,  $N_2H^+$  and DCO<sup>+</sup>.

 $\rm DCO^+$  is the deuterated form of  $\rm HCO^+$  and deuterium chemistry is active in the cold (< 20 K), dense (>  $10^6 \rm cm^{-3}$ ) midplane of disks (i.e., near the CO snowline). This results in an increase in the D/H ratio in molecules in the disk due to chemical fractionation:

$$H_3^+ + HD \rightleftharpoons H_2D^+ + H_2 + 232 \text{ K}.$$

The elemental D/H ratio is  $\approx 10^{-5}$  but at low temperatures the forward reaction dominates. This also leads to an enhancement of deuterium in heavier molecules, e.g.,

$$H_2D^+ + CO \rightarrow DCO^+ + H_2.$$

In dark clouds and disks the observed  $\text{DCO}^+/\text{HCO}^+$  ratios are high  $\approx 10^{-2}$ , representative of that measured in comets (van Dishoeck *et al.*, 2003). A measure of the level of deuteration of a species can inform on the thermal history of the material which is important as an open question is whether or not cometary ices are inherited from the parent cloud. Similarly, carbon and nitrogen bearing species can also undergo chemical fractionation. This is the preferential transfer of a heavier isotope into a molecule under certain conditions. Current models

primarily focus on HCO<sup>+</sup>, HCN, and CN and the  $^{13}$ C and  $^{15}$ N isotopes (Visser *et al.*, 2018; Woods & Willacy, 2009).

#### 1.5.3 Dust sub-structure

From the first long baseline ALMA observations of HL Tau it was clear that the radial distribution of dust in disks is likely not smooth (ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015). Concentric rings of dust are by far the most common features observed (Andrews *et al.*, 2018a; Long *et al.*, 2018b). Azimuthally asymmetric dust structures are also observed including horse-shoe shaped dust distributions and spirals (e.g; Cazzoletti *et al.*, 2018a; Huang *et al.*, 2018b; Pérez *et al.*, 2016; van der Marel *et al.*, 2013). Figure 1.7 shows recent high spatial resolution ( $\approx 5$  au) 1 mm continuum observations from a survey of nearby protoplanetary disks. The most popular interpretation for these dust structures are planet-disk interactions (Zhang *et al.*, 2018) and this will be discussed further in Section 1.6.

### 1.5.4 Molecular sub-structure

Significantly less detailed sub-structure has been observed in the molecular gas in disks (see Figure 1.8). This is partly due to the longer observing times required to achieve the same spatial resolution and signal-to-noise ratio as the continuum observations, but it is also not expected than the gas and millimetre-sized grains will follow the exact same radial structures. For example, in general the CO gas disks are more radially extended than millimetre dust and this can be explained by radial drift of the millimetre sized grains (Birnstiel *et al.*, 2010).

Gas cavities in the inner disk associated with dust cavities have been resolved in CO isotopologue emission in a number of disks (van der Marel *et al.*, 2015, 2016). Gas density perturbations associated with dust rings  $\sim$  100's of au from the central star are less commonly observed. Examples have been seen with

ALMA in the HD 163296, HD 169142 and AS 209 protoplanetary disks (Isella *et al.* 2016, Fedele *et al.* 2017, Favre *et al.* 2019) where the <sup>12</sup>CO, <sup>13</sup>CO and C<sup>18</sup>O line observations do not follow the exact same radial profiles as the dust, but there is a change in slope of these line intensity profiles that coincides with the location of the dark dust rings. CO isotopologues are a good proxy for total gas density in the disk but only if the CO/H<sub>2</sub> ratio is radially constant across the disk, and recent work shows that this may not be the case (Miotello *et al.*, 2018; Nomura *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2019).

Although CO isotopologues are the most common tracers of the molecular gas in disks, it is beneficial to observe lines from other molecules to gain more information about the physical and chemical conditions of the gas. Species other than CO can be more powerful tracers of physical conditions because the abundances



Figure 1.7: ALMA Band 7 continuum emission at  $\approx 5$  au resolution of 20 nearby protoplanetary disks (Andrews *et al.*, 2018a).

are more sensitive to changes in the disk's physical conditions. For most of the disk, the chemistry of CO can be described simply by freeze out and photodissociation, whereas other species' abundances are more dependent on the, e.g., gas number density and the UV and X-ray irradiation. Chemical modelling is required to determine whether or not molecular structures can be linked directly to a change in the total gas surface density. Radial variations in CS emission have been shown to trace a decrease in gas surface density associated with a dust gap in the TW Hya disk (Teague *et al.*, 2017). In comparison, the rings of CN detected in the disks arise naturally without any underlying ringed dust or gas structure (Cazzoletti *et al.*, 2018b). The ringed CN abundance distribution in



Figure 1.8: Variety of molecule line detections in different disks (Bergin & Cleeves, 2018): (a) IM Lup  $H^{13}CO^+$  (Öberg et al. 2015) (b) DM Tau  $C_2H$  (Bergin et al. 2016) (c) TW Hya  $^{13}CO$  (Schwarz et al. 2016) (d) TW Hya CN (Teague et al. 2016) (e) TW Hya  $N_2H^+$  (Qi et al. 2013) (f) IM Lup DCO<sup>+</sup> (Oberg et al. 2015.) All colour scales represent the intensity of the line emission but IM Lup has been coloured red and blue to show the regions of the disk where the line emission is red and blue shifted due to the Keplerian shear.

disks is a result of the the impinging UV flux and the flaring angle of the disk surface (Cazzoletti *et al.*, 2018b). Similarly, rings of  $C_2H$  and  $C_3H_2$  in TW Hya are formed due to UV irradiation and a high C/O ratio in the disk atmosphere (Bergin *et al.*, 2016). Additionally, in the outer gas disk ALMA has detected rings of molecular emission at the edge of the millimetre dust disk, beyond the CO snowline, that can be explained via the non-thermal desorption of CO (Öberg *et al.*, 2015).

Molecular rings of  $N_2H^+$  and  $DCO^+$  are associated with the CO snowline in disks.  $N_2H^+$  is the most robust chemical tracer of the CO snowline due to the anti-correlation between gas phase CO and  $N_2H^+$ .  $N_2H^+$  forms via this reaction:

$$N_2H + H_3^+ \rightarrow N_2H^+ + H_2$$

but when CO is present in the gas phase these competing reactions dominate:

 $CO + H_3^+ \rightarrow HCO^+ + H_2$  $CO + N_2H^+ \rightarrow HCO^+ + N_2$ 

Therefore, the location of the CO snowline can be inferred from the presence of ringed  $N_2H^+$  emission (TW Hya; Qi *et al.* 2013b and HD 163296; Qi *et al.* 2015). However, the exact location of an  $N_2H^+$  ring does not necessarily correspond to directly to the CO snowline location. Chemical models are required to properly interpret the data and  $N_2H^+$  line ratios can be used to constrain the emitting gas temperature to see if indeed the gas is tracing the midplane or is optically thick and tracing the warm molecular layer (Qi *et al.*, 2019; Schwarz *et al.*, 2019; van 't Hoff *et al.*, 2017).

## 1.5.5 Disk dispersal

Disk winds can be traced via the velocity profiles of the atomic/molecular gas. Most evidence for disk winds has been seen in blue-shifted line profiles of forbidden lines [O I] and [Ne II] (e.g., Pascucci *et al.*, 2011a). With ALMA there is evidence for a slow  $\approx 3 \text{ km s}^{-1}$  disk wind traced in CO isotopologue emission from the T Tauri source DG Tauri (Güdel *et al.*, 2018). Similarly, there is evidence for a radiatively driven disk wind from the edges of the IM Lup disk (Haworth *et al.*, 2017). There is a signature of a rotating MHD wind in molecular line emission from SiO, SO and SO<sub>2</sub> emission from a young Class 0 source (Tabone *et al.*, 2017). With ALMA there also is evidence for a rotating disk wind traced in CO but whether or not this is an MHD driven wind is unclear (Klaassen *et al.*, 2013a). The lifetime of the disk and rate of dispersal sets constraints on the timescale and the material available in the disk for planet formation. Directly observing disk dispersal is; therefore, of great interest and importance for understanding planet formation.

# **1.6** Signatures of planets in disks

The observed structures in disks have been proposed to signify planet formation where the apparent gaps and asymmetries are the result of dynamical clearing and gravitational interactions with forming planets (e.g., Zhu *et al.*, 2011). Theoretical simulations of planets in disks show that a planet in a disk will create sub-structures in both the dust and gas. The planet will launch spiral density waves in the disk and will carve out a gap if massive enough. These spirals arise to mediate the exchange of angular momentum between the planet and the disk and can cause orbital migration of the planet. This occurs when the torques from the inner and outer disk are unequal. The direction and timescale of this migration depends on the planet's mass and the physical conditions of the disk

(Kley & Nelson, 2012).

Gas and dust depleted cavities are; therefore, the clearest indirect signposts of giant planet formation. The presence of a massive planet in a disk causes a pressure maximum at the outer edge of the gap it has created (Dong *et al.*, 2015; Pinilla et al., 2012). This pressure maximum will halt the inward radial drift of the mm-sized dust resulting in the formation of a ring of mm-sized dust. Dust gaps are the most common features detected in disks but there are only a few cases where corresponding dust and gas gaps have been detected (e.g., Isella et al., 2016). This is likely due to different sizes of gaps formed in the different tracers. The edge of the gap traced in the micron-sized dust and in the gas are located much closer to the perturbing planet as these particles are less efficiently trapped (de Juan Ovelar *et al.*, 2013). There are analytical relationships to determine the mass of the forming planet from the gap width and depth (e.g., Dong & Fung, 2017; Kanagawa et al., 2016; Rosotti et al., 2016). However, these relationships are limited by the spatial resolution of the observations and the assumption for the disk viscosity. Grids of 2D hydrodynamic simulations of both the gas and dust in a disk with varying  $\alpha$ , scale height and planet masses can explain all of the structures seen in the recent high angular resolution dust observations (Figure 1.7 and Zhang *et al.*, 2018). Intuitively, one gap would correspond to one planet but models show that one super-Earth mass planet, in a low viscosity disk  $(\alpha \leq 10^{-4})$ , can induce multiple gaps in the mm-dust but the features in the gas are an order of magnitude smaller (Dong *et al.*, 2018).

The lack of a clear trend in the location and width of the dust ring with host star properties favours planets as the likely explanation (Huang *et al.*, 2018a). If the rings were due to an intrinsic property of the host star, e.g., luminosity, there should be a correlation between ring positions and spectral type of which there is not. But, with the lack of planet candidates detected in gaps other mechanisms need to be considered. Rings in the dust distribution have been shown to arise at the condensation fronts of volatile species in the disk due to either increased pebble growth or dust sintering (e.g., Okuzumi *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2015). Additionally, multiple gaps and rings have been shown to form in magneto-hydrodynamic simulations (e.g., Flock *et al.*, 2015; Pinilla *et al.*, 2016; Ruge *et al.*, 2016).

Non-asymmetric features were actually the first dust structures observed in disks (van der Marel *et al.*, 2013). These horseshoe shaped dust traps can form via the Rossby Wave Instability (RWI) in a disk where self-gravity is negligible. An axisymmetric bump in the disk surface density induces a non-axisymmetric vortice (Lovelace & Romanova, 2014). A change in the radial gas density, i.e., a gap due to a forming planet or a massive companion, or, a change in viscosity at the dead zone can create the conditions for a vortex to form. If not excited by planets or companions, spiral asymmetries can arise due to gravitational instability or flyby encounters with unbound objects (Cuello *et al.*, 2019; Hall *et al.*, 2018).

The gas kinematics are encoded in the molecular line emission. The gravitational interactions between a planet and its disk will perturb the local velocity field. Local deviations from Keplerian motions have been detected in multiple disks and can be linked to Jupiter mass planets (see Figure 1.9; Pinte *et al.*, 2018, 2019; Teague *et al.*, 2018). Also a local increase in line width can be attributed to a forming planet (Dong *et al.*, 2019). Larger scale super-Keplerian velocities have been measured in the inner regions (< 100 au) in a few disks and these can be explained by warped inner disks or fast radial flows (e.g., Casassus *et al.*, 2013; Loomis *et al.*, 2017; Walsh *et al.*, 2017). Both of these are due to planet-disk interactions. A forming planet is also expected to alter the chemical composition of the disk locally via heating due to its inherent luminosity; therefore, there



Figure 1.9: Single channels maps showing the local deviations in  $^{12}$ CO emission (left) and  $^{13}$ CO (right) from the Keplerian velocity pattern in the HD 163296 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disks (Pinte *et al.*, 2018, 2019).

is the potential for planets to be detected from observed chemical asymmetries (Cleeves *et al.*, 2015).

Planets will accrete material from the disk though their own disks and these are another potential observable in both the gas and dust (Perez *et al.*, 2015; Szulágyi *et al.*, 2016). These circumplanetary disks (CPDs) regulate the growth of the planet and are the potential formation sites for moons. The most convincing detection of a CPD is in the PDS 70 disk. In this source there is a coincident gap in both the gas and dust disk (Long *et al.*, 2018c) and within this gap VLT and Gemini observations detected a point source, PDS 70b (Keppler *et al.*, 2018). Follow up observations detected H $\alpha$  emission from PDS 70b indicative of ongoing accretion and ALMA millimetre continuum emission associated with the point source (Keppler *et al.*, 2019; Wagner *et al.*, 2018). Similarly, recent ALMA observations of TW Hya have detected a compact au-scale feature in the continuum emission that is potentially a CPD in the outer disk (Tsukagoshi *et al.*, 2019).

Overall, ALMA observations have given unprecedented insight into the formation of planets. The observations and modelling of the millimetre dust have given us valuable information on disk properties but the same degree of importance also needs to be given to the molecular lines. Different molecules give vital diagnostics on the physical and chemical structure as well as the kinematics.

# 1.7 This thesis

This thesis presents a study of molecular line emission from planet-forming disks around young stars. Chapter 1 provided an overview of the formation, evolution and structure of protoplanetary disks.

Chapter 2 outlines the different methods in this thesis including: interferometry with ALMA, chemical modelling and line radiative transfer. This thesis uses both ALMA observations of disks and chemical models with the aim of constraining some of the physical and chemical conditions associated with giant planet formation.

Chapter 3 presents the first detections of  ${}^{13}C{}^{17}O$  in protoplanetary disks. These data are used to constrain the total gas mass of the HD 163296 and HL Tau disks. In both cases the detection of  ${}^{13}C{}^{17}O$  shows model independently that the disk gas masses have been underestimated from existing C<sup>18</sup>O observations by a factor of 2 to 10 times. These updated mass measurements provide insight into the gravitational stability of each star-disk system.

Chapter 4 presents the first detection of  $H^{13}CO^+$  and  $HC^{15}N$  in the HD 97048 disk. In particular, this work looks at the radial abundance distribution of the  $H^{12}CO^+$  and  $H^{13}CO^+$ . The observed ratio is low and various models are investigated to see if chemistry alone can explain this or if modifications to the underlying disk gas density or temperature structure are required. This analysis highlights the need to consider isotope-fractionation chemistry and suggests that in the outer disk the gas temperature is much colder than previously thought.

Chapter 5 presents the first detection of SO in the HD 100546 disk. In disks S

bearing volatiles are observed to be depleted, but, in other environments SO is a unique tracer of shocks. The spatial distribution of the emission is very compact and the kinematics are not consistent with solely Keplerian rotation. There is significant blue-shifted emission that is not spatially coincident with the blueshifted disk emission. Therefore, it is proposed that the SO is tracing a disk wind or a circumplanetary disk given that SO is a known shock tracer.

Chapter 6 presents an analysis of the Si and S-bearing volatiles in the HD 97048 and HD 100546 disks. Like sulphur, silicon bearing volatiles are also observed to be significantly depleted in disks, similar to dark clouds. Multiple lines of SO and SiO are targeted towards HD 100546 and HD 97048. Upper limits on the disk averaged column densities are derived for the non-detections of the SiO and SO lines. These values are compared to the results from disk specific chemical models. With this analysis the different reservoirs of volatile silicon and sulphur can be constrained in each disk and reveals that SiS, an as-yet undetected disk molecule, as a significant source of both.

Chapter 7 provides a summary of this thesis, details plans future projects and shows how the work presented here informs the wider protoplanetary disk, planet formation and exoplanet communities.

# Chapter 2 Methods

# 2.1 Observations with ALMA

Protoplanetary disks subtend a small angular scale on the sky and therefore, in most cases, we need subarcsecond resolution observations in order to spatially resolve them. The mm-sized dust in disks emits radiation at predominately millimetre wavelengths and the rotational transitions of the simple molecules in disks, e.g., CO, HCO<sup>+</sup>, are also at sub-millimetre wavelengths. The angular resolution,  $\theta$ , of a telescope is given by:

$$\theta = \frac{\lambda}{D}$$

where  $\lambda$  is the observing wavelength and D is the size of the aperture. Single dish telescopes which would meet resolution requirements at sub-millimetre wavelengths to resolve protoplanetary disks are simply too big to construct. The alternative is to synthesise a large continuous aperture telescope by summing separated pairs of smaller telescopes. This is this the principle behind interferometers such as ALMA.

ALMA is the product of an international collaboration between Europe, the United States, Canada, Japan, South Korea, Taiwan, and Chile. This interferometer is located on the Chajnantor plain of the Chilean Andes where the weather



Figure 2.1: The 66 ALMA antenna in a compact configuration. The Total Power array is highlighted in blue and the Atacama Compact Array in orange.

conditions are very dry, reducing the effect of absorption from the atmospheric water vapor. Figure 2.1 shows the 66 antenna that make up ALMA. There are 50 12 m antennas which make up the main array and these are complemented by the 12 7 m antennas in the Atacama Compact Array (ACA) and the 4 12 m antennas in the total Power (TP) array. The following section covers the basics of interferometry and the general steps in working with ALMA data (Remijan, 2019).

## 2.1.1 The basics of interferometry

For a single dish antenna the brightness (specific intensity) is defined as:

$$I_{\nu} = \frac{\delta P}{\delta \Omega \ \delta A \ \delta \nu}$$

where  $\delta P$  is the electromagnetic power received to a surface area  $\delta A$  over a given bandwidth  $\delta \nu$  from a particular solid angle  $\delta \Omega$  on the sky. ALMA can receive signals from 8.5 to 0.32 mm (35 – 950 GHz) (Remijan, 2019) and this is divided into different different observing bands (see Table 2.1). The total flux density is

Band	Wavelength (mm)	Frequency (GHz)
3	2.6 - 3.6	84 - 116
4	1.8 - 2.4	125 - 163
5	1.4 - 1.8	163 - 211
6	1.1 - 1.4	211 - 275
7	0.8 - 1.1	275 - 373
8	0.6 - 0.8	385 - 500
9	0.4 - 0.5	602 - 720
10	0.3 - 0.4	787 - 950

Table 2.1: ALMA observing bands

given by:

$$S_{\nu} = \int I_{\nu} d\nu$$

The units of  $S_{\nu}$  are Wm<sup>-2</sup> Hz<sup>-1</sup> but as the flux density received is typically very low the convention is to use Janskys where 1 Jy  $\equiv 10^{-26}$  Wm<sup>-2</sup> Hz<sup>-1</sup>.

The antenna has a parabolic surface and the total power received is the sum of the focused radiation. This power response has a Gaussian-like central component with a full width half maximum that is called the primary beam. This determines the field of view and is given by:

Primary Beam = 
$$1.03 \times \frac{\lambda}{D}$$

where D is the diameter of the dish. Beyond this central maximum there are successive lobes of constructive and destructive interference. The amplitude of these side-lobes is typically only an order of a few percent of the central component.

In aperture synthesis the signals from multiple antennas are combined. For an ideal 1-D two-antenna interferometer (A1 and A2) this works as follows. When A1 and A2 both point towards some source S the radiation will reach A2 before A1. To account for this the electrical signal collected at A2 has an artificial delay applied. The voltage response from A1 can therefore be expressed as the response

from A2 with a delay factor:

$$\mathbf{v}_1 = \mathbf{v}_2 \ e^{2\pi i (ul)}$$

where u is the projected baseline and l is the spatial coordinate on the sky. Expanding this 1-D example to 2-D introduces equivalent terms for u and l in the second dimension, v and m. This results in:

$$\mathbf{v}_1 = \mathbf{v}_2 \ e^{2\pi i (ul + vm)}.$$

The purpose of the correlator is to multiply and average these incoming signals. Since  $v^2 \propto P$  and  $P \propto I$  this becomes:

$$\langle \mathbf{v}_1 \mathbf{v}_2 \rangle \sim \int \int I_{\nu}(lm) e^{2\pi i (ul + vm)} dl dm$$

where the intensity at point (l, m) on the sky is  $I_{\nu}(l, m)$ . The correlator therefore is measuring a complex visibility:

$$V(u,v) = \int \int I_{\nu}(l,m) e^{2\pi i (ul+vm)} dl dm.$$

This is a complex number that is defined by an amplitude and a phase which describes the sky brightness at a position relative to the phase centre given the spatial frequencies u and v. This visibility is the Fourier transform of the sky brightness distribution, therefore the sky brightness distribution can be recovered from measuring the complex visibilities with different spatial frequencies. Each pair of antennas results in one point in the (u, v) plane defined by their separation distance, or baseline. It is impossible to observe all of the potential points in the (u, v) plane therefore the uv-coverage limits the final image fidelity - the accuracy of the reconstruction of the sky brightness distribution. N antennas results in N(N-1)/2 different baselines, therefore the 50 12 m array has 1225 different

baselines.

The resolution of the interferometer is limited by the longest baseline:

$$\theta_{res} = \frac{\lambda}{L_{max}}.$$

The highest angular resolution achievable with ALMA at at 345 GHz is 0".01. Therefore for a disk at 100 pc this is equivalent to 1 au. The largest recoverable angular scale is limited by the shortest baseline:

$$\theta_{LAS} = 0.6 \times \frac{\lambda}{L_{min}}.$$

For example, the shortest baseline in the Cycle 0 observations from Walsh *et al.* (2014a), also presented in Chapter 5, is 21 m corresponding to a largest recoverable angular scale of 4".5 at 345 GHz (after converting radians to arc-seconds). The ALMA antennas can be moved into a range of compact and extended configurations in order to sample different maximum (15 km) and minimum (15 m) baselines.

#### 2.1.2 Working with ALMA data

The measured visibilities need to be calibrated before being Fourier inverted. To work with these data we use the Common Astronomy Software Applications package (CASA; McMullin *et al.*, 2007a). The calibrators, chosen are sources of bright, constant radiation with a well known position, e.g., Titan. The primary calibration of the data is executed by the ALMA staff. They check though the data and will flag any potential issues. Due to the high sensitivity of ALMA which leads to high signal-to-noise observations a self-calibration for the phase and amplitude is then executed by the project PI/team (Brogan *et al.*, 2018). In this step the calibrations are applied to the continuum data only and then the solutions are applied to the line data which are then continuum subtracted.

#### 2. METHODS

The visibilities are then Fourier inverted and deconvolved in order create an image. This deconvolution is in order to suppress the side-lobes of emission corrupting the image fidelity. The typical algorithm used for this is CLEAN (Högbom, 1974) and this is a built in function in CASA. CLEAN weighs all of the baselines equally but there are also options to omit particular baselines using a uv taper or to give the longer/shorter baselines higher significance in order to improve the science products (Briggs, 1995). The use of a taper or a particular weighting scheme is generally done to optimise both the signal-to-noise ratio and the angular resolution of the image products.

Continuum observations result in a 2D map of the intensity that has been integrated over the bandwidth of the observations. For the line data an image cube (see Figure 2.2), or the channel maps, are the native form of the data. The data cube can then be collapsed to make different moment maps including: integrated intensity, intensity-weighted velocity, velocity dispersion, and peak intensity. Spectra can also be extracting using different apertures, e.g., elliptical, Keplerian mask or pixel.

# 2.2 Chemical modelling

From observations of disks, and in other astrophysical environments, it is clear that different molecules have different abundance distributions. In order to connect the observed column densities to the physical conditions of the environment we need chemical models. The chemical model used in this thesis was first presented in Walsh *et al.* (2010) and Walsh *et al.* (2012). The input parameters are the 2D disk physical structure, radiation field, initial atomic/molecular abundances, and the chemical reactions and their respective reaction rates. The model used in this work is a single point model and this means that the chemistry is solved in time at each point independently in the disk, given the static physical



Figure 2.2: A diagram showing the different ways to view an image cube. Counter-clockwise from the top-left: Velocity-integrated moment maps, made by integrating slices of the cube along the frequency axis; channel maps, where each panel corresponds to a channel of the cube; spectra, generated from top to bottom from a single pixel, integrated over an aperture, and integrated using a matched spatio-kinematic mask (dashed red contours in channel maps). The synthesized beam is shown in the lower left of the moment and channel maps (Loomis *et al.*, 2018b).

#### 2. METHODS

conditions, temperature and density, and the radiation field.

The initial abundances used in disk models can fall into two categories: atomic or molecular. Molecular abundances assumes that all of the disk material has the same composition as in dark clouds. Atomic abundances assumes that during star (and disk) formation that the increase in temperature and radiation is such that all of the molecular material is broken down into its respective atomic constituents. The reality is likely a mix of both scenarios. Eistrup *et al.* (2016) show that these two different initial conditions do affect the resulting atomic and molecular abundances therefore it is something to consider when setting up a model.

The different types of chemical reactions can be divided into four categories: bond formation, bond destruction, bond rearrangement and ionization. Chemistry in space is not in thermal equilibrium therefore to calculate abundances models use chemical kinetics. This relies on knowing the rate at which a particular reaction occurs at a given temperature (T). Table 2.2 summarises some of the types of reactions and their typical reaction rates.

Reaction rates for two body reactions are given as:

$$k_{ij} = \alpha \ (T/300)^{\beta} e^{(-\gamma/T)} \ \mathrm{cm}^3 \mathrm{s}^{-1}.$$

This is the Arrhenius form of the rate equation where  $\alpha$  is the pre-exponential factor,  $\beta$  determines the temperature dependence of the reaction, and  $\gamma$  is the activation energy of the reaction in K. These are all measured experimentally and the two main databases are the UMIST Database for Astrochemistry<sup>1</sup> (McElroy *et al.*, 2013) and the KInetic Database for Astrochemistry<sup>2</sup> (KIDA) (Wakelam *et al.*, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>UMIST: http://udfa.ajmarkwick.net/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>KIDA: http://kida.obs.u-bordeaux1.fr/

Table 2.2: Types of chemical reactions with typical rate coefficients (adapted from van Dishoeck (2014)).

Process		Rate Coefficient $(cm^3 s^{-1})$
Bond formation		
Radiative association	$X + Y \rightarrow XY + h\nu$	$10^{-17} - 10^{-14}$
Grain surface formation	$\rm X+Y{:}gr\rightarrow XY+gr$	$\sim 10^{-17}$
Associative detachment	$\mathbf{X}^- + \mathbf{Y} \to \mathbf{X}\mathbf{Y} + e^-$	$\sim 10^{-9}$
Bond destruction		
Photodissociation	$XY + h\nu \rightarrow X + Y$	$10^{-10} - 10^{-8}$
Dissociative recombination	$XY^+ + e^- \rightarrow X + Y$	$\sim 10^{-9}$
Collisional dissociation	$XY + M \rightarrow X + Y + M$	$10^{-26}$
Bond restructuring		
Neutral-neutral	$X + YZ \rightarrow XY + Z$	$10^{-11} - 10^{-9}$
Charge transfer	$\rm X^+ + \rm YZ \rightarrow \rm X + \rm YZ^+$	$10^{-9}$
Ion-molecule exchange	$\rm X^+ + \rm YZ \rightarrow \rm XY^+ + \rm Z$	$10^{-9} - 10^{-8}$
Unchanged bond		
Photoionization	$XY + h\nu \rightarrow XY^+ + e^-$	$10^{-18} - 10^{-12}$
Ionization by CRP	$XY + h\nu \rightarrow XY^+ + e^-$	$\sim 10^{-17}$

For the photo-induced reactions, photo-ionisation and photo-dissociation, these rates depend on the thermal and non-thermal UV spectrum from the star. Similarly, X-ray ionization is dependent on the stellar X-ray flux. X-rays provide a significant source of ionisation in the denser regions of disks and in particular ionize He. This cation can then go on to destroy species such as CO. Deeper in the disk cosmic rays are the primary ionization source. The galactic cosmic ray ionisation rate is generally taken as  $5 \times 10^{17}$  s<sup>-1</sup> but this is potentially reduced in disks by up to 2 orders of magnitude due to the exclusion of cosmic rays by stellar winds and magnetic fields (Cleeves *et al.*, 2013). An important reaction in molecular clouds and disk midplanes is cosmic ray induced photo-ionisation. This provides a secondary source of ionisation in dense regions where the material is shielded from other sources of ionising radiation.

Another key determining factor in abundance distributions is phase changes. The rate of freeze-out, or accretion, onto the dust grains  $k_{acc}$  and the rate of desorption  $k_{des}$  are given by:

$$k_{acc} = \langle v \rangle \ \sigma_{grain} \ n_{grain} \ S \ s^{-1}$$

and

$$k_{des} = \nu_0 \exp(-E_b/T_d) \quad \mathrm{s}^{-1},$$

where  $\langle v \rangle$  is the mean thermal velocity of molecules,  $\sigma_{grain}$  is the surface area per dust grain,  $n_{grain}$  is the number of disk grains and S is the sticking coefficient ( $\approx 1$  for CO),  $\nu_0$  is the characteristic vibrational frequency of an adsorbed species in its potential well,  $E_b$  is the binding energy,  $T_d$  is the dust grain temperature.

Taking all of the above processes into account, the rate of change of the abundance, n(i), of a particular species i with respect to time is calculated as follows:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}n_i}{\mathrm{d}t} = \sum_{j,k} k_{jk} n_j n_k + \sum_l k_l n_l - n_i \left[ \sum_m k_{im} n_m + \sum_n k_n \right] + k_{des} n_{i,s} - k_{acc} n_i = 0.$$

The first two terms are the sum over all of two-body reactions and photo-processes and/or cosmic-ray processes that result in the formation of species *i*. The bracketed terms sum over all of the potential destruction reactions for species *i*. The last two terms describe accretion and desorption of *i*. For some cations in the disk, e.g., HCO<sup>+</sup> and N<sub>2</sub>H<sup>+</sup>, there are only a few reactions to consider and thus the chemistry can be solved analytically (Aikawa *et al.*, 2015). In most cases though all of these coupled ODEs need to be solved numerically. In dark clouds and the cold midplane of disks grain surface reactions also need to be considered. These facilitate the formation of complex organic molecules (COMs) (Hasegawa *et al.*, 1992; Walsh *et al.*, 2014b). More complex chemical models be built from the same framework as described above. For example an intuitive next step is to modifying the physical conditions at each time step (e.g.; Drozdovskaya *et al.*, 2015; Eistrup et al., 2018) or to include dust dynamics (Booth & Ilee, 2019).

## 2.3 Radiative transfer

Radiative transfer allows for the comparison of observations to models. The theory behind this, for both dust and gas modelling, are described clearly in Pinte (2015), Dionatos (2015) and Kamp (2015) and are summarised in the following section.

## 2.3.1 Molecular excitation

Unlike dust which emits radiation over a continuum, molecules emit photons of discrete energies. Molecules can undergo rotational, vibrational or electronic transitions (Hollas, 2004). The frequency range covered by ALMA is most applicable to the lowest energy transitions, the pure rotational transitions. In the simplest case, for the closed shell diatomic molecules, e.g., CO, in the rigid rotor approximation the energy of a transition,  $E_r$ , is defined by the rotational quantum number J and moment of inertia I:

$$E_r = \frac{h^2}{8\pi^2 cI} J(J+1).$$

Since  $E_r \alpha I^{-1}$ , heavier molecules will have a lower frequency and more closely spaced energy levels. For a transition to be allowed the molecule must have a permanent dipole and follow the selection rule that  $\Delta J = \pm 1$ . This means that homonuclear molecules such as H<sub>2</sub> have no allowed pure rotational transitions. Instead, H<sub>2</sub> undergoes electric quadrapole transitions where  $\Delta J = \pm 2$ . Similarity, spherical top molecules, e.g., CH<sub>4</sub>, have no purely rotational spectrum. The unpaired electron(s) in radicals, e.g., SO, lead to substructure within these rotational transitions (Lique *et al.*, 2006). There are fine structure lines to each rotational transition due to spin-orbital coupling and these follow the selection

#### 2. METHODS

rules  $\Delta J = \pm 1$  and  $\Delta F = 0, \pm 1$ . For, e.g., HCN, there are hyperfine structure lines due to the interaction between the nuclei and internally generated magnetic and electric fields. Non-linear molecules, e.g., NH<sub>3</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O, have more complex spectra. NH<sub>3</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O are called symmetric and asymmetric tops and instead of just one quantum number, two and three are needed to describe the total angular momentum of the molecule, respectively.

The strength of a molecular line depends on the level populations, i.e., the number of molecules in that particular energy state. In the case of local thermodynamic equilibrium, LTE, then the level populations are given by the Boltzmann equation and depend on the excitation temperature where  $T_{\rm kin} = T_{\rm ex}$  and:

$$\frac{n_i}{n_j} = \frac{g_i}{g_j} \exp{-\Delta E/kT_{ex}}$$

where  $g_i$  and  $g_j$  are the degeneracies of each state  $n_i$  and  $n_j$  and  $\Delta E$  is their difference in transition energy.

The gas is only in LTE if collisions dominate the de-excitation and excitation of the gas. For this to be the case the density must be greater than the critical density. The critical density is determined by:

$$n_{cr} = \frac{A_{ij}}{\sum\limits_{j' < i} C_{ij'}}$$

where  $A_{ij}$  and  $C_{ij}$  are the Einstein A and collisional rates coefficients of the transition. These data are available from the Leiden Atomic and Molecular Database (LAMDA; Schöier *et al.*, 2005)<sup>1</sup>. If the gas in not in LTE then  $T_{kin} \neq T_{ex}$  and the full non-LTE statistical equilibrium equation has to be solved. This takes into account both the radiative and collisional processes. Statistical equilibrium is given by:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Leiden Atomic and Molecular Database:https://home.strw.leidenuniv.nl/~moldata/

$$\frac{dn_i}{dt} = \sum_{j>i} n_j \left( A_{ji} + B_{ji} P\left(y_{ji}\right) \right) + \sum_{j- n_i \sum_{ji} B_{ij} P\left(v_{ij}\right) - n_i \sum_{j\neq i} C_{ij} = 0$$

where  $B_{ij}$  and  $B_{ji}$  are the rates of stimulated emission and absorption. The first line describes the gain in molecules at a particular energy state (i) and the second line describes the loss. This includes spontaneous and stimulated emission from a higher level (j) to a lower level (i), stimulated absorption from a lower level (j) to level (i), and all collisional excitation from lower and higher levels to level (i). The second line describes the inverse processes.

## 2.3.2 Equation of radiative transfer

The observed and modelled dust and line emission from protoplanetary disks can be described by radiative transfer. This general equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_{\nu}(s)}{\mathrm{d}s} = j_{\nu}(s) - \alpha_{\nu}(s)I_{\nu}(s)$$

describes the change in the intensity,  $I_{\nu}(s)$ , of light due to emission,  $j_{\nu}$ , and absorption,  $\alpha_{\nu}$ , along the line of sight, ds.

The source function is the ratio of the emission to absorption coefficients and is defined as:

$$S_{\nu} = \frac{j_{\nu}}{\alpha_{\nu}}$$

and the optical depth is given by

$$\tau_{\nu} = \int_{s1}^{s2} \alpha_{\nu}(s) \ ds.$$

For  $\tau < 1$  emission is considered to be optically thin and for  $\tau > 1$  it is optically

#### 2. METHODS

thick. Taking the above two relationships the radiative transfer equation can be re-written as:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}I_{\nu}(s)}{\mathrm{d}\tau} = S_{\nu} - I_{\nu}.$$

The formal solution is given by the integration along the line of sight:

$$I_{v}(s_{2}) = I_{v}(s_{1})e^{-\tau_{v}(s_{1},s_{2})} + \int_{s_{1}}^{s_{2}} j_{v}(s)e^{-\tau_{v}(s_{1},s_{2})} \mathrm{d}s.$$

This equation works on the assumption that the timescales for changes in physical conditions that would change the emission/absorption of light are significantly longer than the light travel time.

For dust modelling, the extinction depends on the density and the cross section:

$$\alpha_{\nu} = \rho \sigma_{\nu}$$

and is commonly given as the opacity per unit mass:

$$\kappa_{\nu} = \alpha_{\nu}/\rho$$

If the dust is in thermal equilibrium then the emission is given by

$$j_{\nu} = \alpha_{\nu} \ B_{\nu}(T)$$

where  $B_{\nu}(T)$  is the Planck function.

For molecular lines the equivalent emission and absorption coefficients are given by:

$$\epsilon_{\nu}^{ij} = \frac{h\nu_{ij}}{4\pi} n_{ij} A_{ij} \phi_{ij}(\nu),$$

and

$$\alpha_{\nu}^{ij} = \frac{h\nu_{ij}}{4\pi} (n_j B_{ji} - n_i B_{ij}) \phi_{ij}(\nu)$$

where  $\phi_{ij}$  is the line profile function. The minimum line width is set by the uncertainty principle and this is then broadened by collisions and thermal and/or turbulent motions. In inclined disks, Doppler broadening due to the Keplerian sheer is the dominant line broadening mechanism.

The equation of radiative transfer needs to be solved self-consistently in order to achieve thermal balance between the radiation field and the dust/gas temperaure. The inclusion of dust scattering and optical depth effects can make this computationally expensive.

## 2.3.3 Radiative transfer with LIME

The line radiative transfer calculations in this Thesis are executed using the LIne Modeling Engine<sup>1</sup> (LIME Brinch & Hogerheijde, 2010). LIME is a 3D non-LTE (semi-)Monte Carlo molecular excitation, radiative transfer and ray tracing code.

The inputs to the code are the physical structure, molecular data, and velocity field (assumed to be Keplerian in this instance). The physical structure consists of the gas density, gas and dust temperatures, global gas-to-dust mass ratio and molecular abundance.

LIME is innovative in the way in which the grid is determined. The grid is unstructured and points are chosen from a probability distribution function based on one of the model parameters (e.g., density, molecular abundance). Therefore, the grid has an automatic refinement with the most points in the regions of most interest. The points are then connected via a Delauny Triangulation using QHull (Barber *et al.*, 1996). In 3D this means that four points are connected to form an irregular tetrahedron which contains no points within its volume. Each point

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Publicly available at: https://github.com/lime-rt/lime



Figure 2.3: Left: a random point distribution. Middle: Delaunay triangulation of the points. Right: the corresponding Voronoi tessellation from Brinch & Hogerheijde 2010).

is connected to  $\approx 16$  other points. Around each point is a Voronoi cell. This is defined as the region surrounding the point which contains all the space that lies closer to that point than any other points. See Figure 2.3 for a visual. Each cell is allocated model parameters which are interpolated from the input files. Photons propagate along the Delauny lines where the subsequent direction at each interface is determined probabilistically. This makes LIME a semi-Monte Carlo code. This is quite efficient as all of the possible paths are predetermined by the grid. At each point the radiative transfer and statistical equilibrium equations are solved iteratively until the level populations converge. The ray tracing step projects the 3D model onto a 2D grid, as defined by the user. The rays travel in straight lines stepping though the Voronoi cells.

The outputs of LIME are the image FITS files of the requested transitions, the level populations and the generated grid. The image is the 2D representation of the sky brightness distribution as would be seen by the observer.

# 2.4 Summary

This Chapter summarises the different methods used in this Thesis. All of the science chapters make use ALMA observations of different molecular lines in disks. In Chapters 3, 4 and 5 LIME is used to make synthetic observations to compare directly to the data. In these Chapters existing 2D disk models are utilised with analytical predictions for the molecular abundances of CO, HCO<sup>+</sup> and SO. In Chapter 6 molecular column densities derived from observational fluxes are compared to the results from disk specific chemical models.
# Chapter 3 <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O as a tracer of disk gas mass

# 3.1 Introduction

Gas is the dominant mass carrier in disks, hence, measurements of the total gas mass are necessary to determine the planet formation potential of protoplanetary disks, i.e., the mass available to form planets. Observations of rare CO isotopologues are typically used to determine disk gas masses. However, if the line emission is incorrectly assumed to be optically thin this will result in an underestimated disk mass. This Chapter presents the first detections of the rarest stable CO isotopologue, <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O, in protoplanetary disks. The abundance of <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O is predicted to be  $\approx 120,000$  times less than that of the main isotopologue <sup>12</sup>C<sup>16</sup>O. The two sources, HD 163296 and HL Tau, are two of first disks in which multiple concentric rings of millimeter-sized dust were detected with ALMA and both have been proposed to host forming gas-giant planets (ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015; Isella *et al.*, 2016). The newly derived gas masses from the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O are compared to existing estimates with C<sup>18</sup>O and using these masses the gravitational stability or otherwise of the disks is determined.

## 3.2 HD 163296

## 3.2.1 The HD 163296 disk

HD 163296 is a 1.95  $M_{\odot}$  A0 Vep type pre-main sequence star (Wichittanakom et al., 2020) that is not associated with a young star-forming region (The et al., 1985). The protoplanetary disk around HD 163296 has been well characterised at sub-millimeter wavelengths with both the SMA and ALMA. The most recent high-spatial resolution observations with ALMA at Band 6 ( $\approx 1.3$  mm) and 7  $(\approx 1.0 \text{ mm})$  observations show multiple rings in both the continuum and the CO gas emission (e.g. Isella et al., 2016; Notsu et al., 2019, and see Figure 3.1a). There are four proposed  $\approx 0.5$  - 2 M<sub>J</sub> planets in this disk inferred from the dust and gas rings, and localised deviations from Keplerian motion in the CO gas kinematics (see Figure 1.9 in Chapter 1: Isella et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2018; Pinte et al., 2018; Teague et al., 2018). Recently,  $\approx 5$  au resolution observations of the continuum emission revealed an additional gap and ring in the inner disk as well as an azimuthal asymmetry in one of the previously detected rings (see Figure 3.1a: Isella et al., 2018). Hence, the proposed planet-induced structures in the HD 163296 disk make it an excellent observational laboratory to study planet formation.

## 3.2.2 Line identification and imaging

HD 163296 was observed by ALMA at Band 7 during Cycle 3 (2015.1.01259.S, PI: S. Notsu). The work presented here began with the self-calibrated measurement set from Notsu *et al.* (2019). The <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O was initially detected via a matched filter analysis<sup>1</sup> (Loomis *et al.*, 2018b) using a Keplerian mask assuming a disk position angle of 132° and an inclination of 42° (e.g. Isella *et al.*, 2016). Since

 $<sup>^1\</sup>mathrm{A}$  python-based open-source implementation of VISIBLE is available at <code>http://github.com/AstroChem/VISIBLE</code>

the position-velocity pattern of a disk in Keplerian rotation is well characterised, matched filtering can be used to detect weak spectral lines in disks (Loomis et al., 2018b). The Keplerian filter is sampled in the uv plane and these visibilities are cross-correlated with the low signal-to-noise (S/N) observed visibilities. This is done by sliding the filter though the data channel-by-channel along the velocity axis. If there is a detectable signal, i.e. emission with a similar position and velocity distribution as the filter, the filter response will peak at the source velocity of the emission. The filter response is shown in Figure 3.1b with the black line marking the  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  J=3-2 transition after correction for the source velocity (5.8 km s<sup>-1</sup>). The filter response has a S/N of  $\approx 3.5$ . There are 14  ${}^{13}C{}^{17}O$ J=3-2 hyperfine structure lines that lie between 321.851 and 321.852 GHz. All lines lie within a frequency range less than the spectral resolution of the data  $(1.953125 \times 10^{-3} \text{ GHz})$ ; hence, the observations are a blend of all of the hyperfine lines. The  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  molecular data is from Klapper *et al.* (2003) and was accessed via the Cologne Database for Molecular Spectroscopy (CDMS, Müller et al., 2005).

The line imaging was conducted using CLEAN with CASA version 4.6.0. The native spectral resolution of the data is 1.8 km s<sup>-1</sup>; however, in order to optimise the S/N the final images were generated with a 3 km s<sup>-1</sup> channel width and a uv taper (as mentioned in Chapter 2) of 0".5 resulting in a synthesised beam of 0".87 × 0".51 (100°). The channel maps reach a peak of 0.079 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> per channel and the line-free channels have a rms noise (1 $\sigma$ ) of 0.010 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> per channel resulting in a S/N of 7. Figures 3.1c and d present the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O integrated intensity map and the intensity-weighted velocity map, respectively. The integrated intensity map was made using channels ± 6 km s<sup>-1</sup> about the source velocity and shows that the emission is centrally peaked and compact compared to the dust disk. The peak integrated intensity is 0.55 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> with an rms noise

level of 0.08 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> (S/N = 7), the latter of which was extracted from the spatial region beyond the detected line emission. The intensity-weighted velocity map was made in the same manner but also with a  $3\sigma$  noise clip. There is a velocity gradient across the major axis of the disk that is consistent with the expectation of Keplerian rotation of the gas disk.

Archival data is used to benchmark the line emission modelling (see Table 3.1), including the <sup>12</sup>C<sup>16</sup>O, <sup>13</sup>C<sup>16</sup>O, <sup>12</sup>C<sup>18</sup>O J=2-1 transitions observed from Isella *et al.* (2016), and the  ${}^{12}C^{16}O$  J=3-2 ALMA Science Verification data.<sup>1</sup> All integrated intensity maps were de-projected and azimuthally averaged and are shown in Figures 3.2 and 3.3a to e. This is an effective method to increase S/N assuming that the emission is azimuthally symmetric (e.g., Yen *et al.*, 2016a). All pixels in each map were placed into radial bins depending on the deprojected radius, and the average value per bin calculated. The errors are the standard deviation of intensity of the pixels in each bin divided by the square root of the number of beams per annulus (e.g. Carney et al., 2018). In addition, Figure 3.2e shows the  $^{12}C^{17}O$  J=3-2 transition total integrated intensity value with associated errors (Qi et al., 2011). All data plotted assumes a source distance of 122 pc (van den Ancker et al., 1998). Although the GAIA DR2 parallaxes put this source at  $101.5^{+0.2}_{-1.9}$  pc (Gaia Collaboration et al., 2018), in order to compare to previous analyses the previous value is used. The impact of the revised distance is discussed in Section 3.2.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://almascience.nrao.edu/alma-data/science-verification

Table 3.1: List of the HD 163296 modelled CO isotopologue lines.

Species	Transition	Frequency (GHz)	Beam Size	Reference
$^{12}\mathrm{CO}$	J=3-2	345.796	0".22 x 0".15 (-89.8°)	ALMA Science Verification
$^{12}\mathrm{CO}$	J=2-1	230.538	0".22 x 0".15 (-89.8°)	Isella et al. $2016$
$^{13}\mathrm{CO}$	J=2-1	220.399	0".22 x 0".16 (-89.8°)	Isella et al. 2016
$C^{18}O$	J=2-1	219.560	0"23 x 0"17 (-89.4°)	Isella et al. $2016$
$\rm C^{17}O$	J=3-2	337.061	0"24 x 0"17 (-89.6°)	Qi et al. $2011$
$^{13}\mathrm{C}^{17}\mathrm{O}$	J=3-2	321.852	0".87 x 0".51 (100°)	This work

The values for the line frequencies are from the Cologne Database for Molecular Spectroscopy (CDMS; Müller *et al.*, 2001).

## 3.2.3 Line radiative transfer modelling

Previous observations of the HD 163296 disk with ALMA and the SMA have detected multiple CO isotopologues:  ${}^{12}C^{16}O$ ,  ${}^{13}C^{16}O$ ,  ${}^{12}C^{18}O$  and  ${}^{12}C^{17}O$  (Isella *et al.*, 2016; Qi *et al.*, 2011). The models that were used to reproduce the line emission in Qi *et al.* (2011) recover the following global isotope ratios;

$$n(^{12}C^{16}O)/n(^{13}C^{16}O) = 67 \pm 8,$$
  
 $n(^{12}C^{16}O)/n(^{12}C^{18}O) = 444 \pm 88,$   
 $n(^{12}C^{18}O)/n(^{12}C^{17}O) = 3.8 \pm 1.7,$ 

where  $n(^{X}C^{Y}O)$  is the number density of the molecule. These are consistent with the carbon and oxygen isotope ratios observed in the ISM (Wilson, 1999).

A first estimate of the column density of gas traced by the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O emission can be made under the assumption of optically thin emission in local thermodynamic equilibrium (LTE) with:

$$N = 2.04 \ \frac{\int I_{\nu} dv}{\theta_a \theta_b} \ \frac{Q_{\rm rot} \exp\left(E_u/T_{\rm ex}\right)}{\nu^2 \langle S_{\rm ul} \mu^2 \rangle} \times 10^{20} {\rm cm}^{-2}, \tag{3.1}$$

where  $\int I_{\nu}dv$  is the integrated line intensity in Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup>,  $\theta_a$  and  $\theta_b$  are the semi-major and semi-minor axes of the synthesized beam in arcseconds,  $T_{\rm ex}$ is the excitation temperature in K, and  $\nu$  is the rest frequency of the transition in GHz (Remijan *et al.*, 2003). The partition function ( $Q_{\rm rot}$ ), upper energy level ( $E_u$ , in K), and the temperature-independent transition strength and dipole moment ( $S_{ul}\mu^2$ , in debye<sup>2</sup>) are taken from CDMS (Müller *et al.*, 2005). The average column density for the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O within 50 au, assuming an excitation temperature of 50 K, is 7.1 × 10<sup>15</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>. This is equivalent to an  $n_{\rm H}$  column density of 2.65 × 10<sup>25</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup> (44.4 g cm<sup>-2</sup>) at 50 au. In comparison, the corresponding value for the <sup>12</sup>C<sup>18</sup>O is 1.7 × 10<sup>16</sup> cm<sup>-2</sup>, resulting in an  $n(^{12}C^{18}O)/n(^{13}C^{17}O)$ 



Figure 3.1: a) The 1.25 mm continuum image from Isella *et al.* (2018) plotted on a log colour scale to highlight the rings and extended emission. b) The matched filter response for the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 detection where the black line marks the frequency of the hyperfine transitions. c) The <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 integrated intensity map where the white dashed contours mark 3 and 5  $\sigma$ . d) The <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 intensity-weighted velocity map.

ratio of 2.5. Under the assumption that both the lines are optically thin (and taking the previously derived isotopic ratios), this value is a factor of 100 too low. Therefore, the  ${}^{12}C{}^{18}O$  line emission is optically thick and the resulting gas mass derived from this tracer will be underestimated.

To quantify this more robustly, an existing disk model that has been shown to fit emission lines from multiple CO isotopologues ( ${}^{12}C^{16}O$ ,  ${}^{13}C^{16}O$ ,  ${}^{12}C^{18}O$  and  ${}^{12}C^{17}O$ ) is employed to model the new  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  detection (Qi *et al.*, 2011). The density (hydrogen nuclei density,  $n_{\rm H}$ ) and gas temperature of the disk are shown in Figures 3.4a and b. The CO abundance distribution, shown in Figure 3.4c, was determined by setting n(CO) to a constant fractional abundance of  $6.0 \times 10^{-5}$  with respect to H<sub>2</sub> in the molecular layer following Qi *et al.* (2011). This abundance was reduced by a factor of  $10^{-4}$  in the midplane where T<sub>gas</sub>  $\leq$  19 K (the approximate CO freeze-out temperature) and by a factor of  $10^{-8}$  in the atmosphere where CO is photo-dissociated. This is where the vertically-integrated hydrogen column density,  $\sigma(n_{\rm H})$ , from the disk surface is  $< 1.256 \times 10^{21}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>. The depleted value in the midplane beyond the snowline is consistent with the CO abundances derived from chemical models that include non-thermal desorption (e.g. Walsh *et al.*, 2010). The photodissociation and freeze out boundaries are shown in white contours overlaid on Figures 3.4a and b.

The first model, Model 1, uses a constant  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  fractional abundance of 5.39 × 10<sup>-10</sup> relative to H<sub>2</sub>. This assumes isotope ratios that are consistent with the observations and modelling from Qi *et al.* (2011). Model 1 has a total disk mass of 0.089 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub>. Using the CDMS data for  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  a LAMDA<sup>1</sup>-like file was generated in order to model the J=3-2 hyper-fine components in LIME<sup>2</sup> (the Line Modeling Engine, Brinch & Hogerheijde, 2010). Synthetic images cubes were computed assuming the appropriate position angle and inclination of the source,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>LAMDA: https://home.strw.leidenuniv.nl/~moldata/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>LIME: https://github.com/lime-rt/lime

and the resulting images were smoothed with a Gaussian beam to the spatial resolution of the observations using the CASA task, *imsmooth*. The generated integrated intensity map was then de-projected and azimuthally averaged. The radial profiles from Model 1 (orange) are shown alongside the observations in Figure 3.2 a to e.

Model 1 underpredicts the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O peak emission in the integrated intensity map by a factor of 2.5, yet provides a reasonable fit to the other lines (within a factor of two). The higher spatial resolution observations are affected by dust opacity within  $\approx 50$  au (see Isella *et al.*, 2016); therefore, the focus is to reproduce the data beyond 50 au.

To better fit the  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  observations the disk mass in Model 1 is increased globally. This was done by initially multiplying  $n_{\rm H}$  by a factor of 1.5 and then increasing this factor in steps of 0.5 until the best by-eye fit of 3.5 was found. The results for Model 2 are shown in Figure 3.2 (purple). Model 2 provides a better fit to most of the lines. The  ${}^{12}C^{16}O$  J=2-1 emission is over predicted but this line is optically thick and will therefore be tracing the gas in the warm molecular layer; hence the line strength is more dependent on the gas temperature than density. This model assumes a smooth radial gas density structure contrary to the most recent observations. However, this work is focused on reproducing the global disk mass rather than the underlying small scale gas surface density variations. Model 2 has a total disk mass of 0.31 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub>.

A similar fit can be obtained using a different CO snowline location at 90 au as determined in Qi *et al.* (2015). This requires a corresponding increase in gas mass ( $\times$  3.5) within the snowline, and obtains a similar <sup>12</sup>C<sup>18</sup>O column density profile as in Qi *et al.* (2015) beyond the snowline. Both of these models use the same underlying physical structure but have different CO snowline locations and levels of CO depletion beyond the snowline. The Qi *et al.* (2011) model has



Figure 3.2: a-e) The deprojected and azimuthally averaged radial profiles of the observed and modelled CO lines. f) The value of integrated flux of the observed and modelled C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 line. The shaded regions are the errors as described in the text. Model 1 has a total disk mass of 0.089  $M_{\odot}$  and Model 2 has a total disk mass of 0.31  $M_{\odot}$ .



Figure 3.3: Same as Figure 3.2 but for the Qi et al. (2015) model.



Figure 3.4: The disk physical structure from Qi *et al.* (2011). a) The  $n_{\rm H}$  density. b) The gas temperature. The white contours mark  $\Sigma(n_{\rm H}) = 1.256 \times 10^{21} \,{\rm cm}^{-2}$  and  $T_{\rm gas} = 19$ K, respectively. c) The  $n({\rm CO})/n_{\rm H}$  distribution. d) The radially averaged optical depth ( $\tau$ ) of the <sup>12</sup>C<sup>18</sup>O J=2-1 and <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 transitions from Model 1 (light purple and orange dashed lines) and Model 2 (dark purple and orange solid lines) assuming a face on disk. The vertical dashed line marks the location of the CO snowline in both models (155 au) and the horizontal dashed line marks where  $\tau = 1$ .

simpler assumptions regarding the freeze-out of CO, consistent with other work (e.g., Williams & Best, 2014), and was found to be a slightly better fit to the observations (see Figures 3.2 and 3.3).

Optical depth maps for a face on disk were generated in LIME to recover the maximum value of  $\tau$  for each transition. These maps were radially averaged and the resulting optical depth of the <sup>12</sup>C<sup>18</sup>O J=2-1 and <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 transitions for both models are shown in Figure 3.4d. It can be seen that <sup>12</sup>C<sup>18</sup>O is optically thick within the CO snowline (155 au) in both models, whereas the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O remains optically thin across the full radial extent of the disk.

## **3.2.4** Comparison to other mass estimates

Observations of  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  have been used to derive a new gas mass for the HD 163296 disk of 0.31 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub> at an assumed distance of 122 pc. The total disk mass depends on the gas to dust mass ratio (g/d), and using the dust mass from Isella *et al.* 2007 this results in a g/d  $\approx$  260. The total disk mas (dust + gas) is therefore 0.31 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub> to two significant figures. Here this new result is compared to previous works.

The HD 163296 disk has been well studied and there are many mass measurements in the literature. In general, the mass estimate in this work is the highest by a factor of 2 to 6 compared to previous studies using  ${}^{12}C{}^{18}O$  (e.g. 0.17 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub> and 0.048 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub> from Isella *et al.* 2007 and Williams & McPartland 2016 respectively). There are a range of g/d values in the literature that span four orders of magnitude. Tilling *et al.* (2012) and Boneberg *et al.* (2016) models require a low g/d = 20. Isella *et al.* (2016) have a radially varying g/d covering a range from  $\approx$  30 to  $\approx$  1100. Recent work from Powell *et al.* (2019) recover a total disk mass of 0.21 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub> with a high g/d  $\sim$  10<sup>4</sup> in the outer disk. The one documented mass higher than this work's result is 0.58 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub> with a g/d = 350 (Woitke *et al.*, 100).

2019). The inconsistencies in these mass measurements and g/d from different models may be explained by trying to recover the gas density structure with optically thick lines and different assumptions about the 2D gas and (micron and millimeter sized) dust distribution.

Despite these challenges, CO remains the best and most accessible tracer of mass available for disks (Molyarova *et al.*, 2017), and more robust lower limits to the gas mass can only be made by targeting the most optically thin isotopologues ( $^{12}C^{17}O$ ,  $^{13}C^{18}O$ , and  $^{13}C^{17}O$ ). These masses have all been determined using a source distance of 122 pc. Considering the revised distance of 101.5 pc, the total disk gas mass from this work is thus 0.21  $M_{\odot}$  (mass  $\propto$  flux / distance<sup>2</sup>). This results in a disk-to-star mass ratio of 0.1.

### 3.2.5 The impact of CO chemistry on the disk mass

CO is susceptible to isotope-selective photodissociation which can reduce the abundance of the rarer isotopologues relative to  ${}^{12}C^{16}O$  in the disk atmosphere. However; the observations are well fit with interstellar isotopic abundances. Because the  ${}^{12}C^{16}O$ ,  ${}^{13}C^{16}O$  and  ${}^{12}C^{18}O$  line emission is optically thick, testing the significance of isotope-selective photodissociation in this disk requires higher sensitivity observations of the rarer isotopologues that emit from higher in the disk atmosphere.

Observations have shown that CO is depleted with respect to H<sub>2</sub> in disks; however, without a better tracer of the H<sub>2</sub> column density, e.g., HD, the level of depletion is difficult to constrain (Bergin *et al.*, 2013; McClure *et al.*, 2016). Recent work from (Kama *et al.*, 2020) derived an upper limit on the total disk mass of 0.067  $M_{\odot}$  from a non-detection of HD. This indicates that there is no carbon depletion, i.e., the average CO/H2 abundance in the disk needs to be  $\approx 1.9 \times 10^{-4}$ which is comparable to the ISM value. It has not yet been shown that this model can reproduce the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O emission presented in this Chapter. Carbon depletion effects are less significant in warmer disks around Herbig Ae stars compared to their T Tauri counterparts. This is because in T Tauri disks the chemical conversion of CO to other species is more efficient where there is CO freezeout. Observations show moderate carbon depletion in the Herbig disk around HD 100546 with a model-derived [C]/[H] abundance ratio of 0.1 to 1.5  $\times$   $10^{-4}$ (Kama *et al.*, 2016b), and the value for CO adopted in this works model is within this range. Consistent with this, models have also suggested that these disks have a close to canonical  $n(CO)/n(H_2)$  abundance (Bosman *et al.*, 2018). A detection of the  ${}^{13}C^{18}O$  J=2-1 line in the disk has been used as evidence for a super-solar abundance of CO within the CO snowline (Zhang et al., 2020). This, modeldependant, result can reconcile a higher CO gas mass with the HD upper-limit with a total gas mass of 0.14  $M_{\odot}$ . This CO abundance step-function is where the CO abundance is depleted outside the snowline by at least and order of magnitude and then enhanced by a factor of a few inside the snowline. This can be explained by the inward radial drift and subsequent evaporation of CO ice-rich dust grains from the outer disk as it crosses the snowline Krijt *et al.* (2018). Further observations of the rare CO isotopologues in disks that have been targeted in HD are required to determine the level of CO depletion/enhancement in disks. Overall, there is still uncertainty as to how the CO gas masses of disks can used to infer a total disk mass and both observations of rare CO isotopologues and HD are required to make the most robust estimates.

#### 3.2.6 Constraints on the location of the CO snowline

Locating the midplane CO snowline in disks is difficult due to the high optical depth of the more abundant CO isotopologues and the vertical temperature gradient of the disk, however the location of the CO snowline can be determined directly by observing less abundant, optically thin, CO isotopologues

Figure 3.5 shows the radial emission profiles of the  $C^{18}O J=2-1$  and the  $^{13}C^{17}O J=3-2$  lines from high spatial resolution models (5 au beam). This analysis shows that the  $C^{18}O$  emission in both models tested is optically thick, and thus cannot be used to directly locate the midplane CO snowline. However, the  $^{13}C^{17}O$  emission is optically thin, so future observations at a higher spatial resolution and sensitivity could be used to directly constrain the radius of the midplane CO snowline. The drop off in emission is quite steep but it may still be hard to distinguish between a drop off in emission due to sensitivity. This will only work if the beam-size is much smaller than the expected snowline distance and if the observations are of high enough sensitivity. The effectiveness of this could be tested by attempting to retrieve the snowline location from parametric models run through LIME and the ALMA observing simulator.

The new, closer, source distance moves the absolute snowline locations to 75 au and 128 au (depending on the freezeout temperature, 25 K v 19 K respectively). The former location is close to one of the observed dust gaps in the disk and it may be the case that the drop in CO surface density detected here is due to gas depletion rather than the snowline. It is important to note that the snowline is not a simple sharp transition at the condensation temperature, but is instead determined by the balance of the rates of freezeout and thermal desorption, which should be considered in future disk models (e.g. van 't Hoff *et al.*, 2017).

## 3.2.7 Is the disk gravitationally stable?

The potential exoplanet population currently probed with ALMA, via the ringed depletion of continuum emission, are gas giant planets on wide orbits. In the case of HD 163296 this would imply a multiple giant planet system and indeed, the presence of such a system has already been proposed (Isella *et al.*, 2016; Liu



Figure 3.5: Radial emission profiles of the C<sup>18</sup>O J=2-1 and the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 line from models convolved with a 5 au beam (left: log y-axis, right: linear y-axis). The dashed grey line marks radial position of the model snowline.

et al., 2018; Pinte et al., 2018; Teague et al., 2018). The formation of massive planets on wide orbits can in some cases be achieved by core accretion, but a more economical route might involve the gravitational fragmentation of the outer regions of the disk (Boss, 2011). The new, higher, disk mass estimate prompts an investigation into whether such processes may have occurred (or be occurring) in the HD 163296 disk.

As discussed in Section 1.2, the stability of a disk against fragmentation can be quantified via the Toomre Q parameter (Toomre, 1964). Toomre Q values of 1.7 or less imply that the disk is susceptible to instabilities in the form of non-axisymmetric spirals and the disk may fragment (Durisen *et al.*, 2007). Q is calculated across the disk (Figure 3.6, orange) accounting for the lower mass due to the new source distance, assuming a g/d of 260, and the midplane temperature structure of the model (Figure 3.4b). The minimum value of Q is  $\approx 6$  at  $\approx 110$  au, suggesting that the disk is currently gravitationally stable (in agreement with recent work from Powell *et al.* 2019).

The relatively old age of the HD 163296 system brings into question its stability earlier in its lifetime. The determination of previous disk masses is complicated by processes including episodic accretion (e.g. Mendigutía *et al.*, 2013) and the decrease in accretion rate with time (e.g. Venuti *et al.*, 2014). The magnitude of these effects are still under debate (see Hartmann *et al.*, 2016, for a review), therefore it is assumed that all of the accreted mass once resided in the disk, and that the accretion rate  $(\dot{M})$  has been constant over disk lifetime. HD 163296 has an estimated age of  $6.03^{+0.43}_{-0.14}$  Myr and current  $\log \dot{M} = -6.81^{+0.16}_{-0.15} M_{\odot} \text{ yr}^{-1}$  (Wichittanakom *et al.*, 2020); thus under these assumptions, the disk mass at 0.1 Myr is estimated to be  $1.13^{+0.51}_{-0.28} M_{\odot}$ . The four proposed planets in the disk would add an additional mass of  $\approx 4 \text{ M}_{\text{J}}$  or  $\approx 0.004 \text{ M}_{\odot}$ .

The resulting minimum Toomre Q values for this star-disk configuration<sup>1</sup> would be in the range of 1.3–0.7 (Figure 3.6, purple), placing regions of the disk from  $\sim$ 50–220 au in the regime of instability. Such behaviour early in the disk lifetime has implications for the trapping and growth of dust (Rice *et al.*, 2004) and the chemical composition of the disk (Evans *et al.*, 2015). This previous unstable state could also be the source of the four massive planets currently proposed to reside in the disk around HD 163296 (Isella *et al.*, 2016; Liu *et al.*, 2018; Pinte *et al.*, 2018; Teague *et al.*, 2018).

## 3.3 HL Tau

#### 3.3.1 The HL Tau disk

HL Tau is located in the nearby (140 pc) Taurus-Auriga star forming region (Rebull *et al.*, 2004). SED modelling shows it to be a Class I–II protostar surrounded by both a circumstellar disk and envelope (Robitaille *et al.*, 2007). It also appears to be accreting at a high rate ( $\dot{M} \sim 10^{-7} \text{ M}_{\odot} \text{ yr}^{-1}$ ; Beck *et al.* 2010). This observational evidence makes HL Tau an example of a young embedded, disk-hosting

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  Note this does not account for any change in the stellar mass over this time period, which would decrease Q further.



Figure 3.6: Toomre Q parameter for the new disk mass derived from Model 2 and extrapolated back to 0.1 Myr. The shaded regions incorporate both the errors in stellar age and mass accretion rate. Vertical dashed lines mark the radial positions of gaps in the mm dust and kinematic perturbations which may be due to accreting protoplanets.

star (~ 1 Myr; Briceño *et al.*, 2002).

HL Tau has been a prime target for studies aiming to characterise young disks (Carrasco-González *et al.*, 2009; Greaves *et al.*, 2008). In particular, HL Tau was the first circumstellar disk observed using long baselines with ALMA. This revealed an ordered series of concentric rings and gaps in the disk across multiple millimeter wavelengths (2.9 mm, 1.3 mm, 0.9 mm; ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015). Many theories have been put forward to explain the origin of these structures (such as dust sintering and ice lines; Okuzumi *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2015), but one of the most persistent involves the growth of planets within the disk (Dipierro *et al.*, 2015b). While efforts to detect thermal emission from young planets in the gaps have been unsuccessful, the corresponding upper limits on their masses still lie at the higher end of the giant planet regime (10–15  $M_{Jup}$ ; Testi *et al.*, 2015).



Figure 3.7: The HL Tau <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 channel maps at 1 km s<sup>-1</sup>. Contours mark the 3, 5 and 7  $\sigma$  levels where  $\sigma$  is 6 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> channel<sup>-1</sup>. The dashed black lines show the Keplerian mask used in the cleaning procedure.

The combination of the potential for massive planets at large radii, coupled with evidence of a high disk mass (~0.1 – 0.13 M<sub>☉</sub>; Guilloteau *et al.*, 2011; Kwon *et al.*, 2011) has seen gravitational instability (GI; Boss 1997) being invoked to explain both the observed dust structures in HL Tau (Akiyama *et al.*, 2016; Takahashi & Inutsuka, 2016), along with the origin of any planetary companions (Nero & Bjorkman, 2009). However, recent measurements of the gas mass in the HL Tau disk using C<sup>18</sup>O appear to be too low for GI to be active ( $M_{\text{gas}} = 2$ –  $40 \times 10^{-3} M_{\odot}$ ; Wu *et al.*, 2018).

## 3.3.2 Line imaging

HL Tau was observed by ALMA in Band 7 during Cycle 5 for 1.46 hours with 49 antennae in configuration C43-8 under project code 2017.1.01178.S; P.I. E. Humphreys). The raw data was downloaded from the archive and was calibrated then self-calibrated. Two rounds of phase calibration and then one round of



Figure 3.8: (a) The 0.9 mm continuum image from ALMA Partnership *et al.* (2015). (b) The <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3-2 integrated intensity map. (c) The <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3-2 intensity-weighted velocity map. (d) The <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3-2 and 0.9 mm continuum (normalised to the line emission peak) de-projected and azimuthally averaged radial profiles. The shaded regions are the errors given by the standard deviation of intensity points in each bin (0".1) per beam per annulus

amplitude calibration resulting in an increase in the continuum signal-to-noise ratio. The continuum was then subtracted. The spectral window (SPW) covering the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3-2 transition (321.852 GHz) had a native spectral resolution of 0.908 km s<sup>-1</sup> (note this does not resolve the J = 3-2 hyperfine structure).

Data (self-)calibration and imaging were performed with CASA version 5.1.1 (McMullin *et al.*, 2007b). Line imaging was performed with the CLEAN algorithm, using a Keplerian mask with the measured position and inclination angles of the disk (e.g.  $PA = 138^{\circ}$  and  $i = 46^{\circ}$ ; ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015). The use of such a mask generates moment maps with less noise as only the emission with the position-velocity pattern coincident with disk emission is integrated (e.g. Salinas *et al.*, 2017). The native resolution of the data resulted in a natural beam size of 0''.14 × 0''.11 (-13^{\circ}). A 0''.2 *uv*-taper was used, which was found to maximise the signal-to-noise (S/N) of the line emission, resulting in a final beamsize of 0''.28 × 0''.24 (-36^{\circ}). The emission is detected across 9 1.0 km s <sup>-1</sup> wide channels with an rms of 4 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> per channel measured from the line-free channels and a peak line emission of 30 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> per channel (S/N of 7.5). These channel maps are shown in Figure 3.7 along with the Keplerian mask that was used.

Figure 3.8 shows the ALMA Science Verification Band 7 (~345 GHz, ~0.9 mm) continuum image alongside the new <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3-2 Keplerian-masked integrated intensity map and the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3-2 intensity-weighted velocity map made with a 2.5  $\sigma$  clip. Also shown are the deprojected and azimuthally averaged <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3-2 integrated intensity and 0.9 mm continuum profiles derived from our dataset, binned to the same radial resolution.

The  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  emission is detected out to approximately 140 au from the central star, with a velocity pattern that is consistent with observations of other gas tracers (e.g. ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015). There appears to be a deficit of emission (seen in both the integrated intensity map and radial emission profile)



Figure 3.9: Comparison of the total gas surface density derived from the  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  integrated intensity profile (circles) with our initial and final disk model (dashed and solid lines, respectively). Filled circles show the points used to fit the model, which the inset shows in more detail. Errors are propagated from the observations.

at approximately 50 au. This feature is not coincident with any substructure in the dust continuum or molecular gas observed at higher spatial resolution than our data (e.g., CO, HCO<sup>+</sup>; Yen *et al.*, 2016b). Multi-wavelength continuum observations have shown that the optical depth of the HL Tau disk at frequencies comparable to the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3-2 transition (~ 330 GHz) is high, with  $\tau \sim 8$ between 40 – 50 au (Carrasco-González *et al.*, 2019). This deficit of emission is therefore likely due to the high continuum opacity at Band 7 obscuring the line emission originating from the midplane, rather than a bona-fide gap in the disk. The central peaking of the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O profile may indicate that the line emission at radii < 10 au becomes optically thick at a higher height in the disk atmosphere than the dust at this frequency. Beyond approximately 70 au, the intensity profile follows the expected radially-decreasing power law trend.

## 3.3.3 Conversion of line flux to gas mass

The  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  observations can be used to indirectly measure the total gas mass of the disk. In Section 3.2 for the HD 163296 disk 2D radiative transfer models of multiple CO isotopologues and transitions from a well tested 2D physical structure were used to constrain the disk mass. Many molecular line observations toward HL Tau are significantly affected by absorption and complex velocity gradients from the surrounding cloud (see, e.g., ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015; Yen *et al.*, 2019); hence a similar wealth of observational data is not readily available. A simpler method of determing the gas mass is therefore employed here.

The HL Tau mm-dust surface density distribution has been shown to follow a power-law distribution:

$$\Sigma(r) = \Sigma_0 \left(\frac{r}{r_c}\right)^{-\gamma} \exp\left(-\frac{r}{r_c}\right)^{2-\gamma}$$
(3.2)

with

$$\Sigma_0 = (2 - \gamma) \frac{M_{\rm d}}{2\pi r_c^2} \exp\left(\frac{r_{\rm in}}{r_c}\right)^{2-\gamma}$$
(3.3)

where the total disk mass is 0.105  $M_{\odot}$  (assuming a gas-to-dust mass ratio of 100),  $r_c$  is 80 au,  $r_{in}$  is 9 au and  $\gamma$  is -0.20 (Kwon *et al.*, 2015). This model is shown in Figure 3.9 as the grey dashed line. Although the observed emissivity profiles of the millimeter and centimeter sized dust are more complex, the above profile has been shown to be consistent with these (Pinte *et al.*, 2016) and there is no evidence that these features are also present in the bulk gas distribution.

A range of midplane dust and gas temperature profiles exist for the HL Tau disk (e.g.; Carrasco-González *et al.*, 2019; Kwon *et al.*, 2015; Okuzumi *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2015). The model from Kwon *et al.* (2015) is consistent with a  $T_{\rm mid} = 55 \,\mathrm{K}(r/10 \,\mathrm{au})^{-0.65}$  for r > 10 au. While this is colder than other temperature structures (e.g. Zhang *et al.*, 2015), warmer models have no CO snowline (~ 20 K) throughout the radial extent of the disk. This is in tension with recent observations of a chemical tracer of the CO snowline,  $N_2H^+$ , which has been detected in the HL Tau disk (C. Qi, priv. comm.). Using the above temperature structure places the midplane CO snowline at approximately 50 au.

The observed integrated line intensity of  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  is converted to a column density of  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  gas under the assumption of both local thermodynamic equilibrium (LTE) and optically thin line emission. For each point in the radial profile  $N({}^{13}C^{17}O)$  is calculated via Equation 3.1.

Since the innermost regions of the  ${}^{13}C{}^{17}O$  emission are affected by continuum absorption, the aim is to match the level of emission between ~ 90 – 110 au. As this radial location is beyond the model midplane CO snowline, any emission will be tracing CO gas from the molecular layer down to the CO snow surface (see Miotello *et al.*, 2014). An excitation temperature of  $T_{ex} = 25$  K is adopted for this region (see Akiyama *et al.*, 2011), but note that a range of values for this parameter (20 – 80 K) result in values of column density that are well within the observed error in the integrated intensity profile.

To convert from  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  to  ${}^{12}C^{16}O$  isotope ratios consistent with the ISM are assumed,

$$n({}^{12}C^{16}O)/n({}^{13}C^{16}O) = 69,$$
  
 $n({}^{12}C^{16}O)/n({}^{12}C^{18}O) = 557,$   
 $n({}^{12}C^{18}O)/n({}^{12}C^{17}O) = 3.6$ 

(Wilson, 1999). An H<sub>2</sub> column density is calculated assuming a moderatelydepleted disk averaged  $n({}^{12}C^{16}O)/n(H_2)$  ratio of  $5 \times 10^{-5}$ . A total gas density is then calculated assuming that 80% of the gas mass lies in H<sub>2</sub> (e.g Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2013). Based on the above, an increase in the total disk gas mass to  $M_{\rm gas} = 0.20^{+0.6}_{-0.6} \,\mathrm{M_{\odot}}$  is required to match the observations between 90 – 110 au (where errors are propagated from the observed radial intensity profile). The lower limit is higher than the current highest mass estimate. The resulting curve is shown in Figure 3.9 alongside the gas surface density values derived from the radial intensity profile of  $^{13}\mathrm{C}^{17}\mathrm{O}$ .

## 3.3.4 Assumptions affecting the gas mass

The conversion of line flux to gas mass depends on several assumptions. The derived gas mass is sensitive to the chosen conversion factor between CO and H<sub>2</sub> (see Bergin & Williams, 2017, for a review). While this factor is often taken to be  $\sim 10^{-4}$ , studies of individual protoplanetary disks have revealed carbon depletion from factors of five to orders of magnitude (e.g. Kama *et al.*, 2016a; McClure *et al.*, 2016), and surveys have demonstrated this phenomenon is widespread (e.g. Miotello *et al.*, 2017). The chosen value in this work of  $n(^{12}C^{16}O)/n(H_2) = 5 \times 10^{-5}$  therefore accounts for a modest depletion factor of two, in agreement with disk chemical models at ages of  $\sim 1$  Myr (Bosman *et al.*, 2018; Schwarz *et al.*, 2018). The derived disk gas mass scales linearly with the inverse of the depletion factor, so under the assumption of no carbon depletion (e.g.  $10^{-4}$ ), our derived disk mass would be 0.5 times the above quoted value.

In this analysis it is also assumed that the observations trace the full column of CO on both the 'near' and 'far' sides of the disk. This will not be the case if *i*) there is a significant fraction of CO frozen out in the disk midplane, or *ii*) if the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J = 3–2 emission is optically thick. In addition (as discussed in Section 3.3.2), Carrasco-González *et al.* (2019) have determined that the continuum optical depth in the disk is high, with  $\tau \sim 8$  at 330 GHz. Therefore, the observations are not sensitive to CO emitting on the far side of the disk. In this scenario, the true surface density of CO in the disk would be (at least) a factor of two higher in the regions affected by the dust opacity.

Observations of CO rovibrational lines toward the HL Tau envelope have revealed a higher  $n({}^{12}C^{16}O)/n({}^{12}C^{18}O)$  ratio of 760  $\pm$  80 compared to the canonical value. This is consistent with isotope-selective photo-dissociation and selfshielding (Smith *et al.*, 2015; Visser *et al.*, 2009). But, as these higher energy infrared transitions do not trace the same reservoir of CO probed in our sub-mm observations, the ISM values were used here. If the higher ratio applies, then a higher column of CO would be required to match the observations, increasing the derived gas mass (though by factors lower than the above examples).

The precise magnitude of these effects cannot be determined without dedicated modelling of the HL Tau disk. Nevertheless, this still implys that the derived gas mass here is a conservative lower limit. Future high spatial and spectral resolution observations of multiple CO isotopologues, also at lower frequencies, toward HL Tau will enable more stringent constraints on the gas mass in the disk, especially in the inner region that is affected by the dust opacity.

## 3.3.5 Comparison to other mass measurements

Tapia *et al.* (2019) use combined dust and gas evolutionary disk models to reproduce ALMA and VLA continuum profiles of the HL Tau disk from to 0.87 - 7.8 mm. Their best fitting model possesses a dust mass of  $4.8 \times 10^{-3} \,\mathrm{M_{\odot}}$ with a gas-to-dust mass ratio of 50, resulting in a disk gas mass of  $0.23 \,\mathrm{M_{\odot}}$ . The result from the  $^{13}\mathrm{C^{17}O}$  therefore brings mass measurements from dust continuum and molecular line emission into agreement for the first time in this disk.

Wu *et al.* (2018) use C<sup>18</sup>O J = 2-1 SMA observations of HL Tau to derive a total disk gas mass of  $2 - 40 \times 10^{-4}$  M<sub> $\odot$ </sub>, which is between a factor of 50 - 1000 smaller than the gas mass implied here. However, the above work adopts a

CO/H<sub>2</sub> ratio of  $2.7 \times 10^{-4}$ , which assumes no C depletion, and that all potential volatile carbon in the disk is the form of CO (given an ISM C/H ratio of  $1.4 \times 10^{-4}$ ; Cardelli *et al.* 1996). If the same ratio as Wu *et al.* (2018) is adopted, the resulting gas mass from the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O would be ~0.04 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub>, which is still a factor of 10 – 200 higher than the gas mass derived from C<sup>18</sup>O.

Using Equation 3.1 the values for  $n({}^{13}C{}^{17}O)$  and  $n({}^{12}C{}^{18}O)$  can be compared. A column density ratio of ~ 250 would imply that both lines are optically thin. However, using the data from the radial profile presented in Wu *et al.* (2018) for a radius of 100 au, the ratio is only ~ 4. This demonstrates that the C<sup>18</sup>O J = 2 - 1 emission is optically thick in the HL Tau disk, and is therefore not tracing the bulk gas mass in the molecular layer (also found for HD 163296 in Section 3.2).

## 3.3.6 The (in)stability of the disk

As in Section 3.2.7, the gravitational stability of the higher mass disk can be assessed using the Toomre Q parameter (Toomre, 1964), assuming a central star mass of 1.7 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub>, (Pinte *et al.* 2016). The resulting radial profile of Q is shown in Figure 3.10a. The <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O observations therefore support a picture in which the disk around HL Tau is gravitationally unstable (Q < 1.7) from approximately 50 - 110 au (with minimum  $Q = 1.1^{+0.5}_{-0.2}$  at r = 77 au). Taking into account observational uncertainties, it is also possible that Q < 1 between 60 - 100 au.

If the disk around HL Tau is threaded by a magnetic field, then this may offer an additional mechanism to support the disk against self-gravity. In these cases, Q is modified by a factor  $\sqrt{1+1/\beta_p}$ . The plasma parameter is given by:

$$\beta_{\rm p} = \frac{2P\mu_0}{B^2}$$

where P is the gas pressure,  $\mu_0$  is he permeability of free space and B is the

magnetic field strength. The threshold for instability lies within the range  $Q \leq 1.2 - 1.4$  (Kim & Ostriker, 2001). In general, values of  $\beta_p$  range from ~ 10 under ideal MHD conditions (Forgan *et al.*, 2017) and up to 10<sup>4</sup> for non-ideal MHD (Hasegawa *et al.*, 2017). Such values do not alter the minimum Toomre Q value by more than ~ 5 per cent, suggesting that even if the HL Tau disk possesses a strong magnetic field ( $\beta_p \sim 10$ ), it would not be sufficient to move the disk into a stable regime.

### 3.3.7 The region of instability in context

Figure 3.10b shows the region of instability in the HL Tau disk with respect to the Band 7 (0.9 mm) continuum observations of ALMA Partnership *et al.* (2015). The unstable region spans several of the bright rings and dark gaps identified in the dust disk (B3 - B7 and D4 - D7). Modelling of unstable disks with a decoupled dust component shows grains concentrating in spiral arms (e.g. Dipierro *et al.*, 2015a; Rice *et al.*, 2004). Therefore it is not immediately clear how to reconcile such an apparently unstable disk with the ordered concentric rings observed in the dust.

Several studies have shown that the 'double gap' feature from ~ 65 – 74 au (D5 - B5 - D6) can be reproduced by the presence of a planet with mass between ~ 0.2 – 0.6 M<sub>Jup</sub> (Dipierro *et al.*, 2015b; Dong *et al.*, 2018; Jin *et al.*, 2016), which is supported by mm–cm observations across this radial region (Carrasco-González *et al.*, 2019). The higher gas surface density revealed by the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O observations implies that mm-sized grains would be better coupled to gas than in the above works. Therefore, larger planet masses would be required to match the observed dust structures. When considering the lower bound of the observational errors,  $Q \leq 1$  from ~ 60 – 100 au. Here the local cooling time is expected to be short (e.g. Clarke & Lodato, 2009; Rafikov, 2005), meaning that this region of the disk



Figure 3.10: (a) Radial Toomre Q parameter for our derived disk mass. Shaded regions denote the errors propagated from the radial intensity profile. Dashed grey and black lines mark the Q = 1.7 and Q = 1.0 levels, respectively. The radial locations of the 'D' gaps reported in ALMA Partnership *et al.* (2015) are shown with vertical black ticks. (b) Same as Figure 3.8(a), where the blue shaded area highlights the unstable region of the disk, with Q < 1.7 from (a).

would undergo gravitational fragmentation. This scenario is in agreement with dedicated modelling of star-disk systems with similar properties as HL Tau, which form fragments with masses between  $1 - 5 M_{Jup}$  (Boss, 2011). Therefore, if such a planet is confirmed to be the origin of this observed gap structure, then it is posssible that it has formed via gravitational fragmentation.

Recently, Yen *et al.* (2019) detected a spiral feature in observations of HCO<sup>+</sup> J = 3–2 toward HL Tau. While they attribute the spiral to in-falling material from the surrounding envelope, this feature crosses our region of instability in the disk. Chemical models of gravitationally unstable disks have predicted HCO<sup>+</sup> to be a tracer of spiral structure (Douglas *et al.*, 2013; Ilee *et al.*, 2011). In light of this, it is possible that the spiral structure on small ( $\leq 100$  au) scales could be due to gravitational instability within the disk.

# 3.4 Conclusions

This chapter presents the first detections of  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  in protoplanetary disks showcasing the power of this isotopologue as a tracer of disk gas mass. This work provides robust evidence that disks are more massive than previously assumed (see also Zhu *et al.*, 2019). The  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  J=3-2 detections show that the C<sup>18</sup>O J=2-1 lines are not optically thin throughout the radial extent of these disks. The updated CO gas mass for the HD 163296 disk is factor of 3.5 higher and a factor of 10 higher in the HL Tau disk. This work shows, model independently, that C<sup>18</sup>O is not a reliable tracer of disk gas mass. Future observations of this tracer in more sources may help to address the discrepancy between the masses of disks and the observed exoplanet population (Manara *et al.*, 2018). These new disk masses also offer GI and planet formation via disk fragmentation as a possible mechanism for the origin of the structures and proposed gas-giant planets observed in both Class I and II disks.

# Chapter 4 H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> and HC<sup>15</sup>N in the HD 97048 Disk

# 4.1 Introduction

In Chapter 3 it was demonstrated that  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  emission is a robust tracer of total CO gas mass. However, molecular lines aside from CO can be valuable probes of the disk physical conditions. A legacy of observations of protoplanetary disks with single dish telescopes have shown that HCO<sup>+</sup> and HCN are two of the brightest molecules in these objects (e.g., Chapillon *et al.*, 2012; Dutrey *et al.*, 1997; Kastner *et al.*, 1997; Piétu *et al.*, 2007; Thi *et al.*, 2004; van Zadelhoff *et al.*, 2001). HCO<sup>+</sup> and HCN emission is commonly interpreted to reflect the disk ionization level and impinging UV field respectively. Emission from HCO<sup>+</sup> and HCN and selected isotopologues have now been spatially resolved in a number of disks with ALMA (see Section 1.5.4 and e.g. Guzmán *et al.*, 2017; Huang *et al.*, 2017) and exhibit centrally peaked or ringed radial emission profiles. These observed morphologies highlight that there are likely different physical and chemical processes that shape the abundance distributions of different molecules in disks.

This chapter presents the first detections of  $H^{13}CO^+$  and  $HC^{15}N$  in the HD 97048 disk. As discussed in Section 1.5.4, molecular sub-structure can arise without

any underlying ringed gas and/or dust structure due to the interplay between chemistry and, e.g., radiation. This chapter therefore investigates whether or not chemistry alone can explain the radial emission profiles of molecular lines detected in the HD 97048 disk, or if modifications to the underlying disk gas density or temperature structure are required.

# 4.2 The HD 97048 disk

HD 97048 is a 2.4  $M_{\odot}$  Herbig Ae/Be star with spectral type B9/A0 (van den Ancker et al., 1998; van Leeuwen, 2007; Wichittanakom et al., 2020) located in the Chameleon I star-forming region. The HD 97048 disk has been well studied over optical to infra-red wavelengths with observations revealing much substructure in the warm gas and small dust grains. High-resolution observations with VLT/SPHERE show four rings in the disk with observations probing disk radii from 45 to 400 au (Ginski et al., 2016). The first spatially resolved observations of the mm-sized dust and molecular gas were presented by Walsh et al. (2016a) using ALMA and these data revealed the full spatial extent of the molecular disk. The mm-sized dust is observed to extend to 400 au in radius; while, in comparison, the flared molecular disk, revealed in CO J = 3 - 2 emission, is significantly larger and extends to 860 au. There is a decrease in the continuum flux within 55 au and there are three continuum emission rings peaking at 55. 160 and 290 au. There is also an inner cavity in the CO emission but only out to 11 au (van der Plas et al., 2009, 2015). The origin of the CO cavity is proposed to be due to photodissociation of the CO gas by stellar radiation. The detected HCO<sup>+</sup> emission is more compact than that for CO, extending out to 540 au only (van der Plas et al., 2017). Recently, Pinte et al. (2019) reported the indirect detection of a few Jupiter mass planet at 130 au via kinematic analyses of the  $^{13}$ CO line emission (see Figure 1.9). Hence, the HD 97048 disk is another prime source in which to study the impact of potential gas-giant planets on the disk structure and chemistry. This source differs to HD 163296 as the HD 97048 disk is an extremely flared disk (Lagage *et al.*, 2006; Walsh *et al.*, 2016a) whereas HD 163296 disk is relatively flat in comparison (Muro-Arena *et al.*, 2018).

Although this is the brightest disk observed at sub-mm wavelengths, it remains poorly studied in terms of its molecular content. Particularly lacking are spatially resolved observations of key molecular tracers aside from those reported above. Nevertheless, thanks in part to observations with *Herschel*, it is known to host a chemically-rich gaseous disk. Spatially unresolved emission lines that have been observed include those from  $H_2$ , [OI], [CII], OH and CH<sup>+</sup> (Carmona *et al.*, 2011; Fedele *et al.*, 2013; Meeus *et al.*, 2012, 2013a).

## 4.2.1 Line imaging

The HD 97048 disk was observed at ALMA Band 7 during Cycle 0 (2011.0.00863.S, PI: C. Walsh). This work begins with self-calibrated, phase-corrected, and continuum-subtracted measurement sets from Walsh *et al.* (2016a). This Chapter also makes use of the archival data from ALMA Band 7 Cycle 2 observations (2013.1.00658.S; P.I. G. van der Plas). The HCO<sup>+</sup> J = 4-3 was first presented in van der Plas *et al.* (2017). These data were self-calibrated using CASA. The data set consists of four spectral windows, two of which were tuned for continuum observations and two of which were centred on the CO J = 3-2 and HCO<sup>+</sup> J = 4-3 spectral lines. The two broadband continuum windows were self-calibrated after flagging the line containing channels. Two rounds of phase calibration were applied then one amplitude calibration. The resulting measurement sets were then used to self-calibrate the respective higher spectral resolution CO J = 3 - 2 and HCO<sup>+</sup> J = 4 - 3 line containing spectral windows. The continuum emission was then subtracted from the two line containing spectral windows using the CASA
task, uvcontsub.

The data and lines targeted are listed in Table 4.1 were imaged in CASA using CLEAN with natural weighting and using a Keplerian mask. The Keplerian mask was set to encompass emission from 1 au to 800 au. Table 4.1 lists the rms noise  $(\sigma)$  of each line imaged at its respective Hanning-smoothed spectral resolution, as well as the image parameters, and the intrinsic properties of the transitions. A comparison of the peak flux densities and integrated intensities for the CO J = 3 - 2 line that was observed in both data-sets used here shows that they agree to within 10%.

The CO J = 3-2 line emission suffers from missing emission about the source velocity, from 3.4 to 5.7 km s<sup>-1</sup> inclusive. This is the result of either spatial filtering due to bright background emission or foreground absorption. Spatial filtering is a possibility because the source is in proximity to the Chameleon I molecular cloud. This effect is seen in both the channel maps and line profiles presented by Walsh *et al.* (2016a) and van der Plas *et al.* (2017). This work focuses on the detection of H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> and HC<sup>15</sup>N and there is no indication that they are also affected by this phenomenon. A possible explanation is that this is due to the higher-lying energy levels of these transitions (see Table 4.1), or due to the lower abundances of HCO<sup>+</sup>, H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>, and HC<sup>15</sup>N, in either background or foreground material, when compared with CO.

	~ .					
Observations	Cycle 0 $(2011.0.00863.S)$			Cycle 2 $(2013.1.00658.S)$		
Date observed	14 December 2012			22 May 2015		
Baselines (m)	15.1 - 402			21.4 - 555.5		
On source integration time (min,sec)	23,59			$7,\!10$		
Number of antenna	22			36		
CLEAN image weighting	natural					
Molecule	CO	$\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+$	$\rm HC^{15}N$	СО	$\mathrm{HCO}^+$	
Transition	J = 3 - 2	J = 4 - 3	J = 4 - 3	J = 3 - 2	J = 4 - 3	
Frequency (GHz)	345.796	346.998	344.200	345.796	356.734	
Einstein A coefficient $(s^{-1})$	2.497e-06	3.288e-03	1.879e-03	2.497e-06	3.627 e-03	
$E_{\rm up}({ m K})$	33.19	41.63	41.30	33.19	42.80	
Synthesised beam	$0''.74 \times 0''.51$	$0''.74 \times 0''.51$	$0''.74 \times 0''.52$	$0''.71 \times 0''.44$	$0''.67 \times 0''.42$	
Beam P.A.	-26°	-26°	-27°	-161°	-161°	
Spectral resolution (km $s^{-1}$ )	0.21	0.21	0.21	0.10	0.10	
$\sigma$ (Jy beam <sup>-1</sup> per channel <sup>a</sup> )	0.016	0.016	0.016	0.016	0.019	

Table 4.1: ALMA Band 7 observations and detected molecular lines in the HD 97048 protoplanetary disk.

The values for the line frequencies, Einstein A coefficients, and upper energy levels  $(E_{up})$  are from the Leiden Atomic and Molecular Database: http://home.strw.leidenuniv.nl/~moldata/ (LAMDA; Schöier *et al.*, 2005).

 $^{a}$  At the stated spectral resolution.

### 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Channel maps, moment maps, and line profiles

Figure 4.1 shows the HCO<sup>+</sup> and H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> channel maps at the native spectral resolution of the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> data, 0.21 km s<sup>-1</sup>. The HCO<sup>+</sup> data is slightly oversampled in order to allow a direct comparison between the two molecules. Both channel maps have a 1 $\sigma$  rms noise level of 0.019 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> channel<sup>-1</sup> and reach a S/N of 23 and 6, respectively. To obtain a robust detection of HC<sup>15</sup>N in the channel maps the data were re-binned to a velocity resolution of 0.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>, and these channel maps are shown in Figure 4.2. The H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> channel maps at the same velocity resolution are also shown in Figure 4.2 for ease of comparison.

For HCO<sup>+</sup>, the highest velocities at which emission is robustly detected (>  $3\sigma$  within a 0".5 aperture) are in channels at -0.17 km s<sup>-1</sup> and 9.55 km s<sup>-1</sup>, for the blue- and red-shifted emission, respectively. Assuming a disk inclination of 41° and a stellar mass of 2.5 M<sub>☉</sub>, HCO<sup>+</sup> emission is detected down to an average radial distance of  $41\pm2$  au. This is different to the value of 28 au stated by van der Plas *et al.* (2017); however, note that different imaging parameters are used. Here, natural weighting is adopted in the imaging to enhance the S/N for the detected lines. On the other hand, van der Plas *et al.* (2017) used Briggs weighting in their imaging resulting in a smaller synthesised beam. In comparison, the highest velocity CO emission detected down to an average radial distance of  $14\pm1$  au. This is in agreement with van der Plas *et al.* (2017). The errors in these radii are propagated from the velocity resolution of the channel maps (see Table 4.1).

The integrated intensity maps and the intensity-weighted velocity maps for  $HCO^+$ ,  $H^{13}CO^+$  and  $HC^{15}N$  are presented in Figure 4.3. The moment 0 maps were made using a Keplerian mask and the moment 1 maps were made using

a  $3\sigma$  clip. The HCO<sup>+</sup> intensity-weighted velocity map has a clear Keplerian velocity pattern on large spatial scales and both the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> and HC<sup>15</sup>N intensity-weighted velocity maps are consistent with this.

Figure 4.4 shows the  $H^{13}CO^+$  and  $HC^{15}N$  line profiles mirrored about the source velocity. The  $H^{13}CO^+$  line profile was extracted from within the region defined by the  $3\sigma$  contour of the  $HCO^+$  integrated intensity (see Figure 4.3). The extraction region for the  $HC^{15}N$  line profile was chosen by eye due to the low S/N. An ellipse that encompassed the extent of the emission in the integrated intensity map and centred on source was used. The line profiles cover a velocity range of  $\pm 15 \text{ km s}^{-1}$  about the source velocity and are shown at a velocity resolution of 0.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>. They reach a S/N of 5 and 3 with a  $1\sigma$  noise level of 0.048 Jy and 0.035 Jy, respectively. The residuals of the mirrored line profiles were calculated to show that the emission is not significantly asymmetric and to further confirm the Keplerian nature of the emission.

### 4.3.2 Deprojection and azimuthal averaging

To better quantify the radial structure of the emission from each molecular transition, the Keplerian-masked integrated intensity maps were deprojected and azimuthally averaged (as described in Section 3.2.2). The radial intensity profiles and the associated errors for CO,  $\text{HCO}^+$ ,  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$ , and  $\text{HC}^{15}\text{N}$  are shown in Figure 4.6. Also plotted is the mm-dust radial profile from Walsh *et al.* (2016a) where the image was generated using super-uniform weighting in CLEAN. The continuum profile shown by the grey dashed line in Figure 4.5 is that derived from modelling the emission in the *uv* domain. The profile has rings which peak at 55 and 160 au with a gap at 110 au and an additional shoulder of emission at 290 au. Although these data were lower spatial resolution than that presented in van der Plas *et al.* (2017), modelling the continuum emission in the *uv* domain successfully predicted the presence and location of the outer ring(s) that were subsequently imaged in that work (see also Zhang *et al.*, 2016).

The radial profiles of the CO and  $\text{HCO}^+$  emission show no deviation from a monotonically decreasing radial distribution. As discussed previously, the CO J = 3 - 2 emission suffers from missing emission about the source velocity, from 3.4 to 5.7 km s<sup>-1</sup>; therefore, the radial profile likely underestimates the CO flux from the disk. The profile is centrally peaked because the observations do not have the spatial resolution to resolve the inner CO cavity detected in CO ro-vibrational lines (van der Plas *et al.*, 2009). The HCO<sup>+</sup> J = 4 - 3 is also expected to be optically thick and the radial profile is also centrally peaked. In comparison, the more optically thin tracers,  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$  and  $\text{HC}^{15}\text{N}$ , show a different radial behaviour. Whilst the  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+ J = 4 - 3$  radial profile is also centrally peaked but the intensity does not fall off as steeply as the profile for  $\text{HCO}^+$ . Additionally, the intensity profile appears to have a step-like morphology compared to the smooth  $\text{HCO}^+$  profile. These changes in slope coincide approximately with the locations of the second and third continuum emission rings.

Comparatively, the HC<sup>15</sup>N profile appears to have a ring-like morphology with the peak in emission occurring at  $\approx 100$  au. This is consistent with the moment 0 map shown in Figure 2, but due to the low S/N of the data a centrally peaked smooth radial intensity profile cannot be ruled out. Also plotted in Figure 4.5 with a black dashed line is the mm-dust radial profile from Walsh *et al.* (2016a) convolved with a 50 au beam. The HC<sup>15</sup>N follows the mm-sized dust distribution at the spatial resolution of the currently available observations. Further analysis of the HC<sup>15</sup>N emission is not conducted here due to the unavailability of observations of line emission from the main isotopologue, HCN.

The  $\text{HCO}^+$  to  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$  integrated intensity ratio across the disk is shown in Figure 4.6. To directly compare the  $\text{HCO}^+$  and  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$  emission from the disk, the channel maps have been smoothed to the same beam size using the CASA task, *imsmooth*. The new beam is  $0^{\prime\prime}7 \times 0^{\prime\prime}6$  with a position angle of -26°. The same analysis using a *uvtaper* when CLEANing the lines (see Chapter 2) to enforce a common beam was also tested and found that the results were consistent with using *imsmooth*. New moment maps were generated and radial profiles from the resulting integrated intensity maps used to calculate the HCO<sup>+</sup> to H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> integrated intensity ratio across the disk. The smoothed radial profiles are also shown in Figure 4.6. The plotted ratio is truncated at the point where the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> profile falls below the noise level. The computed errors have been propagated from the standard error for each profile generated during azimuthal averaging. The expected ratio is  $\approx 69$  for the case where both lines are optically thin, reflecting the underlying elemental ratio for  $^{12}C/^{13}C$  in the ISM (e.g., Wilson, 1999). The observed ratio decreases slightly with radius but is constant across the disk within the error bars, and has an average value of  $12 \pm 3$ . This is much lower than the canonical value and confirms that at least the HCO<sup>+</sup> emission is optically thick.

## 4.4 Chemical modelling

In this section the origin of the radial distribution of the detected  $H^{13}CO^+$  emission and the  $HCO^+/H^{13}CO^+$  integrated intensity ratio is investigated. The line emission is modelled for both molecules to explore two hypotheses i) whether or not chemistry alone can explain the radial emission profiles, or, ii) if modifications to the underlying disk structure need to be invoked (e.g., gas cavities). The  $HC^{15}N$  emission is not modelled since complementary observations of the main isotopologue HCN do not exist. However, this detection and related chemistry is discussed in Section 4.5.3.

The underlying physical disk structure is the publicly available HD 97048

disk structure from the DIscANAlysis project (DIANA)<sup>1</sup>. The aim of this large collaboration is to generate disk models that can reproduce multi-wavelength (from UV to sub-mm) observations of sources for which data are available (see Woitke *et al.* 2016, Kamp *et al.* 2017, and Woitke *et al.* 2019, for further details on the models). The underlying model assumes a parametric disk model, and for which the gas temperature is self-consistently calculated considering the balance between cooling and heating mechanisms for the gas. The resulting model fits the SED of the source and aims to reproduce the integrated flux from far-IR gas emission lines. The underlying disk structure is assumed to be smooth; however, to better fit SEDs at near to mid-IR wavelengths, models are adapted to include a dust (and gas) cavity if required. Generally, models have not been generated to account for dust gaps and rings as seen in spatially-resolved mm dust continuum images.

This work uses the gas density, gas temperature, and ionisation structure from the DIANA model of HD 97048. This model has a total disk (gas plus dust) mass of  $\approx 0.1 M_{\odot}$ . Assuming a global gas-to-dust mass ratio of  $\sim 100$ , this disk mass is consistent with the upper limit for the dust mass derived from the (sub)mm continuum emission observed with ALMA and corrected for the revised distance  $(184^{+2}_{-2} \text{ pc})$  to the source ( $\leq 0.09 \text{ M}_{\text{J}}$ ; Walsh *et al.*, 2016a). The ionisation rate throughout the disk is the sum of both the cosmic-ray and X-ray ionisation rates. Maps of the disk physical structure as a function of disk radius and height are shown in Figure 4.7. The best-fit DIANA model has a cavity out to 65 au in both the gas and the dust and a small inner ring of gas and dust out to 6 au. We note here that the size of this cavity is greater than that observed with ALMA in the mm-dust continuum ( $\approx 50$  au).

Due to chemistry, the abundance distribution of HCO<sup>+</sup> will not have a con-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The full DIANA models are publicly available: http://www-star.st-and.ac.uk/~pw31/ DIANA/DIANAstandard/

stant value relative to the underlying gas density as is commonly assumed in parametric models. Following Aikawa *et al.* (2015), the HCO<sup>+</sup> abundance is derived analytically,  $n(\text{HCO}^+)$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, throughout the disk under a few acceptable and tested assumptions. Because the chemical timescale in a disk is significantly shorter than the disk lifetime steady state is a reasonable assumption, i.e.,

$$\frac{dn(\mathrm{HCO}^+)}{dt} = R_f - R_d = 0,$$

where  $R_f$  and  $R_d$  are the rates of HCO<sup>+</sup> formation and destruction, respectively. The main formation reaction for HCO<sup>+</sup> is via CO,

$$H_3^+ + CO \longrightarrow HCO^+ + H_2,$$

and the primary destruction reaction is dissosiative recombination with an electron,

$$HCO^+ + e^- \longrightarrow H + CO.$$

The destruction of  $\text{HCO}^+$  via grain-surface recombination is ignored as this is only dominant in the inner < 10 au of the disk in the dense midplane where dust grains become the main charge carrier and this region of the disk is not modelled. It is also assumed that  $\text{HCO}^+$  is the dominant cation in the molecular region of the disk as has been confirmed by full chemical models (e.g.; Walsh *et al.* 2012, Aikawa *et al.* 2015). The resultant abundance of  $\text{HCO}^+$  is given by;

$$n(\text{HCO}^+) = \frac{k_3 \ n(\text{CO}) \ n(\text{H}_3^+)}{k_4 \ n(\text{e}^-)}.$$

The reaction rate coefficients,  $k_i$ , are given in Table 4.2, where *i* is the number of the reaction as compiled by Aikawa *et al.* (2015).

The CO abundance distribution is parameterized as described by Williams &

Table 4.2: Reaction rate coefficients from UDFA RATE12<sup>1</sup> used in the analytical formula from Aikawa *et al.* (2015).

$\overline{i}$	Reactions	α	β
1	$H_2 + crp \longrightarrow H_2^+ + e^-$	-	-
2	$\mathrm{H_2}^+ + \mathrm{H_2} \longrightarrow \mathrm{H_3}^+ + \mathrm{H}$	2.08(-9)	0.0
3	$\mathrm{H_3}^+ + \mathrm{CO} \longrightarrow \mathrm{HCO}^+ + \mathrm{H_2}$	1.61(-9)	0.0
4	$\mathrm{HCO}^{+} + \mathrm{e} \longrightarrow \mathrm{H} + \mathrm{CO}$	2.40(-7)	-0.69
5	$H_3^+ + e \longrightarrow H_2 + H \text{ or } H + H + H$	7.20(-8)	-0.5

Rate coefficients are given in the form of  $k = \alpha \times (T/300.0)^{\beta} \text{ cm}^3 \text{s}^{-1}$  and A(B) stands for  $A \times 10^{B}$  <sup>1</sup> http://udfa.ajmarkwick.net/index.php, (McElroy *et al.*, 2013)

Best (2014). CO is present in the disk with a relative abundance of  $n(\text{CO})/n_{\text{H}} = 1.4 \times 10^{-4}$  if the temperature is greater than 20 K (the approximate freezeout temperature of CO) and if the vertical column density of H<sub>2</sub> (integrated vertically downwards from the disk surface) is greater than  $1.3 \times 10^{21} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ . Hence, there is no CO depletion factor applied here, because, as confirmed by Kama *et al.* (2016a) HD 97048 exhibits no evidence of carbon depletion. Here,  $n_{\text{H}}$  is the total number density of hydrogen nuclei. This simple prescription takes into account the two primary destruction pathways for CO: freezeout onto dust grain surfaces in the midplane, and photodissociation in the atmosphere. The column density upper limit comes from modelling work by Visser *et al.* (2009) and observations of HD 163296 by Qi *et al.* (2011). The H<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup> and electron abundances are given by

$$n({\rm H_3}^+) = \frac{1}{2} n_{\rm H} \frac{\zeta}{k_5 n({\rm e}^-) + k_3 n({\rm CO})},$$

and

$$n(\mathrm{e}^{-}) = \sqrt{\frac{\zeta \ n_{\mathrm{H}}}{2 \ k_4}},$$

(Aikawa *et al.*, 2015). Here  $\zeta$  is the sum of the cosmic ray and X-ray ionisation rates from the DIANA model. These equations are determined by solving the rate equations for each species under the steady state assumption. The  $H^{13}CO^+$  abundance is determined by simply assuming that

$$H^{12}CO^+/H^{13}CO^+ = {}^{12}C/{}^{13}C = 69$$

(e.g., Wilson, 1999). Although isotope fractionation processes (e.g., fractionation reactions and isotope-selective photodissociation) will cause the <sup>12</sup>CO/<sup>13</sup>CO and H<sup>12</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> abundance ratios to vary throughout the disk (Woods & Willacy, 2009), developing and running a full chemical model that includes fractionation is beyond the scope of this work and best addressed in a future dedicated study. In a previous study, Woods & Willacy (2009) show that the  $n(H^{12}CO^+)/n(H^{13}CO^+)$  ratio has a value of  $\approx 40 - 60$  in the layer in the inner disk ( $\leq 30$  au) at which HCO<sup>+</sup> reaches the highest fractional abundance ( $\sim 10^{-9}$ ). The resulting abundance distributions as a function of disk radius and height for CO, HCO<sup>+</sup> and H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> are shown in Figure 4.7.

Synthetic channel maps were generated using LIME version 1.6 (LIne Modelling Engine; Brinch & Hogerheijde, 2010) using the molecular data files for  $HCO^+$  and  $H^{13}CO^+$  from the LAMDA molecular database<sup>1</sup>. To check whether or not the assumption of LTE was appropriate, the critical density of the  $HCO^+$ J = 4-3 transition was calculated using the collisional rates from Flower (1999). The critical density was determined to be  $10^6$  cm<sup>-3</sup> in the temperature range from 30 to 100 K. In the region of the disk model where the  $HCO^+$  is present the gas density is above this value (see Figure 4.7); therefore, it was confirmed that LTE is an appropriate assumption. The models were made using the same position and inclination angles of the source. The resulting image cubes were then smoothed to the same Gaussian beam as the  $HCO^+$  and  $H^{13}CO^+$  observations. The simulated channel maps were used to generate azimuthally-averaged radial profiles from the resulting integrated intensity maps and then directly compared

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>LAMDA data files are available online at: http://home.strw.leidenuniv.nl/~moldata/

with the observations. For the  $H^{12}CO^+/H^{13}CO^+$  integrated intensity ratio the images were smoothed to the same common beam as described for the observational dataset. A range of models were run step-by-step altering the initial model to find a best by-eye fit to the observed radial profiles. The specifics of the models are summarised in Table 4.3. The resulting modelled radial intensity profiles for  $HCO^+$  and  $H^{13}CO^+$ , and the line ratio, are shown in Figure 4.8 where the coloured lines are the observations and the black lines are the models.

### 4.4.1 Fiducial model results

Model 1 is the fiducial model as described above and this model is found to overestimate the magnitude of the emission for both the HCO<sup>+</sup> and H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> lines. The difference between the modelled and observed peak flux for HCO<sup>+</sup> and H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> are around a factor of 1.3 and 2.4, respectively. The morphology of the modelled emission also does not match the observed profiles. The latter are centrally peaked whereas the modelled profiles peak in emission at  $\approx 100$  au. The resulting line ratio also does not exhibit the same radial behaviour as the observation as it increases radially from 6 to  $26 \pm 1$ .

### 4.4.2 Modifications to the fiducial model

Since the fiducial model is a poor fit to the observations the next step is to modify this model step by step in order to better reproduce the data. The first aim is to fit the radial profiles beyond a radius of  $\approx 100$  au. In Model 2 the abundance of HCO<sup>+</sup> was multiplied by a factor,  $\kappa_{\rm HCO^+}$ , of 0.2 relative to the abundance calculated using the analytical chemical model. This factor was determined by gradually reducing the multiplication factor in steps of 0.1 in each test, i.e., [0.9, 0.8, ...], until an acceptable by-eye fit to the HCO<sup>+</sup> was found. The multiplicative factor  $\kappa_{\rm H^{13}CO^+}$  is additionally applied to the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> abundance which alters the  $n(\mathrm{H^{12}CO^+})/n(\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+})$  ratio in the disk. For Model 2  $\kappa_{\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+}}$  is 1 i.e.  $n(\mathrm{H^{12}CO^+})/n(\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+})$  is 69. A comparison with the observed profiles shows that good agreement with the radial integrated intensity profile for HCO<sup>+</sup> emission is now obtained beyond 100 au. The overall decrease in abundance of a factor of 5 that is required here indicates that either the gas surface density is overestimated by this factor in the disk, or that the disk temperature of the emitting layer is over-estimated, or that the analytical chemical model describing HCO<sup>+</sup> is over-predicting the fractional abundance. However, in this model the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> peak flux is now under-predicted. The resulting H<sup>12</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> integrated intensity ratio still does not exhibit the same radial behaviour as the observations and is increasing radially from 16 to 44 ± 2.

The next iterations of the model are to reconcile the HCO<sup>+</sup> model and observations in the inner disk and apply the same changes to the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> in order to retain their abundance ratio throughout. In Model 3 the disk structure is modified by hand to include gas in the cavity from  $\approx 6$  to  $\approx 65$  au. The gas density, temperature, and molecular abundances within the cavity are set equal to the values at the inner edge of the model gas disk. An LTE model with gas in the cavity and with 0.2 times the HCO<sup>+</sup> abundance ( $\eta_{cavity}$ ) used in Model 2 reproduces well the observed radial profile (see Figure 4.8). The continued disagreement with the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> observations and models shows that the initial assumption of a globally constant value for  $n(\text{H}^{12}\text{CO}^+)/n(\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+)$  of 69 may not be appropriate.

For the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>, further modifications to this model are required to better reproduce the observations. The disk  $n(\mathrm{H}^{12}\mathrm{CO}^+)/n(\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+)$  abundance ratio is altered globally by increasing  $n(\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+)$  relative to the values in Model 3. The best by-eye fit for  $\kappa_{\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+}$  was found to be 2 relative to the abundances in Model 2. This results in a global disk  $n(\mathrm{H}^{12}\mathrm{CO}^+)/n(\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+)$  abundance ratio of 35. This is not unrealistic as chemical models that include chemical isotope fractionation processes do predict a decrease in  $n({}^{12}\text{CO})/n({}^{13}\text{CO})$  and  $n(\text{H}^{12}\text{CO}^+)/n(\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+)$  by at most a factor of two in the midplane (Miotello *et al.*, 2014; Woods & Willacy, 2009). This model provides a much improved fit in the inner disk within 200 au in the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>, but there is still not enough H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> emission in the outer disk.

In Model 5 the  $n(\mathrm{H^{12}CO^+})/n(\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+})$  ratio is decreased in the outer disk (>200 au) further to better fit the  $\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+}$  observations. The best by-eye fit for  $\kappa_{\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+}}$  was found to be 6 relative to the abundances in Model 2 resulting in a  $n(\mathrm{H^{12}CO^+})/n(\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+})$  ratio of 14 in the outer disk . This suggests the presence of two carbon chemical fractionation regimes traced in  $\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+}$  in the HD 97048 disk. The feasibility of this scenario and possible explanations will be discussed in Section 4.5.



Figure 4.1: HCO<sup>+</sup> (top) and H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> (bottom) channel maps with a velocity resolution of 0.21 km s<sup>-1</sup>. The rms noise,  $\sigma$ , is 0.016 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> per channel in both maps and the emission is detected with a S/N of 25 and 7 respectively. The grey dashed contour shows the Keplerian mask used and the dotted white lines mark the major and minor axes of the disk.



Figure 4.2:  $H^{13}CO^+(top)$  and  $HC^{15}N$  (bottom) channel maps with a velocity resolution of 0.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>. The r.m.s. for each map are 0.011 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> channel<sup>-1</sup> and 0.012 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> channel<sup>-1</sup> respectively. Emission is detected in each map with a S/N of 6.8 and 5.7 respectively. The black contours are at the 3 and  $5\sigma$  level. The grey dashed contour shows the Keplerian mask used and the dotted white lines mark the major and minor axes of the disk.



Figure 4.3: The integrated intensity maps (left) and the intensity-weighted velocity (right) for the HCO<sup>+</sup> J = 4-3 (top), H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> J = 4-3 (middle) and HC<sup>15</sup>N J = 4-3 (bottom) transitions generated using the Keplerian masks shown in Figures 4.1, and 4.2. The S/N of the integrated intensity maps are 20, 3 and 3 respectively. The intensity-weighted velocity maps were made using a  $3\sigma$  clip in the channel maps. The dotted white lines mark the major and minor axes of the disk.



Figure 4.4: Line profiles of the  $H^{13}CO^+$  (left) and  $HC^{15}N$  (right) emission at a velocity resolution of 0.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> and mirrored about the source velocity. The  $H^{13}CO^+$  line profile is extracted from within the region encompassing the  $3\sigma$  extent of the  $HCO^+$  integrated intensity and the  $HC^{15}N$  extraction region is an ellipse centred on source and chosen by eye. The residuals from the mirrored line profiles are also shown.



Figure 4.5: Deprojected and azimuthally-averaged radial profiles of the continuum emission, and CO,  $\text{HCO}^+$ ,  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$ ,  $\text{HC}^{15}\text{N}$  line emission ratio (from top to bottom, then left to right). The coloured shaded region on each profile represents the errors (see text for details). The vertical dashed grey lines highlight the rings and gaps in the mm-dust continuum profile and the dashed grey profile is the best-fit model of the continuum uv data from Walsh *et al.* (2016a) and is normalised to the peak value in each plot. The dotted black line on the  $\text{HC}^{15}\text{N}$  plot is the continuum model convolved with a 50 au beam from Walsh *et al.* (2016a) and is normalised to the peak value in each plot.



Figure 4.6: Deprojected and azimuthally-averaged radial profiles of the HCO<sup>+</sup> and  $\rm H^{13}CO^+$  line emission smoothed to a common beam and the subsequent  $\rm HCO^+/\rm H^{13}CO^+$  ratio (from left to right). The coloured shaded region on each profile represents the errors (see text for details). The vertical dashed grey lines highlight the rings and gaps in the mm-dust continuum profile and the dashed grey profile is the best-fit model of the continuum uv data from (Walsh *et al.*, 2016a) and is normalised to the peak value in each plot.



Figure 4.7: The physical disk structure of the HD 97048 protoplanetary disk and the results from the analytical chemical model. Quantities shown are the gas temperature (top left), total H nuclei number density (top right), CO number density relative to H nuclei (middle left),  $\text{HCO}^+$  number density relative to H nuclei (middle left),  $\text{HCO}^+$  number density relative to H nuclei (bottom left) and the sum of the cosmic ray and X-ray ionisation rates (bottom right).

Table 4.3: The different models as described in Section 4.4 along with the parameters that are varied in each model. The ticks and crosses denote if the model fits the specified observation.

Model	$\kappa_{ m HCO^+}$	$\kappa_{\mathrm{H^{13}CO^{+}}}$	Gas in cavity	$\eta_{cavity}$	$n(\mathrm{HCO}^+)$	$\mathrm{HCO}^{+}$	$\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+$	$\mathrm{HCO^{+}}$
					$n(\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+)$			$\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+$
1	-	-	no	-	69	Х	Х	Х
2	$[0.9, 0.8, \dots, 0.2]$	1	no	-	69	х	Х	Х
3	0.2	1	yes	$[0.9, 0.8, \dots, 0.2]$	69	$\checkmark$	Х	Х
4	0.2	2	yes	0.2	34.5	$\checkmark$	Х	Х
5	$0.2 \ (< 200 \ \mathrm{au})$	$2 \ (< 200 \ \mathrm{au})$	yes	0.2	$35 \ (< 200 \ au)$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
	0.2 (> 200  au)	[2, 3,, 6] (> 200 au)			11.5 (> 200 au)			

The residual channel maps (observations minus Model 5) are shown in Figure 4.9 for  $\text{HCO}^+$  and  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$ , respectively. These channel maps show that the flux from the  $\text{HCO}^+$  line (purple contours) is under-predicted by the model despite the reasonably good fit to the integrated intensity profile. These residuals may be due to the model emission originating from a lower height in the disk than the observations. This would mean that the  $\text{HCO}^+$  gas is optically thick higher in the disk than the model used here predicts such that the model is either underestimating the disk temperature and hence the disk scale height (i.e., it is more flared than predicted), or that the disk is more massive than suggested by the DIANA model. The  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$  residuals are insignificant.

To investigate the effect of the gas temperature on the  $\text{HCO}^+$  and  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$ line emission a set of exploratory models were run. Reducing the gas temperature by a factor of 2 throughout the disk led to a good by-eye fit to the observations in the inner disk (< 200 au) using the canonical abundance ratio. However, a significant increase in the  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$  abundance relative to  $\text{HCO}^+$  in the outer disk is still required to better reproduce the emission here. This supports the claim of the presence of two carbon fractionation regimes in this protoplanetary disk, and also supports enhanced fractionation in the outer disk due to the disk being colder than previously inferred from previous modelling work. A more robust determination of the gas temperature structure of this source will require high spatial resolution observations of multiple lines of molecular tracers of gas temperature e.g. <sup>12</sup>CO and <sup>13</sup>CO.

## 4.5 Discussion

This Chapter presents the first detections of  $H^{13}CO^+$  and  $HC^{15}N$  in the HD 97048 protoplanetary disk. The radial emission profiles of these tracers are compared with the mm continuum emission profile and the line emission from CO and



Figure 4.8: Deprojected and azimuthally-averaged radial integrated intensity profiles for  $HCO^+$ ,  $H^{13}CO^+$  and the  $HCO^+$  / $H^{13}CO^+$  ratio from the observations (in colour) and the LIME models (black). The coloured shaded region on each profile represents the errors (see text for details). The specifics of each model are detailed in Table 4.4.2 and Section 4.4.



Figure 4.9: Residual (data - model) HCO<sup>+</sup> (top) and H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> (bottom) channel maps at a velocity resolution of 0.21 km s<sup>-1</sup>. The rms is 0.016 Jy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> channel<sup>-1</sup> the purple and green contours are  $\pm 3, 5, 7\sigma$  respectively.

HCO<sup>+</sup>. The optically thin tracers, H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> and HC<sup>15</sup>N, appear to exhibit radial variations in their integrated intensity profiles in contrast to the optically thick tracers, CO and HCO<sup>+</sup>. Contrary to the HCO<sup>+</sup> J = 4 - 3 data, the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> J = 4 - 3 radial intensity profile shows a step-like radial structure. The H<sup>12</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> intensity ratio across the disk is constant with an average value of  $12 \pm 3$ . This value is consistent with observations of other disks where the disk-integrated H<sup>12</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> (J = 3 - 2) flux ratios range from 13 to 25 (Huang *et al.*, 2017; Öberg *et al.*, 2010, 2011). This low ratio (< 69) is consistent with optically thick HCO<sup>+</sup> emission. However, using radiative transfer models, consideration of optical depth effects alone cannot explain the data. These models show that radial variations in the abundance ratio of H<sup>12</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> to H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> are necessary to explain the radial behaviour in the observed intensity ratio. The one model that provides a good by-eye fit to the data is Model 5. This model requires an enhancement relative to the canonical ratio of H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> to H<sup>12</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> by a factor of 2 in the inner disk (< 200 au) and 5 in the outer disk (> 200 au).

The  $HC^{15}N$  intensity profile appears to peak in a ring which appears to match well with the mm-sized dust distribution at the same spatial resolution. Higher spatial resolution observations are required to confirm this association. Without complementary observations of the main isotopologue, HCN, it is difficult to investigate further the origin of the  $HC^{15}N$  emission. However, the suppression of line emission by the dust opacity in the inner disk can likely be ruled out, within the first dust ring (< 55 au), as the potential origin of a molecular ring as there is not sufficient millimeter dust in this region of the disk.

The remainder of this Section explores if isotope-selective chemistry can explain the structure seen in the  $H^{13}CO^+$  emission profile and  $H^{12}CO^+/H^{13}CO^+$ ratio across the disk. There is also an estimate of the level of gas depletion in the inner cavity of the disk. These results are compared to observations towards other Herbig Ae/Be disks, and there is also a speculative discussion on alternative physical/chemical processes that could explain the results presented here.

## 4.5.1 Can isotope-selective chemistry explain the $H^{13}CO^+$ emission?

The best fit model requires multiple  $H^{12}CO^+/H^{13}CO^+$  fractionation regimes. Isotope selective chemistry could be responsible for the radial intensity profile of the  $H^{13}CO^+$  emission and the observed  $H^{12}CO^+/H^{13}CO^+$  ratio but chemical models with isotope selective chemistry only predict a change in the  $H^{12}CO^+/H^{13}CO^+$  ratio over very narrow radial and vertical regions of the disk (Miotello *et al.*, 2014; Woods & Willacy, 2009). While detailed chemical modelling of this is beyond the scope of this work, this section explores how isotope selective chemistry could influence the emergent  $HCO^+$  and  $H^{13}CO^+$  line emission.

Isotope selective photodissociation enhances the ratio of  ${}^{12}$ CO/ ${}^{13}$ CO in the disk atmosphere due to the different self-shielding column densities of the different isotopologues (Miotello *et al.*, 2014; Visser *et al.*, 2009). The relative abundances of  ${}^{12}$ CO and  ${}^{13}$ CO are the least affected of the different CO isotopologues since they are the most abundant. However, the shielding column for  ${}^{13}$ CO will be reached slightly deeper into the disk atmosphere than that for  ${}^{12}$ CO (Miotello *et al.*, 2014). Hence, there will exist a layer in the disk surface where  ${}^{12}$ CO/ ${}^{13}$ CO > 69 such that  $H^{12}$ CO<sup>+</sup>/ $H^{13}$ CO<sup>+</sup> is also > 69 due to the coupled chemistry between the two species. In the model of a T Tauri disk in Miotello *et al.* (2014) that includes comprehensive isotope-selective chemistry, the peak abundance ratio for  ${}^{12}$ CO/ ${}^{13}$ CO is only  $\approx 2 \times$  the underlying elemental ratio and only in a narrow layer of the disk atmosphere. The models of carbon isotope fractionation in the inner 30 au of a T Tauri disk by Woods & Willacy (2009) show that there is an increase in the isotopologue ratio in HCO<sup>+</sup> relative to that for CO in

the more tenuous and irradiated disk atmosphere (i.e.,  $n(\mathrm{H^{12}CO^+})/n(\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+}) > n(^{12}\mathrm{CO})/n(^{13}\mathrm{CO})$  with a maximum  $n(\mathrm{H^{12}CO^+})/n(\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+})$  of  $\approx 110$ ). However, this cannot explain the results for HD 97048 because isotope selective photodissociation leads to an enhancement of the main isotopologue relative to the rare isotopologue, which acts in the opposite direction to that required to explain the observations.

Additionally, there are isotope exchange reactions which enhance the abundance of <sup>13</sup>CO relative to <sup>12</sup>CO and H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> relative to H<sup>12</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> at low temperatures, < 35 K and < 9 K respectively (as measured by Smith & Adams, 1980). Models of the carbon isotope fractionation in protoplanetary disks show that the chemical HCO<sup>+</sup> fractionation follows the CO fractionation for warm temperatures > 60 K but for lower temperatures the fractionation is more extreme for HCO<sup>+</sup> than CO. In the Woods & Willacy (2009) models the <sup>13</sup>CO/<sup>12</sup>CO reaches  $\approx$  40 in the disk midplane whereas the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>12</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> ratio is lower ( $\approx$  30). Since the density in the disk is relatively high this process is roughly in equilibrium and can be calculated as follows:

$$\frac{n(\mathrm{H}^{12}\mathrm{CO}^{+})}{n(\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^{+})} = \exp\left(\frac{-9\mathrm{K}}{\mathrm{T}_{\mathrm{gas}}}\right) \frac{n(^{12}\mathrm{CO})}{n(^{13}\mathrm{CO})}.$$

Figure 4.10 shows the  $n(\mathrm{H}^{12}\mathrm{CO}^+)/n(\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+)$  ratio as a function of gas temperature and underlying  $n(^{12}\mathrm{CO})/n(^{13}\mathrm{CO})$  ratio. The white contours mark the three  $n(\mathrm{H}^{12}\mathrm{CO}^+)/n(\mathrm{H}^{13}\mathrm{CO}^+)$  ratios used in Models 1 to 3, 4, and 5 respectively. The dashed black line marks the lowest gas temperature in the disk model ( $\approx 16$  K). This calculation shows us that the fractionation required in Model 4 is reasonable, but in order to reach the level of fractionation in Model 5, depending on the underlying  $n(^{12}\mathrm{CO})/n(^{13}\mathrm{CO})$  ratio, the gas temperature needs to be between 5 and 10 K and this is less than the minimum gas temperature in the disk



Figure 4.10: The  $n(\mathrm{H^{12}CO^+})/n(\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+})$  ratio as a function of gas temperature and underlying  $n(^{12}\mathrm{CO})/n(^{13}\mathrm{CO})$  ratio. The white contours mark the three  $n(\mathrm{H^{12}CO^+}) / n(\mathrm{H^{13}CO^+})$  ratios used in Models 1 to 3, 4 and 5 respectively. The dashed black line marks the lowest gas temperature in the disk model.

model employed in this work. For chemical fractionation to explain the results the gas temperature in the outer disk needs to be significantly cooler than current models predict.

The radial abundance profiles of best-fit models for the  $\text{HCO}^+$  and  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$ emission shows that isotope-selective processes are occurring in this disk; however, the enhancement factors required for  $\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$  are needed across a significantly larger column density of the disk compared to predictions from models, and there needs to be a radial change in the ratio. Comprehensive chemical models are required to determine if the  $\text{H}^{12}\text{CO}^+/\text{H}^{13}\text{CO}^+$  abundance ratio exhibits variations more than a factor of a few relative to the elemental ratio in the outer disk (100's of au) and how the observed line emission will reflect this.

### 4.5.2 Estimating the gas depletion in the cavity

The HCO<sup>+</sup> emission in the channel maps is detected down to at least 40 au whereas the model assumes a gas cavity size of 65 au. Adding gas to the cavity in Model 3 with an abundance 0.2 times that at the edge of the disk well reproduces the radial profile of the HCO<sup>+</sup> emission. The fractional abundance of HCO<sup>+</sup> in the dust cavity reaches a maximum value of  $6 \times 10^{-9}$ . Chemical models show that the HCO<sup>+</sup> fractional abundance in the inner (< 50 au) regions of full disks can be as high as  $\sim 10^{-7}$  (Aikawa *et al.*, 2015; Walsh *et al.*, 2010). Hence, if this value represents an absolute ceiling value for the HCO<sup>+</sup> fractional abundance then the gas surface density is  $\approx$ 500 times less that in the dust cavity than in the inner edge of the outer disk. However, there remain caveats to this estimate related to chemistry. Because there is a central dust cavity in this disk then the gas will be less shielded from ionising radiation resulting in potentially higher HCO<sup>+</sup> abundances than calculated in chemical models of disks without dust cavities. HCO<sup>+</sup> is not an optimal tracer of gas mass; hence, the gas depletion in the cavity be should be estimated using CO isotopologue observations.

### 4.5.3 A comparison with other Herbig Ae/Be disks

Molecular line emission from Herbig Ae/Be disks has been shown to trace both sub-structure associated with an underlying ringed dust structure and radial structure that due chemistry, snowlines arises tosuch as (e.g., HD 163296, HD 169142: Carney et al., 2018; Fedele et al., 2017; Isella et al., 2016; Mathews et al., 2013; Qi et al., 2013a, 2015). With ALMA we now have spatially resolved detections of the HCO<sup>+</sup> and HCN isotopologues in multiple protoplanetary disks (see Figure 4.11). Although these molecules are commonly detected in disks around T Tauri stars, e.g., IM Lup, AS 209, V4046 Sgr, DM Tau, LkCa 15 (Guzmán et al., 2015, 2017; Huang et al., 2017; Öberg



Figure 4.11: Gallery of 1.1 mm continuum and  $H^{13}CO^+$  and  $HC^{15}N$  J=3-2 radial emission profiles in disks (adapted from from Huang *et al.* (2017) ).

*et al.*, 2015; Piétu *et al.*, 2007), this section will primarily discuss the detections towards HD 97048 in the context of other Herbig Ae/Be disks given the differences in chemistry expected between these two disk types (e.g., Agúndez *et al.*, 2018; Walsh *et al.*, 2015).

Both HCN and HCO<sup>+</sup> have been detected towards the dust-trap-hosting transition disk around the Herbig Ae star, HD 142527 (Casassus *et al.*, 2013, 2015a; Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2014; van der Plas *et al.*, 2014). However, for this source, the molecular emission is strongly influenced by the large cavity (140 au) and the lop-sided dust trap. The HCO<sup>+</sup> emission from within the cavity traces non-Keplerian motions that have been attributed to radial flows through the gap (Casassus *et al.*, 2013, 2015a; Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2014), and the HCN emission is strongly anti-coincident with the dust trap. This anti-coincidence is proposed to be due to either the lower dust temperatures in the trap (leading to enhanced freezeout) or a high continuum optical depth in the dust trap that is suppressing the emergent line emission (van der Plas *et al.*, 2014). The disk around HD 142527 is a clear example demonstrating the influence that extreme dust structure has on the emergent molecular emission. Emission from  $H^{13}CO^+$  (J = 8 - 7) from HD 142527 has been targeted with ALMA; however, it was reported as a nondetection (Casassus *et al.*, 2015b).

Evidence for multiple rings of  $H^{13}CO^+$  have been detected in the HD 163296 disk and one ring of  $H^{13}CO^+$  has been detected in the MWC 480 disk, but their relation to the underlying dust and/or gas structure has not yet been fully investigated using detailed models (see Figure 4.11; Huang et al., 2017). These observations have a spatial resolution of  $\approx 60$  to 70 au. In both of these sources there is a central cavity in the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> emission and this has been primarily attributed to optically thick continuum emission in the inner disk which suppresses the emergent line emission. For the specific case of  $H^{13}CO^+$ , this may also be partially due to chemistry in the inner disk. Depending on the location of the  $H_2O$  snowline, which can reside at ~ 10s of au from the star in Herbig Ae/Be disks (e.g., Notsu et al., 2017; Woitke et al., 2009b), gaseous H<sub>2</sub>O may be present which facilitates another destruction pathway for HCO<sup>+</sup>. Hence, the absence of  $H^{13}CO^+$  emission in the inner regions of protoplanetary disks and protostars has been proposed as an indirect indication of the radial location of the water snow line. This effect has yet to be conclusively demonstrated for a protoplanetary disk but has been demonstrated for the protostellar envelope encompassing NGC1333-IRAS2A (van 't Hoff et al., 2018). As yet, there is no evidence for a central cavity strongly depleted in dust in neither HD 163296 nor MWC 480. unlike as has been found for HD 97048. This explains why the  $H^{13}CO^+$  emission profile for HD 97048 is centrally peaked: the emergent emission is not suppressed due to the presence of a significant reservoir of mm-sized dust.

The first detection of  $HC^{15}N$  in a protoplanetary disk was reported in the MWC 480 disk (Guzmán *et al.*, 2015). In this source, and in the TW Hya disk

(Hily-Blant et al., 2019), the HCN, H<sup>13</sup>CN and HC<sup>15</sup>N all show similar radial distributions which follow the smoothly decreasing dust emission profile. From the same study, HCN emission from the DM Tau disk, a T Tauri source, shows a second ring of emission beyond the mm-dust emission at  $\sim 300$  au. The ring is proposed to arise as a result of increased photodissociation of HCN due to the depletion of micron sized dust interior to the detected molecular ring. The  $HC^{15}N$ emission appears to follow the radial emission profile of the mm-dust to the spatial resolution of the observations. Observations of the main isotopologue HCN with improved spatial resolution in the HD 97048 disk are needed confirm the presence of rings in this tracer that align with the dust rings. The H<sup>13</sup>CN emission in the AS 209 disk, another T Tauri disk, is also ringed (Guzmán et al., 2017), and recent ALMA observations have shown clearly that this disk has multiple rings of dust (Fedele et al., 2018). This, again, is another example disk with rings of dust and rings of molecular gas. HC<sup>15</sup>N has since been detected in the HD 163296 disk but the observations are not of high enough S/N to make assertions about the radial distribution in relation to the dust rings (Guzmán et al., 2017). Nevertheless, there is growing evidence, including in the analysis presented here, that molecular line mission from optically thin tracers may be following, and is thus influenced by, the underlying dust distribution in Herbig Ae/Be disks making them interesting test cases.

## 4.5.4 What is the effect of the ringed dust (and gas) structure on the chemistry?

A radially smooth profile cannot fit the  $H^{13}CO^+$  observations and the  $H^{12}CO^+/H^{13}CO^+$  abundance ratio across the disk. As this is not wholly consistent with predictions from chemical fractionation models this section now explores the possible effect of the dust rings on the disk chemistry.

From ALMA observations the mm-sized dust is distributed in three rings (van der Plas et al., 2017; Walsh et al., 2016a). Scattered light observations with SPHERE show that at the disk surface there are four rings, two of which are located at comparable positions to the mm-sized dust rings (Ginski et al., 2016). Due to the matching rings in both the mm-sized and micron-sized grains planet-disk interactions have been proposed as the best explanation for the dust rings in the HD 97048 disk (Ginski et al., 2016; van der Plas et al., 2017; Walsh et al., 2016a). From the non-detections of direct emission from planets in the gaps and by comparing the observed rings to models, limits can be placed on the masses of the anticipated planets. van der Plas et al. (2017) estimated the mass of the inner-most planet, located between 2.5 and 11 au, to be  $\approx 0.7 M_J$  guided by models from Rosotti *et al.* (2016). Low-mass planets,  $\approx 1 \text{ M}_{\text{J}}$ , will create a narrower and shallower cavity in the gas surface density than in the mm-sized dust which forms more distinct rings (de Juan Ovelar et al., 2013, 2016; Zhu et al., 2012). Pinte et al. (2019) indirectly detect a planet of a few Jupiter masses at 130 au, which is consistent with upper-limits from VLT/SPHERE (Ginski *et al.*, 2016). Hence, it is possible that perturbations in the gas surface density are sufficiently shallow that they are not visible in the CO and HCO<sup>+</sup> isotopologue observations, or conversely, that the gas gaps are deep, but also sufficiently narrow that subsequent chemical inhomogeneities are resolved out.

It is also a possibility that variations in the underlying gas density due to forming planets may be responsible for the observed radial variation in the  $H^{12}CO^+/H^{13}CO^+$  abundance ratio. This is in contrast to the scenario discussed in Section 4.6.1 (see Figure 4.12a). Although these data do not have the resolution to resolve the proposed gas gaps, the presence of such gaps may be revealed through analysing global abundance ratios, that average over the chemical substructure. A drop in the column density of small dust grains at the location of the millimetre-sized dust gaps will provide less shielding from photodissociating and photoionising radiation. This will increase the ionisation fraction within the dust gaps relative to the dust rings. Given that  $HCO^+$  is the dominant cation in the molecular layer, its abundance may also increase in the dust gaps and this may mask the presence of gas depletion therein because the overall column density of  $HCO^+$  may not change significantly. In this case the difference between the  $HCO^+$  and  $H^{13}CO^+$  abundance distributions would only be due to isotope-selective chemistry (Figure 4.12b). Also, because of the non-linear nature of the chemistry, a reduction in gas density can have a profound effect on the abundances of more minor species because the rates of two-body ion-molecule reactions are proportional to  $n^2$ . Hence, it is possible that this can amplify the effects of isotope-selective photodissociation by e.g., slowing down the reformation of <sup>13</sup>CO relative to <sup>12</sup>CO. This would reduce the abundance of  $H^{13}CO^+$  relative to  $HCO^+$  in the disk, in contrast to the observations presented here (Figure 4.12c).

An additional explanation to consider is the effect of the dust structure on the gas temperature. Models show that the gas temperature relative to the dust temperature can decrease in the disk atmosphere due to grain growth and settling and at the location of the dust gaps (Facchini *et al.*, 2017; van der Marel *et al.*, 2018). A decrease in gas temperature could be traced by isotope fractionation (see Figure 4.12d) but this remains speculation until dedicated physio-chemical models are available that include isotope-selective chemistry as well as ringed dust structure.

## 4.6 Conclusion

This chapter shows, for the first time, that the disk molecules  $H^{13}CO^+$  and  $HC^{15}N$ , are may be tracing sub-structure in the HD 97048 protoplanetary disk. The favoured by-eye fit to the  $H^{13}CO^+$  observations require a model with an en-



Figure 4.12: Cartoon illustrating the possible gas and dust distributions in the HD 97048 disk. The mm-sized dust is represented by brown circles, the micron-sized dust is represented by grey circles, the gas and depleted gas are represented by purple and lilac respectively and the light blue corresponds to a cold gas reservoir.

hancement in fractional abundance relative to the canonical isotope ratio in the outer disk. Since the HCO<sup>+</sup> models do not require such enhancement factors, chemical fractionation is the simplest explanation for the emergent line emission. The enhancement in H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> relative to HCO<sup>+</sup> can be explained by a cold reservoir of gas in the outer disk ( $\leq 10 \text{ K}, \geq 200 \text{ au}$ ). Through a comparison with disk models that include carbon fractionation, isotope selective chemistry cannot solely explain the observations. Future ALMA observations of HD 97048 need to have the spatial resolution to properly resolve the ringed structure in the dust and in the different gas tracers, and will allow for the determination of the size of central cavity in different tracers. This will enable a detailed study on the dominant chemical processes in the disk and allow a clearer distinctions between the different scenarios presented and provide insight on the physical and chemical nature of planet-carved gaps.

# Chapter 5 SO in the HD 100546 Disk

## 5.1 Introduction

As discussed in Chapter 1, sulphur is observed to be depleted in molecular rich gas. Despite this depletion issue, sulphur-bearing species are useful tracers of physical processes in interstellar and circumstellar material. For example, SO is frequently detected as a tracer of shocked gas associated with the bipolar outflows from Class 0 and I protostars, (e.g., Tafalla et al. 2010 and Podio et al. 2015). Searches for SO have found that detections in outflows are ubiquitous but in protoplanetary disks infrequent (Fuente et al., 2010; Guilloteau et al., 2013). ALMA observations have also revealed ring components of SO emission in Class 0 protostars (Sakai et al., 2016) that have been interpreted as accretion shocks at the disk-envelope interface. It is evident from existing observations that SO is a tracer of shocks in Class 0 and I protostars. However, SO is an elusive disk molecule requiring high sensitivity observations for its detection: this is now possible with ALMA. This Chapter presents the first detection of SO in the disk around HD 100546. This is an important source for the study of planet-disk interactions due to the verified discovery of a point source in the disk at 50 au that is proposed to be a young giant planet (Quanz et al., 2013, 2015).
## 5.2 The HD 100546 disk

HD 100546 is an isolated 2.4  $M_*$  Herbig Be star at a distance of 109 pc (van den Ancker *et al.*, 1998; Wichittanakom *et al.*, 2020). Similar to both the HD 163295 and HD 97048 disks, ALMA Band 7 observations show that the millimeter-sized dust grains in the HD 100546 disk are distributed in two rings: one ring is 21 au wide centred at 26 au and the other is 75 au wide centred at 190 au (Walsh *et al.*, 2014a). The best fit evolutionary model for the data is a scenario where there are two planets in the disk: a 20 M<sub>J</sub> planet at 10 au and 15 M<sub>J</sub> planet at 68 au (Pinilla *et al.*, 2015). This is in agreement with observations of an embedded protoplanet and a possible companion in the cavity of the disk (Avenhaus *et al.*, 2014; Benisty *et al.*, 2017; Brittain *et al.*, 2014; Currie *et al.*, 2014, 2015; Garufi *et al.*, 2016; Mulders *et al.*, 2013; Quanz *et al.*, 2013, 2015).

Various molecular and atomic lines have been detected with single-dish telescopes. Although spatially unresolved, these observations suggest a warm disk atmosphere above the disk midplane with the highest abundances of the detected species coinciding with the outer edge of the cavity which is thought to be puffy (Carmona *et al.*, 2011; Fedele *et al.*, 2013; Goto *et al.*, 2012; Hein Bertelsen *et al.*, 2014; Liskowsky *et al.*, 2012; Panić *et al.*, 2010; Sturm *et al.*, 2010; Thi *et al.*, 2011). The disk hosts a large molecular gas disk with the CO gas extending out to  $\approx 400$  au (Pineda *et al.*, 2014; Walsh *et al.*, 2014a). In addition to this, there is evidence for thermal decoupling of gas and dust in the disk atmosphere and radial drift of millimeter-sized dust grains (see Bruderer *et al.*, 2012; Meeus *et al.*, 2013b; Walsh *et al.*, 2014a), now a common property of protoplanetary disks (Andrews, 2020).

Date observed	18th November 2012				
Baselines	21 - 375 m				
Weighting	natural				
SO rotational transitions	$7_7 - 6_6$	$7_8 - 6_7$	$8_8 - 7_7$	$3_2 - 1_2$	$7_7 - 6_6 + 7_8 - 6_7$
Rest frequency (GHz)	301.286	304.078	344.311	345.704	-
Synthesised beam	$1''.1 \times 0''.6$	$1''_{.1} \times 0''_{.6}$	$1''_{.0} \times 0''_{.5}$	$1''_{.0} \times 0''_{.5}$	$1''.1 \times 0''.6$
Beam P.A.	$24^{\circ}$	23°	40°	40°	$24^{\circ}$
Spectral resolution ( km $s^{-1}$ )	0.24	0.24	0.21	0.21	1.00
rms noise (mJy $beam^{-1}$ ) $channel^{-1}$	10.9	9.9	17.4	16.2	4.2
Peak emission (mJy $beam^{-1}$ )	-	-	-	-	24.7
$E_u$ (K)	71.0	62.1	87.5	21.1	-
Einstein A coefficient $(s^{-1})$	3.429e-04	3.609e-04	5.186e-04	1.390e-07	-

Table 5.1: ALMA band 7 observational parameters and sulphur monoxide transitions for HD 100546

The values for the line frequencies and Einstein A coefficients are from the Cologne Database for Molecular Spectroscopy (CDMS; Müller *et al.*, 2001) as listed in the Leiden Atomic and Molecular Database (LAMDA; Schöier *et al.*, 2005).

# 5.3 Line imaging

The HD 100546 disk was observed at ALMA Band 7 during Cycle 0 (2011.0.00863.S, PI: C. Walsh). This work began with the self-calibrated, phase-corrected, and continuum-subtracted measurement sets from Walsh *et al.* (2014a).

The observations of HD 100546 and the four SO transitions analysed in this work are detailed in Table 5.1. Imaging of the data was done using CASA version 4.6.0. The individual lines were each imaged at the spectral resolution of the observations (0.21 - 0.24 km s<sup>-1</sup>, applying Hanning smoothing) and then at a coarser resolution of 1 km s<sup>-1</sup>. Only the  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$  and  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$  transitions were detected. These two SO lines were then stacked in the uv plane to increase the signal-to-noise ratio (S/N) in the resulting channel maps (see Table 5.1). This was done as follows. The central frequency of each spectral window was transformed to the central frequency of the SO line it contained using the CASA tool regridspw. These measurement sets were then concatenated using the CASA task concat. The line emission was imaged at a velocity resolution of 1 km s<sup>-1</sup> using the CLEAN algorithm with natural weighting and a channel-by-channel mask guided by the spatial extent of the CO J = 3 - 2 emission  $(3\sigma)$ . The SO  $J = 3_2 - 1_2$  transition has a low excitation energy (21 K) and it is expected that the inner region of this disk is warm (> 20 K). Hence, the detection of the higher energy transitions only is consistent with the expected temperature of emitting molecular gas. Further, the lower energy transition is significantly weaker (see Table 5.1). Including the  $J = 8_8 - 7_7$  transition in the stacking increased the noise level in the channel maps thus degrading the S/N in the resulting images. Stacking wholly in the image plane gave the same results but with a slightly lower S/N than using the *regrid* plus *concat* method (seen also in the analysis conducted by Walsh *et al.* 2016a).

# 5.4 Results

### 5.4.1 Detected SO emission

Figure 5.1 shows the integrated intensity maps of the two SO lines detected in the imaging. They encompass the significant (>  $3\sigma$ ) on source emission detected in the 1 km s<sup>-1</sup> channel maps. This is integrated across 11 channels from -7 km s<sup>-1</sup> to 5 km s<sup>-1</sup> with respect to the source velocity. The source velocity of the emission, as inferred from the CO J = 3 - 2 emission (Walsh *et al.*, 2014a, 2017), is 5.7 km s<sup>-1</sup>. The  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$  and  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$  transitions are detected with a peak S/N of 7 and 11 respectively in the integrated intensity maps. The rms noise was extracted from the region beyond the  $3\sigma$  contour of the integrated intensity.

Stacking these two transitions results in a robust detection of SO in the channel maps ( $6\sigma$ ) and line profile ( $5\sigma$ ). Figure 5.2 shows the channel maps of the stacked SO emission at a velocity resolution of 1 km s<sup>-1</sup> and with respect to the source velocity. The emission reaches a peak S/N of 6 with an rms noise of 4.2 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> channel<sup>-1</sup>. The noise in the channel maps was determined by taking the rms of the line-free channels either side of those with significant emission. The CO emission (>  $3\sigma$ ) is also plotted to allow a comparison between the emission morphology of these two molecules. When comparing the SO and CO, the SO emission is significantly more compact than the CO emission and there is an excess blue-shifted component of SO emission that is not spatially consistent with the blue-shifted disk emission traced in CO. This is further highlighted by comparing the SO and CO line profiles shown in Figure 5.3.

Figure 5.4 shows the line profile extracted from within the  $3\sigma$  contour of the stacked integrated intensity and covers a velocity range of -50 km s<sup>-1</sup> to +50 km s<sup>-1</sup> about the source velocity. This large velocity range was chosen to highlight the significance of the emission with respect to the underlying noise.



Figure 5.1: Integrated intensity maps of the two SO transitions integrated over a 11 km s<sup>-1</sup> velocity range. Left: the  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$  transition with an rms of 22 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> and a peak emission of 151 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> resulting in a S/N of 6.9. Right: the  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$  transition with an rms of 19 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> and a peak emission of 206 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> resulting in a S/N of 10.8. The black contours are at intervals of  $\sigma$  going from  $3\sigma$  to peak.



Figure 5.2: Channel maps of the stacked SO emission (red contours) and the CO J = 3-2 emission with a  $3\sigma$  clip (grey colour map). The stacked SO emission has an rms noise of 4.2 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> channel<sup>-1</sup> and peak emission of 24.7 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> resulting in a S/N of 5.9. The contours are from  $3\sigma$  to peak in intervals of  $\sigma$ . The stated velocities are with respect to the source velocity of the emission.



Figure 5.3: SO stacked (red) line profile and CO J = 3 - 2 (black) line profile extracted from within the  $3\sigma$  extent of their respective integrated intensity maps. The SO stacked line profile reaches a S/N of 5.3 and the CO J = 3 - 2 reaches a S/N of 375. Note that the rms for the CO J = 3 - 2 is not visible on this scale (81 mJy).

The rms of the line profile was determined from the line-free channels either side of the channels with significant emission. The line profile is double peaked which could indicate that the emission is originating from an inclined disk in Keplerian rotation. However, the trough of the profile is  $2 \text{ km s}^{-1}$  blueshifted from the CO-determined source velocity. Because the emission is clearly peaking on source, numerous checks were done to see if the blue-shifted emission shift is real. The CASA velocity reference frame is LSRK as is needed, the line frequencies are correct, and there are no other emission lines within the considered velocity range that could attribute to the blue-shifted emission. In addition to this, with the removal of 5% to 10% of the longer and shorter baselines and the doublepeaked line profile persists. This was done to check that this was not an imaging artifact. We also confirmed that the frequency axis of the spectral cube was correctly indexed. The line profiles of the individual transitions (see Figure 5.4) both have the same line profile shape. Therefore, any additional signal was not induced through stacking.



Figure 5.4: Top: Line profile extracted from within the  $3\sigma$  extent of the SO stacked integrated intensity with an rms noise of 5.7 mJy and a peak flux of 30.4 mJy resulting in a S/N of 5.3. Bottom: Line profiles of the individual  $J=7_7 - 6_6$  (left) and  $J=7_8 - 6_7$  (right) transitions extracted from within the  $3\sigma$  extent of their respective intensity maps. Both line profiles reach a S/N of 3 with rms noise of 10.8 mJy and 8.7 mJy respectively. Highlighted in red and blue are the velocity ranges of emission used in the moment maps of the individual lines in Figure 5.1.

Moment map		S/N	rms.	
			$(mJy beam^{-1} km s^{-1})$	
$J = 7_7 - 6_6$	disk component	4.8	17	
$J = 7_7 - 6_6$	wind component	5.0	15	
$J = 7_8 - 6_7$	disk component	8.4	15	
$J = 7_8 - 6_7$	wind component	6.8	13	

Table 5.2: Moment map S/N and rms.

To investigate the spatial distribution of both components of emission (on source emission and blue shifted emission, respectively), a moment zero map was created for both. Figure 5.5 shows the integrated intensity maps from -7.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> to -2.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> and from -2.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> to 4.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>. These velocity ranges are highlighted in the stacked line profile and the individual lines profiles (Figure 5.4). The peak S/N and rms. for each of these integrated intensity maps are listed in Table 5.2. The peak emission in the two maps is spatially offset but the exact separation of these two components is unclear because the emission is of the order of the same size as the beam. The ratio of the peak emission in the moment zero maps of the  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$  transition to the  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$  transition is higher in the blue-shifted component of emission compared with the emission at the source velocity. This likely indicates that the blue-shifted component is tracing warmer gas. The stacked moment maps over the two velocity ranges are shown in Figure 5.6 in which the spatial offset between the two components is more significant.

From this analysis it can be said that there are two components of emission and not just Keplerian disk emission that is blue-shifted relative to the source velocity. The emission in the line profile that peaks on source and aligns kinematically with the CO in the channel maps (Figure 5.2) can be attributed to disk emission. The morphology of the on-source singly-peaked disk component might be explained by asymmetric SO emission which is arising from the north-east side of the disk only.



Figure 5.5: Integrated intensity maps of the two SO transitions over two velocity ranges. Top: the  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$  transition from -7.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>to -2.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> (left) and -2.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>to 4.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> (right). Bottom: the  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$  transition from -7.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>to -2.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> (left) and -2.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>to 4.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> (right). The peak S/N and rms. for each of these maps are listed in Table 5.2. The black contours are at intervals of  $\sigma$  going from  $3\sigma$  to peak.



Figure 5.6: Integrated intensity maps of the stacked SO emission over two velocity ranges: -7.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>to -2.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> (left) with a S/N of 7 and -2.5 km s<sup>-1</sup>to 4.5 km s<sup>-1</sup> (right) with a S/N of 9. The r.m.s. noise reached in these maps is 11 and 14 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> and the peak emission is 80 and 123 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> respectively. The black contours are at intervals of  $\sigma$  from  $3\sigma$  to peak.

This is investigated further in Section 5.6. The blue-shifted emission peaks off source spectrally and potentially spatially too ( $\approx 1-2$  pixels, a projected distance of 15 - 30 au) and it is attributed to a disk wind where material is being driven from the surface of the disk resulting in a blue-shift along the line of sight.

### 5.4.2 Relative line strengths via matched filter analysis

As discussed in Chapter 3 a matched filter<sup>1</sup> can be used to detect lines in the uv data (Loomis *et al.*, 2018b). This is utilised to derive the relative line strengths of the detected SO lines. A CLEANed image of the CO line (J = 3 - 2) and the best fit LIME model (see Section 5.5 for details) are used as filters. The CO image has been scaled down to one quarter of its size and this is motivated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>vis\_sample is publicly available at: https://github.com/AstroChem/vis\_sample

by the compact nature of the SO emission (as seen in the channel maps and the integrated intensity: Figures 5.1 and 5.2). Application of the matched filter results in a measure of the response of the filter to the data at a given frequency. The response is scaled to  $\sigma$  with the rms noise normalised to 1.

Figure 5.7 shows the response of the three detected SO lines to the compact CO and best fit LIME wedge model filters (see Section 5.5). For the CO filter three of the four lines were detected, the  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$ ,  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$ , and  $J = 8_8 - 7_7$  transitions. They have a peak response of 6.8, 4.2 and 4.0 respectively. There is no detection of the lower energy  $J=3_2 - 1_2$  transition. Different CO filters were tested with different compression factors of 1/2, 1/3 and 1/4. The  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$  transition is picked up in all the filters but the higher excitation lines have an improved response with the more compact filters. The best fit LIME model also detects the same three SO lines. The  $J = 8_8 - 7_7$  filter response is approximately the same as with the compact CO filter but the other two lines responses are quite different.

The peak of the responses are not all at the expected source velocity supporting the theory that there are multiple velocity components of emission including a possible disk wind. The matched filter has confirmed the detection of the two lines detected in the image plane and they are observed at a substantially higher S/N than in the channel maps. It has also facilitated the detection of a line that was not detected in the imaging. Further, as the matched filter line response scales with intensity, there is now rudimentary excitation information on the three lines to motivate further modelling.

## 5.5 Line radiative transfer modelling

The abundance of SO was estimated by matching the observed emission with simulated emission generated using a HD 100456 physical disk structure (from



Figure 5.7: Matched filter responses for the three detected SO transitions. Left: the results using a spatially compact (1/4) version of the CO channel maps as a filter. Right: the results using the best fit LIME wedge model as a filter (see Section 5 for details). Highlighted in red and blue are the velocity ranges of emission attributed to a disk and a wind component respectively.

Kama *et al.* 2016a, see Figure 5.8) and LIME version 1.5 (LIne Modelling Engine; Brinch & Hogerheijde, 2010). Ray-tracing calculations were done assuming LTE and the appropriate distance, inclination and position angle for the source. The molecular data files for sulphur monoxide were taken from the Leiden Atomic and Molecular Database (LAMDA<sup>1</sup>). To check that LTE calculations were a good approximation the critical density of the transitions was calculated. The critical density for the SO  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$  transition was determined to be 6  $\times 10^6$  cm<sup>-3</sup> at 100 K using the LAMDA molecular data with the collisional rates from Lique *et al.* (2006). The other transitions are of a similar order of magnitude.

Because the matched filter is a linear process the relative responses for a pair of lines can be used as a proxy for their relative intensities after correcting for the difference in noise levels in each line. These relative intensities were converted to line ratios and this information was used to confine the location of the SO in the disk with respect to the temperature and density conditions. Model line ratios were calculated from line intensities determined using the RADEX  $^2$  radiative transfer code assuming an SO column density of  $10^{14}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> motivated by full chemical models (Kama et al., 2016b, priv. comm.). RADEX is a non-LTE 1D radiative transfer code that can be used with the intensity of an observed particular molecular line to estimate the excitation temperature and column density of the gas, assuming an isothermal, homogeneous medium with no significant velocity gradient (van der Tak et al., 2007). The line ratios of the three lines were calculated over a grid of temperatures and densities and the results are shown in Figure 5.9. These model line ratios were compared to the observed line ratios from the matched filter responses. Within the velocity range defined as disk emission, these are 1.5, 1.6 and 1.1 for the  $J = 7_8 - 6_7/J = 7_7 - 6_6$ ,  $J = 7_8 - 6_7/J = 8_7 - 7_6$ and  $J = 7_7 - 6_6/J = 8_7 - 7_6$  line ratios respectively. A selection of the RADEX

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://home.strw.leidenuniv.nl/~moldata/SO.html

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://home.strw.leidenuniv.nl/~moldata/radex.html



Figure 5.8: The HD 100546 disk physical structure from Kama *et al.* (2016a). Top left and moving clockwise: the dust temperature (K), gas temperature (K), UV flux (in units of the interstellar radiation field) and number density (cm<sup>-3</sup>). The two white contours in each of the temperature plots correspond to a temperature of 30 K and 50 K. The shaded region highlights the location of the SO motivated by RADEX calculations and used in the LIME modelling.

results are shown in Table 5.3 along with the observed ratios and their associated errors. The regime that best fits our observations is a H<sub>2</sub> density from  $10^8$ to  $10^{10}$  cm<sup>-3</sup> and a gas temperature between 50 and 100 K. These conditions result in the SO being distributed in a ring from 20 to 100 au in a layer above the midplane (see Figure 5.8). This is in agreement with previous modelling of sulphur volatiles in disks (e.g.; Dutrey *et al.*, 2011) and is in agreement with the compact nature of the SO emission. Placing the SO in a region of lower density and higher temperature resulted in significantly more extended emission than in our observations. Only the near surface of the disk is modelled as it is assumed that this region of the disk (< 100 au) the optically thick dust emission will block the emission from the molecular gas in the far surface of the disk.

A set of models were run varying the fractional abundance of SO with respect

Observed line ratios				
-	-	$1.5 \pm 0.4$	$1.6 {\pm} 0.4$	$1.1 {\pm} 0.4$
Radex model line ratios				
$n_{H_2} (cm^{-3})$	$T_k$ (K)	$J=7_8-6_7/J=7_7-6_6$	$J=7_8-6_7/J=8_7-7_6$	$J = 7_7 - 6_6/J = 8_7 - 7_6$
$10^{5}$	25	1.909	7.000	3.667
$10^{6}$	25	1.726	3.982	2.296
$10^{7}$	25	1.607	2.481	1.544
$10^{8}$	25	1.587	2.302	1.451
$10^{9}$	25	1.583	2.288	1.446
$10^{10}$	25	1.583	2.288	1.446
_				
$10^{5}$	50	1.659	4.056	2.444
$10^{6}$	50	1.489	2.285	1.535
$10^{7}$	50	1.386	1.530	1.104
$10^{8}$	50	1.367	1.449	1.060
$10^{9}$	50	1.364	1.442	1.058
$10^{10}$	50	1.364	1.442	1.058
_				
$10^{5}$	100	1.546	2.930	1.895
$10^{6}$	100	1.400	1.683	1.203
$10^{7}$	100	1.296	1.197	0.924
$10^{8}$	100	1.273	1.150	0.903
$10^{9}$	100	1.269	1.144	0.902
$10^{10}$	100	1.270	1.145	0.902
_				
$10^{5}$	250	1.555	2.348	1.510
$10^{6}$	250	1.371	1.318	0.961
$10^{7}$	250	1.239	1.015	0.819
$10^{8}$	250	1.212	0.990	0.816
$10^{9}$	250	1.211	0.984	0.812
$10^{10}$	250	1.203	0.978	0.813
-				
$10^{5}$	500	1.551	2.182	1.407
$10^{6}$	500	1.358	1.203	0.886
$10^{7}$	500	1.218	0.962	0.790
$10^{8}$	500	1.192	0.939	0.788
$10^{9}$	500	1.191	0.939	0.789
$10^{10}$	500	1.193	0.939	0.787

Table 5.3: Model and observed line ratios for the detected SO transitions.



Figure 5.9: The RADEX modelling results of the selected SO line ratios. From left to right are the three ratios:  $J = 7_8 - 6_7/J = 7_7 - 6_6$ ,  $J = 7_8 - 6_7/J = 8_7 - 7_6$  and  $J = 7_7 - 6_6/J = 8_7 - 7_6$ . The solid black line is the observed line ratio and the dotted black lines are the error bars. The shaded region highlights the temperature and density conditions chosen for the location of the SO in the LIME modelling.

to H<sub>2</sub>. This was done in order to match the observed peak in the integrated intensity of the disk component for each of the two transitions: 80 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> for the  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$  transition and 124 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> for the  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$ . A model for a full disk was calculated with a fractional abundance of  $3.5 \times 10^{-7}$  with respect to H<sub>2</sub> resulting in a peak intensity for each of the lines of  $92 \text{ mJy beam}^{-1} \text{ km s}^{-1}$  and  $109 \text{ mJy beam}^{-1} \text{ km s}^{-1}$  respectively. These values match the peak emission of the observations within  $\pm 1\sigma$ . The residual maps of the observed integrated intensity minus the model integrated intensity for the two lines are shown in Figure 5.10. The residuals show that the observed emission is asymmetric peaking in the north east region of the disk and that a full disk is not an accurate representation of the data. A second model was run restricting the SO to a specific angular region of the disk. A 45° wedge of emission was calculated with the optimal position picked by eye from the residual maps to be from  $0^{\circ}$  to 45° from the disk's major axis. A fractional abundance of  $5.0 \times 10^{-6}$  with respect to  $H_2$  resulted in a peak intensity for each of the lines of 93 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup> km s<sup>-1</sup> and 96 mJy  $beam^{-1}$  km s<sup>-1</sup> respectively. These values match the peak emission

of the observations within  $\pm 2\sigma$ . This fractional abundance is more than an order of magnitude greater than the 'depleted' sulphur fractional abundance observed dark clouds (SO/H<sub>2</sub>  $\approx 10^{-8}$ ; Ruffle *et al.* 1999). This suggests that there are energetic processes occurring in HD 100546 releasing a source of refractory sulphur into the gas phase. The fractional abundance of SO derived from the LIME modelling is model dependent as it depends on the gas density of the region of the disk where the SO is located. This model well reproduces the integrated intensity; however, the kinematics trace red-shifted disk emission. The peak in both of the line profiles for the wedge models is  $1.7 \times$  the observed line profile peaks and the model emission is over a narrower velocity range. The model line profiles for both the disk and the wedge models are compared with the observed line profiles in Figure 5.11. Further refinement of the disk emission component requires better data as the emission is the same size scale as the beam.

## 5.6 Discussion

# 5.6.1 Location and abundance of the detected SO emission

This Chapter presents the first detection SO in the protoplanetary disk around HD 100546. In the image plane there is a clear detection of two lines in the integrated intensity maps and the the S/N in the channel maps and line profile is improved by stacking. From the morphology of the line profile and the asymmetric distribution of the emission it is likely there are two components of emission: a wedge of disk emission and a blue-shifted component (at  $\approx$  -5 km s<sup>-1</sup>). We use a matched filter to better determine the relative intensities of the SO lines in the data set and confirm the detection of three transitions and a non detection of the lowest energy transition. The relative intensities of the three detected lines are used to motivate the location of SO in the disk using LIME radiative transfer



Figure 5.10: Residual maps from the disk emission integrated intensity and the LIME models for each of the transitions. Top: disk emission minus disk model. Bottom: disk emission minus wedge model. Overlaid are dashed -5,-4 and  $-3\sigma$  contours and solid 3, 4 and  $5\sigma$  contours.



Figure 5.11: Line profiles of the individual  $J=7_7-6_6$  (left) and  $J=7_8-6_7$  (right) transitions with the LIME model line profiles plotted on the top: disk model (red) and wedge model (blue).

modelling. The residuals from the observed and modelled integrated intensity maps reveal that the integrated emission is indeed asymmetric peaking northeast of the source position. This is coincident with a 'hot-spot' observed in CO emission relating to a possible disk warp (Walsh *et al.*, 2017). The CO J = 3 - 2emission from the HD 100546 disk is asymmetric along the minor axis with the emission peaking in the north east region of the disk. Since this CO emission is optically thick it should be tracing the temperature of the gas and therefore reflects an non-axisymmetric temperature structure. The SO can be modelled as a wedge of emission in this region. The excess blue-shifted component (-5 km s<sup>-1</sup> with respect to the source velocity) is spatially inconsistent with the expected location of blue-shifted Keplerian disk emission. This emission could be attributed to a disk wind. This hypothesis is summarised in a cartoon in Figure 5.12.

None of the four SO lines in the complementary HD 97048 Cycle 0 data (see Walsh *et al.*, 2016a) using the imaging methods detailed in Sections 5.3 and 5.4. The stacked emission in the channel maps at a velocity resolution of 1 km s<sup>-1</sup> reaches an rms noise of 6 mJy beam<sup>-1</sup>, and there was no significant response using the matched filter analysis. This supports the hypothesis that SO is tracing a

#### 5. SO IN THE HD 100546 DISK



Figure 5.12: Cartoon of HD 100546 showing the wedge region of disk emission and the disk wind traced in SO.

physical mechanism unique to HD 100546. The disks around HD 100546 and HD 97048 have significantly different structures: the gap(s) in the sub-mm dust are further from the star in HD 97048 and there are no protoplanet candidates directly detected in this disk (Quanz *et al.*, 2012; van der Plas *et al.*, 2017; Walsh *et al.*, 2016a). But, there is a recent indirect detection of a planet at 130 au (Pinte *et al.*, 2019). Further detailed modelling is required to determine the chemical origin of the SO emission in the HD 100546 disk and how the physical and chemical conditions differ from those in the HD 97048 disk.

The only other disk from which SO emission has been imaged is AB Aur (Pacheco-Vázquez *et al.*, 2016). In this transition disk the SO is located further from the star in a ring from approximately 145 to 384 au with a maximum modelled abundance of  $2 \times 10^{-10}$  with respect to H<sub>2</sub>. The SO, like in HD 100456, is thought to reside in a layer between the surface and the midplane of the disk. The relative abundance of SO observed in AB Aur is a few orders of magnitude less

than in HD 100546, so the emission is not necessarily tracing the same process. In AB Aur, SO is proposed as a chemical tracer of the early stages of planet formation as the abundance of SO appears to decrease towards the disk's dust trap, a local pressure maximum thought to be the site of future planet formation (e.g.; van der Marel *et al.*, 2013).

### 5.6.2 Sulphur chemistry

Sulphur chemistry, particularly the evolution of S-bearing molecules on grain surfaces, is not fully understood as current models fail to reproduce observed abundances (e.g.; Guilloteau *et al.*, 2016). If the observations are probing a wedge or partial ring of SO, the inner edge of the emission coincides with the inner edge of the sub-millimetre dust ring at approximately 20 au. Since HD 100546 is a transition disk the midplane material is exposed to far-UV photons from the central star. This will cause the desorption of molecules from icy grain mantles.  $H_2O$  ice has been observed in this disk (Honda *et al.*, 2016) and  $H_2S$ ice is a primary component of cometary ices (Bockelée-Morvan *et al.*, 2000). The photodissociation of these molecules originating from cosmic rays or UV photons, depending on the height of the gas in the disk, would create the reactants needed to form SO;

$$H_2O + h\nu \longrightarrow OH + H$$
 (5.1)

$$\longrightarrow O + H + H$$
 (5.2)

$$H_2S + h\nu \longrightarrow HS + H$$
 (5.3)

- $\longrightarrow$  S + H + H (5.4)
- $HS + O \longrightarrow SO + H$  (5.5)
- $S + OH \longrightarrow SO + H.$  (5.6)

These two SO formation reactions have no reaction barrier (KIDA: KInetic Database for Astrochemistry http://kida.obs.u-bordeaux1.fr/). There are a few possible reactions for the destruction of SO to form SO<sub>2</sub> (Millar & Herbst, 1990);

$$SO + O \longrightarrow SO_2 + h\nu$$
 (5.7)

$$SO + OH \longrightarrow SO_2 + H.$$
 (5.8)

In AB Aur the abundance of SO decreases with increasing density towards the disk's dust trap. This is attributed to the increase in conversion of SO to  $SO_2$  via radiative association with atomic oxygen and then freeze out of  $SO_2$ onto dust grains (Pacheco-Vázquez *et al.*, 2016). In HD 100546, the density and temperature of the disk may have been perturbed creating the conditions for the localised formation of the observed asymmetric SO. However, chemical modeling of warped disks and associated temperature perturbations are required to confirm this hypothesis.

From observations of cometary volatiles, and for the particular case of 67P, the total abundance of sulphur-bearing species detected is consistent with the solar abundance of sulphur (Calmonte *et al.*, 2016). This means that if our solar system is typical then the observed depletion of sulphur in circumstellar regions may be an observational effect as we have not been able to detect the various forms of sulphur. The form of the sulphur, whether it resides in refractory or volatile form in planet-forming disks is still an open question. For the SO detected in HD 100546 it is unclear as to its origin, e.g., if it is a result of the volatile reactions described above or whether it has been released from refractory materials due to a shock as suggested by the high abundance in the models. Further observations may make this clearer.

### 5.6.3 What is the SO tracing?

The influence of the massive companion at approximately 10 au in the disk may cause the disk velocity structure to depart from simple Keplerian rotation in the inner region. The protoplanet embedded in the disk at 50 au may also have an effect (Quillen, 2006). If the disk is warped, the line of sight inclination will vary radially changing the velocity structure. Previous observations with APEX show that the  ${}^{12}$ CO emission from the HD 100546 protoplanetary disk is asymmetric (Panić et al., 2010) suggesting that one side of the outer disk is colder by 10-20 K than the other or that there is a shadow on the outer disk caused by a warped geometry of the inner disk. Shadows resulting from disk warps and their effect on gas kinematics have been observed in a few other sources, e.g., HD 142527 (Casassus et al., 2015a). There is evidence for a possible warp in the inner 100 au of the HD 100546 disk from a detailed study of the CO J = 3 - 2kinematics (Walsh et al., 2017). The spatial resolution of the HD 100546 Cycle 0 observations is limited to approximately 100 au along the minor axis of the disk so it is unclear what is causing the non-Keplerian motions. Since previous observations point towards this star hosting at least one massive companion, a warped disk is a favoured hypothesis. A warp would directly expose the northeast side of the disk to heating by the central star, creating locally the conditions for the formation of SO and the launching of a disk wind. The non-Keplerian motions in the inner 100 au of this disk could explain the discrepancy in the kinematics of the best fit model for the SO and the observations.

Disk dispersal is predicted to occur on a timescale up to 10 times shorter than observed disk lifetimes (Alexander *et al.*, 2014). This process limits the time available for giant planet formation, decreases the gas to dust ratio in the disk, and the mass loss will have an effect on the chemical content of the disk. In planet-forming Class II disks, jets and/or outflows are not the main driver of disk

dispersal. Instead the removal of angular momentum from the disk material can be achieved by slower disk winds (< 30 km s<sup>-1</sup>). Photoevaporative disk winds are thought to be the primary disk dispersal mechanism (Alexander et al., 2014). MHD disk winds also drive disk dispersal but are less well understood (Ercolano & Pascucci, 2017). Evidence of photoevaporative disk winds has been detected from a number of sources in the form of blue-shifted (up to 10 km s<sup>-1</sup>) line profiles of forbidden line emission in the optical (e.g.; Ercolano & Owen, 2016; Pascucci *et al.*, 2011b). In addition to this, ALMA observations show a spatially resolved molecular disk wind originating from the HD 163296 disk (Klaassen et al., 2013b), and a molecular protostellar outflow from TMC1A launched by a disk wind originating from a Keplerian disk (Bjerkeli *et al.*, 2016). We checked for any large scale or high velocity  $(>10 \text{ km s}^{-1})$  CO or SO emission from HD 100546 but none was detected. Gas launched from the HD 100546 disk surface with a velocity of a few km  $s^{-1}$  would have a blue shift along the line of sight to the observer and could account for the blue-shifted emission. The mechanism for launching this material and why it is traced in the SO emission is unclear. The lack of observed excess blue-shifted CO emission is due to the SO originating from a layer in the disk that is higher than the emitting layer of the CO J = 3 - 2 (E<sub>u</sub> =33.19 K) gas. To see this effect in CO will require observations of higher J transition lines which will be tracing the warmer gas in the atmosphere. We surmise that the red-shifted counterpart of the disk wind, launching from the far side of the disk, is obscured by the optically thick dust disk. Determination of the chemical origin of the SO will help to shed light on whether the wind is MHD driven (ion-molecule chemistry) or photoevaporative (photon-dominated chemistry) in nature.

An alternative explanation for the SO emission is that it is the result of an accretion shock due to a circumplanetary disk. The position angle of the SO emission coincides with the observed infrared point source in the disk at approximately 50 au that has been attributed to a protoplanet (see Figure 5.13 Currie *et al.*, 2015; Quanz *et al.*, 2013, 2015). Future ALMA observations at a higher spatial and spectral resolution will help determine if the SO emission is due to an accreting giant planet. As SO is a known shock tracer this is a valid hypothesis that should be tested.



Figure 5.13: Observations of HD 100546 with VLT/NACO at L' band that detect a point source in the disk at a de-projected radius of  $\approx 50$  au (Quanz *et al.*, 2015)

# 5.7 Conclusions

This work has shown that SO is detectable in protoplanetary disks with ALMA by uncovering a sulphur reservoir in the HD 100546 protoplanetary disk. The S abundance required to reproduce the emission is > 3 orders of magnitude larger than the "depleted" value assumed in the ISM. This is strong evidence of a shock origin for the S that is then incorporated into SO. In addition, it is discussed that SO may be a tracer of a molecular disk wind or a circumplanetary disk. New data with better spatial and spectral resolution are required to truly disentangle the different components of the emission in the case of a wind. Data with a beam less than the semi-major axis of the planets orbit are required to determine if the SO is directly tracing a forming planet. An ALMA Cycle 7 proposal has been accepted on the basis of the work presented in this Chapter and the observations are currently underway.

# Chapter 6

# Tapping into the semi-refractory reservoir in protoplanetary disks

# 6.1 Introduction

As discussed in Chapters 1 and 5, sulphur bearing volatiles are observed to be depleted in protoplanetary disks by a factor of  $\approx 10^3$  relative to the cosmic S abundance. A more significant,  $\approx 10^{4-5}$  times, level of depletion, is observed in silicon that has a solar abundance of Si/H = 4 × 10<sup>-5</sup> (Asplund *et al.*, 2009). SiO is expected to be the most abundant Si bearing molecule in the gas phase at warm temperatures: the observed fractional abundance of SiO in dark clouds on the other hand is very low ( $\approx 10^{-12}$ ; Ziurys *et al.*, 1989). It is therefore proposed that most of the Si is in refractory form as high fractional abundances ( $\approx 10^{-6}$ ) of SiO are only detected in shocks (Martin-Pintado *et al.*, 1992). As Si is a primary constituent of the Earth's crust and the main component of the disk dust grains, the raw materials for building planets, this element is of particular interest. The Si and S abundances relative to other refractory elements in a disk can be derived from spectral observations of the stellar photosphere (Kama *et al.*, 2015). This enrichment in refractory materials in the photosphere is due to the accretion of disk material onto the star. The radiative rather than convective envelopes

# 6. TAPPING INTO THE SEMI-REFRACTORY RESERVOIR IN PROTOPLANETARY DISKS

	SiO		SO	
Transition	J = 8 - 7	J = 9 - 8	$J = 7_7 - 6_6$	$J = 7_8 - 6_7$
Frequency (GHz)	303.9268	347.3306	301.2861	304.0778
$E_{\rm up}({\rm K})$	58.35	75.02	71.0	62.1
$E_{a}(s^{-1})$	$1.464 \times 10^{-3}$	$2.204 \times 10^{-3}$	$3.429 \times 10^{-4}$	$3.609 \times 10^{-4}$

Table 6.1: SiO and SO transition data

The values for the line frequencies, Einstein A coefficients, and upper energy levels  $(E_{up})$  are from the Leiden Atomic and Molecular Database: http://home.strw.leidenuniv.nl/~moldata/ (LAMDA; Schöier *et al.*, 2005).

of the young Herbig Ae/Be stars leads to slow mixing timescales meaning that the accreted material remains near the stellar surface (Jermyn & Kama, 2018). While the photospheric abundances can characterise the level of dust depletion and the elemental ratios of the accreted material (Kama *et al.*, 2015), they do not necessarily reveal the full origin story of the nature of the reservoirs that carried those atoms through the disk. Being able to directly measure the volatile abundances of Si and S in protoplanetary disks provides an additional constraint on the total refractory abundances and gives insight into the nature of their main molecular carriers. This Chapter calculates the column densities of SiO and SO from observations of two SiO and SO lines observed in the HD 100546 and HD 97048 disks. These values are then compared with disk specific chemical models to identify the main molecular carrier and constrain their abundances.

# 6.2 Column density upper limits

The relevant SiO and SO lines targeted in both disks are are listed in Table 6.1. Only the two SO transitions that are robustly detected in HD 100546 are analysed in this Chapter. For each disk none of the SiO lines were detected in the image plane nor via matched filter analysis (Loomis *et al.*, 2018b). This was also the case for SO in the HD 97048 disk. In order to give the lowest upper limits, the non-detections of the two SiO and SO lines were stacked respectively in the

Table 6.2: ALMA Band 7 observations of SiO in the HD 97048 and HD 100546 disks.

	HD 97048		HD 100546	
Molecule	SiO	SO	SiO	SO
Synthesised beam	$0^{\prime\prime}.94 \times 0^{\prime\prime}.64$	$0''_{\cdot}94 \times 0''_{\cdot}64$	$1^{\prime\prime}_{\cdot}09 \times 0^{\prime\prime}_{\cdot}59$	$1''_{\cdot}09 \times 0''_{\cdot}6$
Beam P.A.	-46°	-46°	29°	$24^{\circ}$
$\sigma_{\rm rms} \ ({\rm mJy \ beam^{-1} \ per \ channel^a})$	6.8	4.9	5.0	4.2
Detected	Ν	Ν	Ν	Υ

<sup>*a*</sup> At a channel width of 1 km s<sup>-1</sup>

visibility domain for each disk using the CASA tools *mstransform* and *concat*. Spectra were extracted from the stacked channel maps using *specflux* from both Keplerian and elliptical masks (see Figure 6.1). For the HD 97048 disk both the masks were 800 au in radius and for the HD 100546 disk both masks were 500 au in radius. There is no clear signal in the resulting plots as all fluxes are less than the  $3\sigma$  level (calculated from the line free channels in the line profile extracted via an elliptical mask) further confirming the non-detections.

The rms noise  $(\sigma_{\rm rms})$  from the line free channels in the channel maps was used to calculate an  $3\sigma$  flux upper limit for the non-detected lines. Following the method in Carney *et al.* (2019):

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{n_{\rm p}}{n_{\rm ppb}}} \times dv \times \sigma_{\rm rms}, \tag{6.1}$$

where  $n_{\rm p}$  is the number of pixels included in the mask,  $n_{\rm ppb}$  is the number of pixels per beam and dv is the channel width of 1 km s<sup>-1</sup>. The disk averaged column density is then calculated using Equation 3.1 where the partition function  $(Q_{\rm rot})$ and the temperature-independent transition strength and dipole moment  $(S_{ul}\mu^3,$ in debye<sup>2</sup>) are taken from CDMS (Müller *et al.*, 2005). The integrated line flux,  $\int I_{\nu}dv$ , is 3  $\sigma$  in the case of the non-detections and for the SO detection in HD 100546 this is calculated by integrating the line profile shown in Figure 5.4 and this is 0.191 Jy km s<sup>-1</sup>. A range of excitation temperatures were used and

# 6. TAPPING INTO THE SEMI-REFRACTORY RESERVOIR IN PROTOPLANETARY DISKS



Figure 6.1: Stacked SiO (top) and SO (bottom) spectra extracted from the HD 97048 and HD 100546 disks with both elliptical and Keplerian masks. The black dashed line marks the  $3\sigma$  level where  $\sigma$  was calculated from the line free channels in the line profile extracted from the channel maps using an elliptical mask.

HD 97048			HD 100546		
$T_{ex}(K)$	$N_{\rm SiO}({\rm cm}^{-2})$	$N_{\rm SO}({\rm cm}^{-2})$	$T_{ex}(K)$	$N_{\rm SiO}({\rm cm}^{-2})$	$N_{\rm SO}({\rm cm}^{-2})$
50	$<\!7.8\! imes\!10^{12}$	$< 9.7 \times 10^{13}$	50	$< 1.3 \times 10^{13}$	$4.3 \times 10^{13}$
100	${<}7.4{\times}10^{12}$	$< 1.1 \times 10^{14}$	100	$< 1.3 \times 10^{13}$	$5.0 \times 10^{13}$
200	${<}1.0{\times}10^{13}$	${<}1.7{\times}10^{14}$	200	${<}1.9{\times}10^{13}$	$7.6  imes 10^{13}$
400	$< 1.3 \times 10^{13}$	$<\!\!2.2{ imes}10^{14}$	400	$<\!\!2.3{ imes}10^{13}$	$9.8 \times 10^{13}$

Table 6.3: SO and SiO column density upper limits and measurements.

the results are shown in Table 6.3. The upper limits are calculated with the molecular data for each of the stacked transitions but only the lower of the two values are listed in the table in order to give the lowest upper limit. The values are of order  $10^{13}$  to  $10^{14}$  cm<sup>-2</sup>. To put this into context, the CO surface density in the HD 163296 model in Chapter 3 ranges from  $10^{20}$  to  $10^{22}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> within the CO snowline.

# 6.3 Chemical modelling

Chemical modelling enables a determination of which different molecules the S and Si are partitioned into and if they are in the gas or ice phase. This will inform on the dominant S and Si carrier in both disks and allow a direct comparison to the upper limits and direct measurements from the observations and a constraint on the expected volatile abundance of SiO and SO.

### 6.3.1 Model set-up

The HD 100546 and HD 97048 physical disk models are the same as used in Chapters 5 and 4 respectively. Both are shown again in Figure 6.2 with the same color scales to allow for a direct comparison between the two sources. Shown is the gas density ( $n_{\rm H}$ ), the gas temperature, the UV-radiation field and the X-ray ionization rate. Additional parameters in the model are the dust temperature, host star luminosity and the cosmic ray ionisation rate assumed to be  $5 \times 10^{-17}$  s<sup>-1</sup>

Table 6.4: Select initial abu	ndances for S and Si bear	ring volatiles where a	$n_{\rm H}$ is the
number density of H nuclei.	Where grain is equivale	nt to ice.	

Species	$n(X_{\rm gas})/n_{\rm H}$	$n(X_{\rm grain})/n_{\rm H}$
SiO	$8.45 \times 10^{-10}$	$5.75 \times 10^{-10}$
SO	$1.70 \times 10^{-11}$	$9.36 \times 10^{-16}$
SiS	$4.00\times10^{-17}$	$5.18\times10^{-17}$
$\operatorname{CS}$	$4.16 \times 10^{-9}$	$8.85 \times 10^{-10}$
$\mathrm{SiH}_4$	$6.21\times10^{-14}$	$4.19 \times 10^{-9}$
$H_2S$	$6.19 \times 10^{-12}$	$2.94\times10^{-8}$

in the HD 100546 disk and  $1.7 \times 10^{-17}$  s<sup>-1</sup> in the HD 97048 disk to keep consistency with Kama *et al.* (2016a) and Bruderer *et al.* (2012), and Woitke *et al.* (2019), respectively. The HD 100546 model is more flared than the HD 970478 model. The HD 100546 has a radially increasing z/r varying from 0.5 to 2.0 and the HD 97048 has a constant z/r of 0.34. The HD 100546 disk gas temperature in the atmosphere and outer midplane is also warmer. The UV field and X-ray ionization rate are both higher in HD 97048 model.

The initial molecular abundances were determined by running a single point dark cloud chemical model from atomic initial conditions for 1 Myr. The gas and dust temperature were set to 10 K, n<sub>H</sub> to  $2.0 \times 10^4$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, and the cosmic ray ionisation rate to  $10^{-17}$  s<sup>-1</sup> (Drozdovskaya *et al.*, 2015). The initial volatile S and Si abundances in this model relative to n<sub>H</sub> were  $8.00 \times 10^{-8}$  and  $8.00 \times 10^{-9}$ respectively. Additionally,  $n(C)/n_{\rm H} = 1.40 \times 10^{-4}$ ,  $n(O)/n_{\rm H} = 3.20 \times 10^{-4}$  and  $n(N)/n_{\rm H} = 7.50 \times 10^{-5}$ . The resulting molecular gas and ice phase initial abundances relative to n<sub>H</sub> are shown in Table 6.4 for a select number of S and Si bearing volatiles after 1 Myr of chemical evolution. The main source of Si and S after 1 Myr are SiH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S ice, respectively.

The chemical code as described in Section 2.3, was run for 1 Myr for each disk model using the reaction network from Walsh *et al.* (2015). Gas phase reactions and freeze-out/desorption processes only are included as these are expected to



Figure 6.2: HD 100546 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disk models from Bruderer *et al.* (2012); Kama *et al.* (2016a); Woitke *et al.* (2019). From top to bottom:  $n_{\rm H}$  density (cm<sup>-3</sup>), gas temperature (K), UV field (G0) and X-ray ionization rate (s<sup>-1</sup>). The red dot marks the point in the disk where the time dependency of the abundances were explored in each model.

dominate in the warmer Herbig Ae/Be disks. After this time the molecular abundances have approached steady state in most regions of the disk.

### 6.3.2 Model results

Figures 6.3, 6.4, 6.5 and 6.6 show the 2D abundance distributions of the most abundant Si and S bearing molecules in both disks. In both cases the gas-phase molecules are constrained to a thin layer in disk atmosphere. This molecular layer is considerably thicker in the HD 100546 disk and this can be attributed to the differences in disk physical structure. The HD 100546 disk is more flared, has a higher gas temperature and lower X-ray ionisation rate and UV flux meaning that there is a larger column of gas in the disk where these molecules can survive in the gas phase.

In HD 100546 SiO is the dominant Si-bearing species but in comparison the SiO abundance in the HD 97048 disk is negligible. In HD 97048 SiS is the dominant Si and S bearing molecule in the molecular layer. There is also significant SiS in the HD 100546 disk  $(n(SiS)/n_{\rm H}) \approx 10^{-9}$ ). SO, SO<sub>2</sub>, CS have peak abundances in the HD 100546 disk that are at least 3 orders of magnitude greater than those in the HD 97048 disk. In the upper atmosphere atomic and ionised S and Si are present and these species account for rest of S and Si in the disk atmosphere.

There is significant ice-phase SiO in both disks  $(n(\text{GSiO})/n_{\text{H}}) \approx 10^{-8}$ , where G denotes that the molecule is frozen-out onto the dust grain). This and the ice phase SiH<sub>4</sub> accounts for almost all of the available volatile Si in this region of the disk. There is negligible gas phase SiH<sub>4</sub>. Most of the ice-phase S is locked up in the H<sub>2</sub>S ice in both disks. There is more ice phase SO in HD 97048 than in the HD 100546 disk and this is likely due to the HD 97048 disk being colder. As the grain surface chemistry is not included in this model care has to be taken when interpreting the ice phase abundances as they may go on to form other ices if a full chemical model is run.

As the disk has a radial and vertical density gradient it is more intuitive to calculate the vertically integrated column density to determine the most abundant species in the disk. These are shown in Figure 6.7 for SiO, SO, CS and SiS in each disk. From this it is very clear that the HD 100546 model is more molecule rich than the HD 97048 model. This is partly due to the large inner cavity in the HD 97048 model and freeze-out in the colder midplane of HD 97048 disk coupled with enhanced dissociation and ionization in the atmosphere. The differences in chemistry between the two models will be discussed further in the next Section.

### 6.4 Discussion

### 6.4.1 The detectability of SiO and SO

Figure 6.8 shows the model column densities of SiO and SO in each disk as a function of radius and over plotted in the grey box are the column densities calculated in Section 6.2. For both disks there is a radial region where the model SiO abundances are greater than the calculated upper limits. The angular resolution of the observations limits resolving emission on scales of to  $\approx 180$  au and  $\approx 100$  au in the HD 97048 and HD 100546 disks, respectively. As the detectable SiO region in HD 97048 is very close to the upper limit value and  $\approx 10$  au in radius this would not be detectable in the current observations. The detectable SiO region in HD 100546 is  $\approx 200$  au in diameter and on average at least an order of magnitude higher than the upper limit, therefore, this suggests that it should have been detected. While there are no disk specific studies on silicon chemistry with which to compare to, silicon chemistry has been studied in other environments. For example, Herbst *et al.* (1989) modelled SiO in dark clouds and found that the resulting fractional abundances was four orders of magnitude less than the observed upper limit from this work. As SiO is expected to make up 50%
# 6. TAPPING INTO THE SEMI-REFRACTORY RESERVOIR IN PROTOPLANETARY DISKS



Figure 6.3: Select gas phase molecular abundances with respect to  $n_{\rm H}$  in the HD 100546 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disks.



Figure 6.4: Select ice phase molecular abundances with respect to  $n_{\rm H}$  in the HD 100546 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disks.

# 6. TAPPING INTO THE SEMI-REFRACTORY RESERVOIR IN PROTOPLANETARY DISKS



Figure 6.5: Select atomic and ionic abundances with respect to  $n_{\rm H}$  in the HD 100546 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disks.



Figure 6.6: Abundances of SiH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S gas and ice with respect to  $n_{\rm H}$  in the HD 100546 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disks.

#### 6. TAPPING INTO THE SEMI-REFRACTORY RESERVOIR IN PROTOPLANETARY DISKS



Figure 6.7: Vertically integrated column densities for SiO, SO, CS and SiS in HD 100546 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disk models

of the available volatile silicon this has been attributed to either a more significant Si depletion or an incomplete chemical network. The non-detection of SO in the HD 97048 disk is consistent with the upper limit. On the other hand, the strength of the SO detection in HD 100546 disk appears to be inconsistent with the chemical model predictions. The chemical model predicts a higher column of SO than extracted from the model independent analysis from the observations in Chapter 5. Full line radiative transfer models of the specific transitions detected are required to make a direct comparison, as the observations only probe the region of emitting gas at specific frequencies, not the entire reservoir of SO as shown in the chemical models. In general, sulphur chemical models fail to reproduce the observed SO abundances (e.g.; Guilloteau *et al.*, 2016), again indicating more volatile depletion or incomplete or inaccurate sulphur reaction networks. Agúndez et al. (2018) model the gas phase chemistry in both a generic T-Tauri and a Herbig disk model. In their model the sulphur chemistry is calculated but no Si-bearing molecules are included in their network. Additionally X-ray induced processes are not included. In their Herbig disk model the SO has a column density of order  $10^{14}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> from  $\approx 10-100$  au (consistent with the HD 100546) observations) and  $10^{12}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> from >100 au. This is lower than the values in



Figure 6.8: Radial column denisties for SiO (top) and SO (bottom) in the HD 100546 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disks. Over-plotted in the grey box are the column densities from Table 6.3

Figure 6.8 for the inner disk shown here.

#### 6.4.2 Si and S chemistry

Both SiO and SiS have yet to be detected in a protoplanetary disk. In comparison, a variety of S and Si molecules are routinely detected in the outflows from forming stars and asymptotic giant branch (AGB) stars (e.g.; Brunner *et al.*, 2018; Massalkhi *et al.*, 2019; Wright *et al.*, 2020). The formation and destruction reactions pertinent to SiO, SO and SiS are investigated at  $10^4$  and  $10^5$  yrs. These are time steps where the rate of change in abundance is high. Figure 6.9 shows the gas and ice phase abundances of these species in time from a point in each

# 6. TAPPING INTO THE SEMI-REFRACTORY RESERVOIR IN PROTOPLANETARY DISKS



Figure 6.9: Relative abundances of select gas and ice phase Si and S bearing volatiles in time for a point in the HD 100546 (left) and HD 97048 (right) disk models.

disk. The point chosen is where the abundances peak in each disk and this is highlighted in Figure 6.2 with a red dot. This is at  $(r = 90 \text{ au}, z = 20 \text{ au}, n_{\rm H} = 3 \times 10^7 \text{ cm}^{-3}, T_{\rm gas} = 100 \text{ K})$  for HD 97048 and  $(r = 76 \text{ au}, z = 25 \text{ au}, n_{\rm H=2\times10^8 \text{ cm}^{-3}}, T_{\rm gas} = 200 \text{ K})$  for HD 100546.

In the HD 100546 disk at  $10^4$  and  $10^5$  yrs SiO is formed via three processes, all of equal significance, and there is an overall net increase in abundance. These are dissociative recombination:

$$SiO^+ + e^- \longrightarrow SiO + H_{e}$$

the neutral-neutral reaction:

$$\mathrm{Si} + \mathrm{O}_2 \longrightarrow \mathrm{SiO} + \mathrm{O}$$

and thermal desorption:

$$GSiO \longrightarrow SiO.$$

In comparison, in the HD 97048 disk there is a net decrease in SiO abundance at

the chosen point. At  $10^4$  yrs approximately 70% of the SiO is formed via proton transfer:

$$\mathrm{NH}_3 + \mathrm{SiOH}^+ \longrightarrow \mathrm{NH}_4^+ + \mathrm{SiO}.$$

The dissociative recombination reaction from above accounts for 15% of the SiO formation and the rest is formed via neutral-neutral reactions of Si with  $CO_2$ ,  $O_2$  and NO. By 10<sup>4</sup> years proton transfer accounts for 95% of the SiO formation. The only significant destruction pathway for SiO in both disks is via photo-ionization:

$$\mathrm{SiO} + h\nu \longrightarrow \mathrm{SiO}^+ + \mathrm{e}^-.$$

In the HD 97048 point the  $SiOH^+$  ion is a significant reactant compared to the HD 100546 point. The formation of  $SiOH^+$  depends on the above destruction recation for SiO and then the subsequent ion-molecule reaction:

$$H_2 + SiO^+ \longrightarrow SiOH^+ + H.$$

The SO has a similar destruction reaction to SiO in both disks via photoionization:

$$SO + h\nu \longrightarrow SO^+ + e^-$$
.

At both time steps in the HD 100546 disk the dominant formation pathway (80%) is via the neutral-neutral reaction:

$$S + O_2 \longrightarrow SO + O.$$

The reaction with OH accounts for a few percent and the rest is from desorption. In the HD 97048 disk the primary formation reaction for SO is

$$\mathrm{NH}_3 + \mathrm{SO}^+ \longrightarrow \mathrm{NH}_3^+ + \mathrm{SO}.$$

At the earlier time step the neutral-neutral reaction

$$O + SH \longrightarrow SO + H.$$

is also significant.

There are many more mechanisms for the destruction of SiS in the disk. These are various ion molecule exchange reactions with C<sup>+</sup>, H<sub>3</sub><sup>+</sup>, HCO<sup>+</sup>, He<sup>+</sup> and are present in both disks at both times. In both disks significant SiS is adsorbed to the grains. This is not seen for the SiO or SO and is because the binding energy of SiS is higher  $(3.8 \times 10^3 \text{ K})$  than for SiO  $(3.5 \times 10^3 \text{ K})$  and SO  $(3.5 \times 10^3 \text{ K})$  meaning it will be frozen out at warmer temperature in the disk. In the HD 100546 disk by  $10^3$  and  $10^4$  yrs thermal desorption is the primary formation mechanism for the SiS. In comparison, reactions with the HSiS<sup>+</sup> ion are significant in the HD 97048 disk where:

 $NH_3 + HSiS^+ \longrightarrow SiS + NH_4^+,$ 

$$HCN + HSiS^+ \longrightarrow SiS + HCNH^+$$

and

$$\mathrm{HSiS^{+} + e^{-} \longrightarrow SiS + H.}$$

Similar to the SiOH<sup>+</sup>, after thermal desorption, the  $\mathrm{HSiS^{+}}$  forms via photo-dissociation:

, C'II

COULT

$$GSIH_4 \longrightarrow SIH_4,$$
  

$$SiH_4 + h\nu \longrightarrow SiH_2 + H_2,$$
  

$$SiH_2 + h\nu \longrightarrow SiH_2^+ + e^-,$$
  

$$SiH_2^+ + S \longrightarrow HSiS^+ + H.$$

Overall, this is consistent with more SiO and SO formed and retained in the warmer disk (HD 100546) and in which the ionization rate is lower and UV field is weaker. On the other hand, the SiS formation is more efficient in the disk with the higher ionization rate and stronger UV field. A caveat of the above analysis is that no grain surface reactions were included. A follow up from this work would be to investigate the effect of including grain surface reactions that may convert S to  $H_2S$  and Si to  $SiH_4$  thus reducing the abundances of S and Si in the gas phase. This would also require updating the S and Si reactions in the chemical network from more recent works. For example, Laas & Caselli (2019) recently presented an updated gas-grain chemistry network to describe the depletion of S in dark clouds, but no Si reactions are considered. Nevertheless, SiS is predicted to be a tracer of ionization dominated chemistry in cool and massive protoplanetary disks.

# 6.4.3 Volatile sulphur depletion or enhancement in the HD 100546 disk?

Chapter 5 reported the detection of SO in the HD 100546 disk. The chemical model in this Chapter predicts a layer of SO in the disk out to 100's of au that would have been detectable out to  $\approx 150$  au. In comparison, the observations show that the SO emission is compact < 100 au and a comparison to models shows that the observed emission is also asymmetric. The SO model column density is also much higher than the value derived from the observations which are sensitive to the column density of the emitting gas through specific rotational transitions. As discussed in Chapter 5 S-bearing volatiles are observed to be depleted in disks. Recently, Kama *et al.* (2019) have shown, using photospheric abundances that  $89 \pm 8\%$  of the total sulphur abundance is locked in refractory materials (thought to be FeS). This would mean that  $\approx 1 - 10\%$  of the S is in volatile materials, this

# 6. TAPPING INTO THE SEMI-REFRACTORY RESERVOIR IN PROTOPLANETARY DISKS

is consistent with the  $n(S)/n_{\rm H}$  of  $8.00 \times 10^{-8}$  used in this model. Even given this though, model predictions of SO and other species tend to be at least an order of magnitude higher than upper limits and detections (Phuong *et al.*, 2018). This indicates that either (or both) the chemical network for the sulphur reactions is incomplete, the depletion of S is at the higher end of the Kama *et al.* (2019) value, and/or the physical model is not wholly representative of the source.

The SO emission in the HD 100546 disk is proposed to be attributed to either a disk wind or a circumplanetary disk. An MHD disk wind traced in SO has been detected from the HH 212 system and a molecular disk wind traced in CO has been detected originating from the HD 163296 disk (Klaassen *et al.*, 2013a; Tabone *et al.*, 2017). Both are associated with large scale outflows but there is no evidence for such an outflow towards the HD 100546 star and disk system. If the SO is liberated due to an accretion shock then the non-detection of the SiO places an upper limit on the strength of this shock. A proposal of follow up ALMA observations in Cycle 7 was accepted and are currently underway. These will target both SO, SiO and SiS lines in the HD 100546 disk at higher angular resolution and sensitivity.

### 6.5 Conclusion

This chapter takes the first detailed look at the sulphur and silicon chemistry in Herbig Ae disks. Silicon is the primary constituent of the dust in disks but the volatile component remains unconstrained both from an observational and modelling perspective. The non-detection of SiO in the HD 100546 disk is not consistent with the predictions from the chemical model whilst the non-detections of SO and SiO in the HD 97048 disk are consistent with the models. A significant decrease in the SO abundance in the HD 100546 disk model is required to match the observations. Further radiative transfer models of the detected and nondetected SO transitions using the results from the chemical model are required to confirm this. Given the evidence for gas-phase sulphur depletion and the high percentage of refractory sulphur needed in the models in Chapter 5, the argument for a volatile enhancement of sulphur in this disk via a shock to explain the HD 100546 observations still holds. Additionally, the disk wind interpretation is also still feasible as dedicated chemical models of the chemistry in disk winds do not yet exist. Finally, the chemical models enable mapping of the different reservoirs of gas and ice phase Si and S in both the HD 100546 and HD 97048 disks. This reveals that SiS is a significant reservoir of both S and Si in these warm disks and will provide key insight to the observed volatile depletion of sulphur in protoplanetary disks.

# Chapter 7 Conclusions

### 7.1 Summary

Molecular lines can be used to gain vital information on the physical and chemical conditions in disks. Constraining the properties of these disks leads to an understanding of the initial conditions of planet formation. This thesis has presented observations, analysis, and modelling of molecular line emission from four protoplanetary disks. These sources are all proposed to be hosting gas-giant planets. The following sections summarise the key findings of this thesis.

## 7.1.1 ${}^{13}C^{17}O$ as a tracer of disk gas mass

The total gas mass of a protoplanetary disk is most often inferred from observations of the most abundant CO isotopologues: <sup>12</sup>CO, <sup>13</sup>CO and C<sup>18</sup>O. ALMA has allowed for the routine detection of C<sup>18</sup>O in disks but the inferred gas masses have been anomalously low compared to the mm-dust derived masses. This has been primarily proposed to be due to the volatile depletion of carbon in disks (Miotello *et al.*, 2017). This can account for the low masses in disks under very chemical specific conditions (Bosman *et al.*, 2018; Schwarz *et al.*, 2018). Another complementary reason for the low gas masses may be that the C<sup>18</sup>O emission is optically thick and therefore not tracing the full column of gas in the disk. This

#### 7. CONCLUSIONS

can be verified, model independently, through observations of less abundant and therefore optically thinner CO isotopologues. Chapter 3 presents the first detections of <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O in protoplanetary disks, which is the rarest ( $\approx 120,000$  times less abundant than <sup>12</sup>C<sup>16</sup>O) stable isotopologue. The <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O J=3-2 transition is detected in the HD 163296 and HL Tau disks, and in both cases, a comparison to existing C<sup>18</sup>O observations towards these disks reveal that indeed the C<sup>18</sup>O lines are not optically thin throughout the entire radial extent.

The HD 163296 disk has been particularly well studied with the SMA and ALMA meaning that multiple CO isotopologue lines have been detected and modelled in previous work (Isella et al., 2016; Qi et al., 2011). This thesis utilises an existing 2D model of the gas density and temperature structure that has been shown to reproduce the existing observations. The  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$  J=3-2 line strength from the model is determined using the line radiative transfer code LIME and the existing model flux is significantly less than what is observed. A model with 3.5 times more mass fits well both the new <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O observations and the existing line observations. The new gas mass of 0.21  $M_{\odot}$  (at 101.5 pc) is  $\approx 10\%$  of the stellar mass and brings the gravitational stability of the disk into question. A Toomre Q analysis shows that the disk is currently stable with a minium Q value of  $\approx 6$ . Considering the disk mass lost through accretion in time, the simplest possible argument, and adding this mass back onto the disk results in a young unstable disk with a minimum Q of  $\approx 1$ . If this past instability is true then this may have been the origin of the four massive planets currently proposed to reside in the disk (Isella et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2018; Pinte et al., 2018; Teague et al., 2018).

After the 2015 ALMA long baseline observations of HL Tau, this has arguably become one of the most famous protoplanetary disks (ALMA Partnership *et al.*, 2015). Due to the high dust mass in the disk and under the assumption of an ISM gas-to-dust mass ratio ( $\approx 100$ ) this disk has historically been considered gravitationally unstable. Recent observations of C<sup>18</sup>O measure too low a gas mass for this to be the case (Wu et al., 2018). Due to the more embedded nature of the HL Tau disk compared to the HD 163296 disk there are fewer observations and well tested disk models of the molecular lines. However, there are many studies that fit the mm-sized dust observations with a radial surface density power law (e.g.; Kwon et al., 2015). Therefore, a similar analysis can be used for the molecular line emission. In this work, a simple power-law model is fit to the radial column density profile of the <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O derived assuming optically thin emission with the reasonable assumption that the observations are tracing the full column of CO gas from both sides of the disk and not accounting for any CO freeze-out. The greatest uncertainty in this gas mass calculation is the  $CO/H_2$ ratio. With a  $CO/H_2$  ratio consistent with recent disk chemical models (Bosman et al., 2018; Schwarz et al., 2018) there is now sufficient mass for the disk to be considered gravitationally unstable with  $Q_{\min}$  of  $\approx 1.1$ , a disk mass of 0.21 M<sub> $\odot$ </sub>, and a disk-to-star mass ratio of 0.12. The radial region of instability coincides with the location of a proposed planet-carved gap in the dust disk. This gap has been attributed to a Saturn to Jupiter mass planet (Dipierro et al., 2015b; Dong et al., 2018; Jin et al., 2016). Models of star-disk systems with similar masses as the HL Tau system form fragments with masses between 1-5  $M_{Jup}$  on timescales of  $10^3$  years (Boss, 2011). Therefore, the gravitational fragmentation of the HL Tau protoplanetary disk resulting in the formation of giant planet(s) may be the cause of the observed dust structures in the disk.

## 7.1.2 $H^{13}CO^+$ and $HC^{15}N$ in the HD 97048 disk

Observations of different molecular lines in protoplanetary disks provide valuable information on the gas kinematics, as well as constraints on the radial density and temperature structure of the gas. The HD 97048 disk has multiple rings of

#### 7. CONCLUSIONS

mm and micron-sized dust and there is a proposed Jupiter mass planet located in one of the gaps (Ginski *et al.*, 2016; Pinte *et al.*, 2019; van der Plas *et al.*, 2017; Walsh *et al.*, 2016a). Chapter 4 presented the first detections of the H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> and HC<sup>15</sup>N isotopologues in this disk. These new detections are compared to the ringed continuum mm-dust emission and the spatially resolved CO and HCO<sup>+</sup> emission. The H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> and HC<sup>15</sup>N emission show hints of ringed sub-structure whereas the optically thick tracers, CO and HCO<sup>+</sup>, do not. The HCO<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> intensity ratio across the disk it is radially constant (within the uncertainties), with a value of  $12 \pm 3$  which is consistent with optically thick HCO<sup>+</sup> emission.

A physio-chemical parametric disk structure of the HD 97048 disk with an analytical prescription for the HCO<sup>+</sup> abundance distribution is used to generate synthetic observations of the  $HCO^+$  and  $H^{13}CO^+$  disk emission assuming LTE. The best by-eye fit models require radial variations in the  $HCO^+/H^{13}CO^+$ abundance ratio and an overall enhancement in  $H^{13}CO^+$  relative to  $HCO^+$ . This highlights the need to consider isotope selective chemistry and in particular low temperature carbon isotope exchange reactions. This also points to the presence of a reservoir of cold molecular gas in the outer disk (T < 10 K, R > 200 au) despite the disk being hosted by an A-type star. Chemical models are required to confirm that isotope-selective chemistry alone can explain the observations as current models do not extend to the Herbig disks (e.g.; Woods & Willacy, 2009). With these data, it cannot be ruled out that the known dust substructure in the HD 97048 disk is responsible for the observed trends in molecular line emission. Higher spatial resolution observations are required to fully explore the chemistry in planet-carved dust gaps and the potential of different molecular lines to trace these phenomena. Nevertheless, this results shows that disks around Herbig Ae/Be stars may be cold enough for the freeze-out of CO.

### 7.1.3 SO in the HD 100546 disk

Sulphur-bearing volatiles are observed to be significantly depleted in interstellar and circumstellar regions. This missing sulphur is postulated to be mostly locked up in refractory form. Chapter 5 presents the first detection of sulphur monoxide (SO), a known shock tracer, in the HD 100546 protoplanetary disk. Two rotational transitions:  $J = 7_7 - 6_6$  (301.286 GHz) and  $J = 7_8 - 6_7$  (304.078 GHz) are detected in their respective integrated intensity maps. The stacking of these transitions results in a clear  $5\sigma$  detection in the stacked line profile. The emission is compact but is spectrally resolved and the line profile has two components. One component peaks at the source velocity and the other is blue-shifted by 5  $\rm km s^{-1}$ . The kinematics and spatial distribution of the SO emission are not consistent with that expected from a purely Keplerian disk. One explanation is that the blue-shifted emission could be due to a disk wind. The disk component was simulated using LIME and a physical disk structure. The disk emission is asymmetric and best fit by a wedge of emission in the north-east region of the disk coincident with a "hot-spot" observed in the <sup>12</sup>CO J = 3 - 2 line. The favoured hypothesis is that a possible inner disk warp directly exposes the north-east side of the disk to heating by the central star, creating the conditions to launch a disk wind across this azimuth. Chemical models of disk winds will help to elucidate why the wind is particularly highlighted in SO emission and whether or not a refractory source of sulphur is needed. An alternative explanation is that the SO is tracing an accretion shock from a circumplanetary disk associated with the proposed protoplanet embedded in the disk at 50 au. Ongoing ALMA Cycle 7 observations will enable a distinction between the two hypotheses.

### 7.1.4 Tapping into the semi-refractory reservoir of protoplanetary disks

Silicon is the primary component of the dust grains in protoplanetary disks, which are building blocks of planets. The refractory silicon abundance in disks is difficult to constrain but the volatile material is more accessible via observations of Si-containing molecules such as SiO. The volatile silicon reservoir in disks is unconstrained, both via observations and chemical models. Chapter 6 calculates upper limits for the non-detections of SiO in the HD 97048 and HD 100546 disk ( $\lesssim~10^{14}~{\rm cm}^{-2}).$  Additionally, the detected SO in HD 100546 and non-detected SO in HD 97048 are investigated. Two source specific physical models are used in conjunction with a disk chemical model to calculate the 2D abundance distributions of different Si and S-bearing molecules in each disk. The non-detection of SiO and SO in the HD 97048 disk were found to be consistent with the chemical model predictions. The HD 100546 model predicts significantly more SiO and SO than the upper limit and detection respectively. This is potentially due to incomplete chemical networks, disk model structures and/or increased volatile depletion. The models also reveal that SiS is a significant reservoir of both S and Si in these warm disks, particularly in the disk dominated by ionization, HD 97048. If confirmed as a warm molecular gas tracer in disks, SiS will provide key insight to the observed volatile depletion of silicon and sulphur in protoplanetary disks.

### 7.2 Future work

The following section describes follow up projects on the science presented in this thesis and considerations for future research by protoplanetary disk community as a whole.

#### 7.2.1 Disk gas masses

The natural extension of the work presented in Chapter 3 is to use ALMA to detect <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O in other disks to see if these results can be applied to the general population of Class I and Class II disks. Targeting disks with detections of C<sup>18</sup>O J=2-1 (Band 6) will allow for precise sensitivity estimates for detecting  ${}^{13}C^{18}O$ and  ${}^{13}C^{17}O$ . As shown in this thesis, accurate disk masses can be achieved with a moderate angular and spectral resolution (a beam size of  $\approx 0^{\prime\prime}5$  and a velocity resolution  $1 \text{ km s}^{-1}$ ). Unfortunately this will not circumvent the greatest source of uncertainty in disk gas masses: the  $CO/H_2$  ratio. Recent models have used  $C_2H$ observations to constrain the level of carbon depletion in the atmosphere (Miotello et al., 2019). This species can be included in same spectral setting as the CO lines to estimate the carbon depletion factor. Also, including  $N_2H^+$  would allow for an additional constraint on the location of the CO snowline and thus the disks? midplane temperature structure. As demonstrated by Williams & Best (2014), a grid of parametric models with different gas masses, temperature structures, and gas-to-dust mass ratios can be computed and then the model integrated line fluxes calculated and compared to the observations. Repeating and extending this to the less abundant CO isotopologues will enable a determination as to whether or not disk gas masses have been systematically underestimated due to the high optical depth of the C<sup>18</sup>O line emission. This will contribute necessary information to the current disagreement between disk and exoplanetary system masses (Manara *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, for the more gas rich disks, like HD 100546 and HD 97048, revised gas masses will give important constraints on the gravitational stability of these objects. As ALMA is indicating that planet formation seems to be happening early ( $\lesssim 10^6$  yrs), then the formation of the proposed gas-giant planets in these systems will be more feasible via gravitational instability rather than core accretion.

#### 7. CONCLUSIONS

#### 7.2.2 Disk midplane temperature structures

Both the HD 163296 and HL Tau disks require dedicated high spatial resolution ( $\approx 0''_{...1}$ ) and high sensitivity observations in order to directly determine the location of the CO snowline. The proposed observations would again target  $^{13}C^{18}O$  and  $^{13}C^{17}O$ , but at Band 3. Lower frequency observations are preferred as this will limit the loss in line emission due to the known optically thick dust in these disks. As shown in Chapter 3, C<sup>18</sup>O will not trace the CO midplane snowline directly in more massive disks due to the high column of gas in the disk atmosphere. Constraining the location of the midplane CO snowline is important for multiple reasons. Grain growth is proposed to be enhanced at snowline locations and therefore these are potential locations for planet formation via core accretion. Dust grains with CO ice mantles are also the feedstock for complex organic molecules like CH<sub>3</sub>OH which are in turn the building blocks of more exotic pre-biotic molecules (Walsh *et al.*, 2016b).

### 7.2.3 Key molecular tracers in Herbig Ae/Be disks

The disks around Herbig stars are the formation sites of gas-giant planetary systems. A-type stars have the highest occurrence rate of gas-giant planets across the stellar mass range (Johnson *et al.*, 2010; Reffert *et al.*, 2015, ; detections via the radial velocity method). Therefore, the radial and vertical chemical structure of these disks need to be mapped in order to determine the disk composition and the physical and chemical conditions within planet-carved gaps. This will set the composition of the gas-giant planet atmospheres, therefore future studies will enable the accurate interpretation of future high resolution exoplanet transmission spectra with, e.g., JWST and Ariel. The HD 97048 disk is among one of the brightest Herbig disks. The disk is gas rich but has yet to be fully targeted with ALMA for molecular line observations. This project would target the known key disk tracers: <sup>13</sup>C<sup>17</sup>O, HCO<sup>+</sup>, HCN, CN, C<sub>2</sub>H, N<sub>2</sub>H<sup>+</sup> (and isotopologues) with the spatial resolution to resolve emission within and outside the dust gaps ( $\approx 10$  au). These observations will allow for a more accurate 2D physical and chemical disk model to be constructed and the composition of the planet feeding material to be determined. The disk mass and CO snowline could also be constrained. These observations would also validate or disprove the key result from Chapter 4 which is that H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> is tracing a reservoir of cold gas in the outer disk.

#### 7.2.4 SO as a tracer of circumplanetary disks

While there is overwhelming evidence that planets have already formed in disks, circumplanetary disks (CPDs) have remained unconvincingly detected in the continuum and molecular line emission. Detecting CPDs are fundamental for understanding how planets assemble from the surrounding protoplanetary disk material. In the HD 100546 disk, there is evidence that SO is tracing an accretion shock from a CPD or a disk wind is another possibility. SO is a known tracer of shocked gas and has been shown to trace accretion shocks at the disk-envelope interface in young Class I sources. The accretion of material from protoplanetary disk to planet can be viewed as a scaled down version of this and it is expected that the same observational tracers of shocks are applicable when studying giant planet formation. Therefore, SO has the potential to be a unique probe of embedded CPDs, which have so far only been convincingly detected in H $\alpha$  emission (PDS 70; Wagner et al., 2018). A proposal based on the work presented in this thesis was accepted in Cycle 7 and the observations are currently underway. These observations target SO, shock tracers (SiO,  $CH_3OH$ ), and SiS in the HD100546 disk. The first successful confirmation of the presence of a CPD traced in a molecular line opens doors to new molecular line diagnostics of planet-disk interactions at high angular resolution and the physics and chemistry of giant

planet formation.

### 7.3 Final remarks

Gas giant planets on wide orbits are the potential exoplanet population currently probed with ALMA via the ringed depletion of continuum emission. These dust structures motivate the need for studies on the distribution of molecular gas in these potentially planet-forming disks. This thesis has shown that molecular lines are powerful probes of disk physical and chemical conditions. Further progress requires observations of molecular lines in disks at high sensitivity with the angular resolution required to properly probe the planet-building environment. The sensitivity of ALMA means that the rarest of isotopologues can be targeted.

Additionally, disk models that accurately represent the dust and gas distribution in disks are sorely needed. Specifically, models which take into account the gas within the dust cavities and multiple rings of gas and dust depletion. Such models will maximise the power of molecular line emission to provide much needed information on the physical and chemical conditions in planet-forming disks. Efforts also need to be made to find models to fit multiple observable from different molecules and at different frequencies, e.g., both HD and rare CO isotopologue lines. Complementary observations of the dust at shorter and longer wavelengths than ALMA at comparable spatial resolution are also needed. The distribution of both the larger and smaller disk grains are important for the disk chemistry. Currently SPHERE is proving incredible scattered light images of disks (Avenhaus et al., 2018) and future observations with ngVLA and SKA will provide unprecedented observations of dust that has grown to centimeter sizes (Andrews *et al.*, 2018b; Wilner, 2004). Similarity SOFIA will allow for observations of HD which will prove an additional constraint on disk gas masses. Molecules like H<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> which are not accessible with ALMA but that will be with JWST will

give information on the composition of the disk atmosphere in the planet-building zone.

Finally, because there is growing evidence that planet formation is happening early (<1 Myr) these younger sources need to be targeted in observing campaigns. Targeting the rarest isotopologues will limit the effect of envelope and cloud contamination at ALMA Band 3. This will allow us to view the initial conditions of planet formation enabling us to connect the dots in the journey from protoplanetary disks to exoplanets.

# References

- ADAMS, F.C., LADA, C.J. & SHU, F.H. (1987). Spectral evolution of young stellar objects. ApJ, 312, 788–806. 3
- AGÚNDEZ, M., ROUEFF, E., LE PETIT, F. & LE BOURLOT, J. (2018). The chemistry of disks around T Tauri and Herbig Ae/Be stars. A&A, 616, A19. 16, 116, 164
- AIKAWA, Y., UMEBAYASHI, T., NAKANO, T. & MIYAMA, S.M. (1997). Evolution of Molecular Abundance in Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 486, L51–L54. 16
- AIKAWA, Y., UMEBAYASHI, T., NAKANO, T. & MIYAMA, S.M. (1999). Evolution of Molecular Abundances in Protoplanetary Disks with Accretion Flow. *ApJ*, **519**, 705–725. 16
- AIKAWA, Y., VAN ZADELHOFF, G.J., VAN DISHOECK, E.F. & HERBST, E.
  (2002). Warm molecular layers in protoplanetary disks. A&A, 386, 622–632.
  16
- AIKAWA, Y., FURUYA, K., NOMURA, H. & QI, C. (2015). Analytical Formulae of Molecular Ion Abundances and the N<sub>2</sub>H<sup>+</sup> Ring in Protoplanetary Disks. *ApJ*, 807, 120. 44, 95, 96, 115

- AKIYAMA, E., MOMOSE, M., HAYASHI, H. & KITAMURA, Y. (2011). Thermal Structure of a Protoplanetary Disk around HD 163296: A Study of Vertical Temperature Distribution by CO Emission Lines. *Publications of the Astronomical Society of Japan*, 63, 1059–1069. 77
- AKIYAMA, E., HASEGAWA, Y., HAYASHI, M. & IGUCHI, S. (2016). Planetary System Formation in the Protoplanetary Disk around HL Tauri. ApJ, 818, 158. 72
- ALEXANDER, R., PASCUCCI, I., ANDREWS, S., ARMITAGE, P. & CIEZA, L. (2014). The Dispersal of Protoplanetary Disks. In H. Beuther, R.S. Klessen, C.P. Dullemond & T. Henning, eds., *Protostars and Planets VI*, 475. 10, 147, 148
- ALMA PARTNERSHIP, BROGAN, C.L., PÉREZ, L.M., HUNTER, T.R., DENT,
  W.R.F., HALES, A.S., HILLS, R.E., CORDER, S., FOMALONT, E.B., VLAHAKIS, C., ASAKI, Y., BARKATS, D., HIROTA, A., HODGE, J.A., IMPELLIZZERI, C.M.V., KNEISSL, R., LIUZZO, E., LUCAS, R., MARCELINO,
  N., MATSUSHITA, S., NAKANISHI, K., PHILLIPS, N., RICHARDS, A.M.S.,
  TOLEDO, I., ALADRO, R., BROGUIERE, D., CORTES, J.R., CORTES, P.C.,
  ESPADA, D., GALARZA, F., GARCIA-APPADOO, D., GUZMAN-RAMIREZ,
  L., HUMPHREYS, E.M., JUNG, T., KAMENO, S., LAING, R.A., LEON,
  S., MARCONI, G., MIGNANO, A., NIKOLIC, B., NYMAN, L.A., RADISZCZ,
  M., REMIJAN, A., RODÓN, J.A., SAWADA, T., TAKAHASHI, S., TILANUS,
  R.P.J., VILA VILARO, B., WATSON, L.C., WIKLIND, T., AKIYAMA, E.,
  CHAPILLON, E., DE GREGORIO-MONSALVO, I., DI FRANCESCO, J., GUETH,
  F., KAWAMURA, A., LEE, C.F., NGUYEN LUONG, Q., MANGUM, J.,
  PIETU, V., SANHUEZA, P., SAIGO, K., TAKAKUWA, S., UBACH, C., VAN
  KEMPEN, T., WOOTTEN, A., CASTRO-CARRIZO, A., FRANCKE, H., GAL-

LARDO, J., GARCIA, J., GONZALEZ, S., HILL, T., KAMINSKI, T., KURONO, Y., LIU, H.Y., LOPEZ, C., MORALES, F., PLARRE, K., SCHIEVEN, G., TESTI, L., VIDELA, L., VILLARD, E., ANDREANI, P., HIBBARD, J.E. & TATEMATSU, K. (2015). The 2014 ALMA Long Baseline Campaign: First Results from High Angular Resolution Observations toward the HL Tau Region. *ApJ*, 808, L3. 20, 23, 25, 53, 71, 73, 74, 76, 81, 82, 174

- ANDRE, P., WARD-THOMPSON, D. & BARSONY, M. (1993). Submillimeter continuum observations of Rho Ophiuchi A - The candidate protostar VLA 1623 and prestellar clumps. ApJ, 406, 122–141. 3
- ANDREWS, S.M. (2020). Observations of Protoplanetary Disk Structures. arXiv e-prints, arXiv:2001.05007. 124
- ANDREWS, S.M., ROSENFELD, K.A., WILNER, D.J. & BREMER, M. (2011).A Closer Look at the LkCa 15 Protoplanetary Disk. ApJ, 742, L5. 8
- ANDREWS, S.M., WILNER, D.J., ZHU, Z., BIRNSTIEL, T., CARPENTER, J.M., PÉREZ, L.M., BAI, X.N., ÖBERG, K.I., HUGHES, A.M., ISELLA, A. & RICCI, L. (2016). Ringed Substructure and a Gap at 1 au in the Nearest Protoplanetary Disk. ApJ, 820, L40. 15
- ANDREWS, S.M., HUANG, J., PÉREZ, L.M., ISELLA, A., DULLEMOND, C.P., KURTOVIC, N.T., GUZMÁN, V.V., CARPENTER, J.M., WILNER, D.J., ZHANG, S., ZHU, Z., BIRNSTIEL, T., BAI, X.N., BENISTY, M., HUGHES, A.M., ÖBERG, K.I. & RICCI, L. (2018a). The Disk Substructures at High Angular Resolution Project (DSHARP). I. Motivation, Sample, Calibration, and Overview. ApJ, 869, L41. 25, 26

- ANDREWS, S.M., WILNER, D.J., MACIAS, E., CARRASCO-GONZALEZ, C.
  & ISELLA, A. (2018b). Science with an ngVLA: Resolved Substructures in Protoplanetary Disks. arXiv e-prints, arXiv:1810.06598. 182
- ANSDELL, M., WILLIAMS, J.P., VAN DER MAREL, N., CARPENTER, J.M., GUIDI, G., HOGERHEIJDE, M., MATHEWS, G.S., MANARA, C.F., MIOTELLO, A., NATTA, A., OLIVEIRA, I., TAZZARI, M., TESTI, L., VAN DISHOECK, E.F. & VAN TERWISGA, S.E. (2016). ALMA Survey of Lupus Protoplanetary Disks. I. Dust and Gas Masses. ApJ, 828, 46. 22
- ANSDELL, M., WILLIAMS, J.P., MANARA, C.F., MIOTELLO, A., FACCHINI, S., VAN DER MAREL, N., TESTI, L. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2017). An ALMA Survey of Protoplanetary Disks in the  $\sigma$  Orionis Cluster. AJ, **153**, 240. 22
- ANSDELL, M., WILLIAMS, J.P., TRAPMAN, L., VAN TERWISGA, S.E., FAC-CHINI, S., MANARA, C.F., VAN DER MAREL, N., MIOTELLO, A., TAZZARI, M., HOGERHEIJDE, M., GUIDI, G., TESTI, L. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2018). ALMA Survey of Lupus Protoplanetary Disks. II. Gas Disk Radii. ApJ, 859, 21. 22
- ASPLUND, M., GREVESSE, N., SAUVAL, A.J. & SCOTT, P. (2009). The Chemical Composition of the Sun. ARA&A, 47, 481–522. 14, 151
- AVENHAUS, H., QUANZ, S.P., MEYER, M.R., BRITTAIN, S.D., CARR, J.S.
  & NAJITA, J.R. (2014). HD100546 Multi-epoch Scattered Light Observations.
  ApJ, 790, 56. 124
- AVENHAUS, H., QUANZ, S.P., GARUFI, A., PEREZ, S., CASASSUS, S., PINTE, C., BERTRANG, G.H.M., CACERES, C., BENISTY, M. & DO-MINIK, C. (2018). Disks around T Tauri Stars with SPHERE (DARTTS-S).

- I. SPHERE/IRDIS Polarimetric Imaging of Eight Prominent T Tauri Disks. ApJ, 863, 44. 8, 17, 182
- BALBUS, S.A. & HAWLEY, J.F. (1991). A powerful local shear instability in weakly magnetized disks. I - Linear analysis. II - Nonlinear evolution. ApJ, 376, 214–233. 7
- BARBER, C.B., DOBKIN, D.P., DOBKIN, D.P. & HUHDANPAA, H. (1996).
  The quickhull algorithm for convex hulls. ACM Trans. Math. Softw., 22, 469–483. 49
- BECK, T.L., BARY, J.S. & MCGREGOR, P.J. (2010). Spatially Extended Brackett Gamma Emission in the Environments of Young Stars. ApJ, 722, 1360–1372. 70
- BECKWITH, S.V.W., SARGENT, A.I., CHINI, R.S. & GUESTEN, R. (1990). A survey for circumstellar disks around young stellar objects. AJ, 99, 924–945. 11, 12, 20
- BENISTY, M., STOLKER, T., POHL, A., DE BOER, J., LESUR, G., DO-MINIK, C., DULLEMOND, C.P., LANGLOIS, M., MIN, M., WAGNER, K., HENNING, T., JUHASZ, A., PINILLA, P., FACCHINI, S., APAI, D., VAN BOEKEL, R., GARUFI, A., GINSKI, C., MÉNARD, F., PINTE, C., QUANZ, S.P., ZURLO, A., BOCCALETTI, A., BONNEFOY, M., BEUZIT, J.L., CHAU-VIN, G., CUDEL, M., DESIDERA, S., FELDT, M., FONTANIVE, C., GRAT-TON, R., KASPER, M., LAGRANGE, A.M., LECOROLLER, H., MOUILLET, D., MESA, D., SISSA, E., VIGAN, A., ANTICHI, J., BUEY, T., FUSCO, T., GISLER, D., LLORED, M., MAGNARD, Y., MOELLER-NILSSON, O., PRAGT, J., ROELFSEMA, R., SAUVAGE, J.F. & WILDI, F. (2017). Shadows and spirals in the protoplanetary disk HD 100453. A&A, 597, A42. 124

- BERGIN, E.A. & CLEEVES, L.I. (2018). Chemistry During the Gas-Rich Stage of Planet Formation. 137. 27
- BERGIN, E.A. & TAFALLA, M. (2007). Cold dark clouds: The initial conditions for star formation. ARA&A, 45, 339–396. 2
- BERGIN, E.A. & WILLIAMS, J.P. (2017). The Determination of Protoplanetary Disk Masses. 445, 1. 19, 78
- BERGIN, E.A., CLEEVES, L.I., GORTI, U., ZHANG, K., BLAKE, G.A., GREEN, J.D., ANDREWS, S.M., EVANS, N.J., II, HENNING, T., ÖBERG, K., PONTOPPIDAN, K., QI, C., SALYK, C. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2013).
  An old disk still capable of forming a planetary system. *Nature*, 493, 644–646.
  22, 66
- BERGIN, E.A., DU, F., CLEEVES, L.I., BLAKE, G.A., SCHWARZ, K., VISSER,
  R. & ZHANG, K. (2016). Hydrocarbon Emission Rings in Protoplanetary Disks
  Induced by Dust Evolution. ApJ, 831, 101. 28
- BIRNSTIEL, T., DULLEMOND, C.P. & BRAUER, F. (2010). Gas- and dust evolution in protoplanetary disks. A&A, 513, A79. 25
- BJERKELI, P., VAN DER WIEL, M.H.D., HARSONO, D., RAMSEY, J.P. & JØRGENSEN, J.K. (2016). Resolved images of a protostellar outflow driven by an extended disk wind. *Nature*, **540**, 406–409. 148
- BOCKELÉE-MORVAN, D., LIS, D.C., WINK, J.E., DESPOIS, D., CRO-VISIER, J., BACHILLER, R., BENFORD, D.J., BIVER, N., COLOM, P., DAVIES, J.K., GÉRARD, E., GERMAIN, B., HOUDE, M., MEHRINGER, D., MORENO, R., PAUBERT, G., PHILLIPS, T.G. & RAUER, H. (2000). New molecules found in comet C/1995 O1 (Hale-Bopp). Investigating the link between cometary and interstellar material. A&A, 353, 1101–1114. 14, 145

- BOLEY, A.C. (2009). The Two Modes of Gas Giant Planet Formation. ApJ,695, L53–L57. 9
- BONEBERG, D.M., PANIĆ, O., HAWORTH, T.J., CLARKE, C.J. & MIN, M. (2016). Determining the mid-plane conditions of circumstellar discs using gas and dust modelling: a study of HD 163296. MNRAS, 461, 385–401. 65
- BOOTH, R.A. & ILEE, J.D. (2019). Planet-forming material in a protoplanetary disc: the interplay between chemical evolution and pebble drift. MNRAS, 487, 3998–4011. 45
- BORUCKI, W.J. (2017). Kepler: A Brief Discussion of the Mission and Exoplanet Results. *Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society*, **161**, 38–65. 1
- BOSMAN, A.D., WALSH, C. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2018). CO destruction in protoplanetary disk midplanes: Inside versus outside the CO snow surface. A&A, 618, A182. 23, 67, 78, 173, 175
- Boss, A.P. (1997). Giant planet formation by gravitational instability. Science,276, 1836–1839. 72
- Boss, A.P. (1998). Evolution of the Solar Nebula. IV. Giant Gaseous Protoplanet Formation. ApJ, 503, 923–937. 9
- Boss, A.P. (2011). Formation of Giant Planets by Disk Instability on Wide Orbits Around Protostars with Varied Masses. ApJ, 731, 74. 10, 69, 82, 175
- BRICEÑO, C., LUHMAN, K.L., HARTMANN, L., STAUFFER, J.R. & KIRK-PATRICK, J.D. (2002). The Initial Mass Function in the Taurus Star-forming Region. ApJ, 580, 317–335. 71

#### REFERENCES

- BRIGGS, E.L. (1995). Development and Application of Methods for Performing Large Scale Electronic Structure Calculations. Ph.D. thesis, NORTH CAR-OLINA STATE UNIVERSITY. 40
- BRINCH, C. & HOGERHEIJDE, M.R. (2010). LIME a flexible, non-LTE line excitation and radiation transfer method for millimeter and far-infrared wavelengths. A&A, 523, A25. 49, 50, 60, 97, 137
- BRITTAIN, S.D., CARR, J.S., NAJITA, J.R., QUANZ, S.P. & MEYER, M.R. (2014). NIR Spectroscopy of the HAeBe Star HD 100546. III. Further Evidence of an Orbiting Companion? ApJ, 791, 136. 124
- BROGAN, C.L., HUNTER, T.R. & FOMALONT, E.B. (2018). Advanced Gain Calibration Techniques in Radio Interferometry. arXiv e-prints, arXiv:1805.05266. 39
- BRUDERER, S., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., DOTY, S.D. & HERCZEG, G.J. (2012). The warm gas atmosphere of the HD 100546 disk seen by Herschel. Evidence of a gas-rich, carbon-poor atmosphere? *A&A*, **541**, A91. 124, 156, 157
- BRUNNER, M., DANILOVICH, T., RAMSTEDT, S., MARTI-VIDAL, I., DE BECK, E., VLEMMINGS, W.H.T., LINDQVIST, M. & KERSCHBAUM, F. (2018). Molecular line study of the S-type AGB star W Aquilae. ALMA observations of CS, SiS, SiO and HCN. A&A, 617, A23. 165
- CALMONTE, U., ALTWEGG, K., BALSIGER, H., BERTHELIER, J.J., BIELER,
  A., CESSATEUR, G., DHOOGHE, F., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., FIETHE, B.,
  FUSELIER, S.A., GASC, S., GOMBOSI, T.I., HÄSSIG, M., LE ROY, L.,
  RUBIN, M., SÉMON, T., TZOU, C.Y. & WAMPFLER, S.F. (2016). Sulphurbearing species in the coma of comet 67P/Churyumov-Gerasimenko. MNRAS,
  462, S253–S273. 146

- CALVET, N., MUZEROLLE, J., BRICEÑO, C., HERNÁNDEZ, J., HARTMANN, L., SAUCEDO, J.L. & GORDON, K.D. (2004). The Mass Accretion Rates of Intermediate-Mass T Tauri Stars. AJ, 128, 1294–1318. 5
- CARDELLI, J.A., MEYER, D.M., JURA, M. & SAVAGE, B.D. (1996). The Abundance of Interstellar Carbon. ApJ, 467, 334. 80
- CARMONA, A., VAN DER PLAS, G., VAN DEN ANCKER, M.E., AUDARD, M., WATERS, L.B.F.M., FEDELE, D., ACKE, B. & PANTIN, E. (2011). A survey for near-infrared H<sub>2</sub> emission in Herbig Ae/Be stars: emission from the outer disks of HD 97048 and HD 100546. A&A, 533, A39. 21, 87, 124
- CARNEY, M.T., FEDELE, D., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., FAVRE, C., WALSH, C., BRUDERER, S., MIOTELLO, A., MURILLO, N.M., KLAASSEN, P.D., HEN-NING, T. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2018). Probing midplane CO abundance and gas temperature with DCO<sup>+</sup> in the protoplanetary disk around HD 169142. A&A, 614, A106. 56, 115
- CARNEY, M.T., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., GUZMÁN, V.V., WALSH, C., ÖBERG,
  K.I., FAYOLLE, E.C., CLEEVES, L.I., CARPENTER, J.M. & QI, C. (2019).
  Upper limits on CH<sub>3</sub>OH in the HD 163296 protoplanetary disk. Evidence for
  a low gas-phase CH<sub>3</sub>OH-to-H<sub>2</sub>CO ratio. A&A, 623, A124. 153
- CARRASCO-GONZÁLEZ, C., RODRÍGUEZ, L.F., ANGLADA, G. & CURIEL, S. (2009). High Angular Resolution Radio Observations of the HL/XZ Tau Region: Mapping the 50 AU Protoplanetary Disk Around HL Tau and Resolving XZ Tau S Into a 13 AU Binary. ApJ, 693, L86–L90. 71
- CARRASCO-GONZÁLEZ, C., HENNING, T., CHANDLER, C.J., LINZ, H., PÉREZ, L., RODRÍGUEZ, L.F., GALVÁN-MADRID, R., ANGLADA, G., BIRN-STIEL, T., VAN BOEKEL, R., FLOCK, M., KLAHR, H., MACIAS, E.,

MENTEN, K., OSORIO, M., TESTI, L., TORRELLES, J.M. & ZHU, Z. (2016). The VLA View of the HL Tau Disk: Disk Mass, Grain Evolution, and Early Planet Formation. *ApJ*, **821**, L16. 18, 20

- CARRASCO-GONZÁLEZ, C., SIERRA, A., FLOCK, M., ZHU, Z., HENNING, T., CHANDLER, C., GALVÁN-MADRID, R., MACÍAS, E., ANGLADA, G., LINZ, H., OSORIO, M., RODRÍGUEZ, L.F., TESTI, L., TORRELLES, J.M., PÉREZ, L. & LIU, Y. (2019). The Radial Distribution of Dust Particles in the HL Tau Disk from ALMA and VLA Observations. ApJ, 883, 71. 75, 76, 78, 81
- CASASSUS, S., VAN DER PLAS, G., M, S.P., DENT, W.R.F., FOMALONT,
  E., HAGELBERG, J., HALES, A., JORDÁN, A., MAWET, D., MÉNARD, F.,
  WOOTTEN, A., WILNER, D., HUGHES, A.M., SCHREIBER, M.R., GIRARD,
  J.H., ERCOLANO, B., CANOVAS, H., ROMÁN, P.E. & SALINAS, V. (2013).
  Flows of gas through a protoplanetary gap. *Nature*, 493, 191–194. 31, 116
- CASASSUS, S., MARINO, S., PÉREZ, S., ROMAN, P., DUNHILL, A., AR-MITAGE, P.J., CUADRA, J., WOOTTEN, A., VAN DER PLAS, G., CIEZA, L., MORAL, V., CHRISTIAENS, V. & MONTESINOS, M. (2015a). Accretion Kinematics through the Warped Transition Disk in HD142527 from Resolved CO(6-5) Observations. ApJ, 811, 92. 116, 147
- CASASSUS, S., WRIGHT, C.M., MARINO, S., MADDISON, S.T., WOOTTEN,
  A., ROMAN, P., PÉREZ, S., PINILLA, P., WYATT, M., MORAL, V.,
  MÉNARD, F., CHRISTIAENS, V., CIEZA, L. & VAN DER PLAS, G. (2015b).
  A Compact Concentration of Large Grains in the HD 142527 Protoplanetary
  Dust Trap. ApJ, 812, 126. 117
- CAZZOLETTI, P., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., PINILLA, P., TAZZARI, M., FAC-CHINI, S., VAN DER MAREL, N., BENISTY, M., GARUFI, A. & PÉREZ,

L.M. (2018a). Evidence for a massive dust-trapping vortex connected to spirals. Multi-wavelength analysis of the HD 135344B protoplanetary disk. A&A,
619, A161. 25

- CAZZOLETTI, P., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., VISSER, R., FACCHINI, S. & BRUD-ERER, S. (2018b). CN rings in full protoplanetary disks around young stars as probes of disk structure. A&A, 609, A93. 27, 28
- CHAPILLON, E., GUILLOTEAU, S., DUTREY, A., PIÉTU, V. & GUÉLIN, M. (2012). Chemistry in disks. VI. CN and HCN in protoplanetary disks. A&A, 537, A60. 85
- CLARKE, C.J. & LODATO, G. (2009). Limits on the location of planetesimal formation in self-gravitating protostellar discs. *MNRAS*, **398**, L6–L10. 81
- CLEEVES, L.I., ADAMS, F.C. & BERGIN, E.A. (2013). Exclusion of Cosmic Rays in Protoplanetary Disks: Stellar and Magnetic Effects. *ApJ*, **772**, 5. 43
- CLEEVES, L.I., BERGIN, E.A. & HARRIES, T.J. (2015). Indirect Detection of Forming Protoplanets via Chemical Asymmetries in Disks. ApJ, 807, 2. 32
- CUELLO, N., DIPIERRO, G., MENTIPLAY, D., PRICE, D.J., PINTE, C.,
  CUADRA, J., LAIBE, G., MÉNARD, F., POBLETE, P.P. & MONTESINOS,
  M. (2019). Flybys in protoplanetary discs: I. Gas and dust dynamics. MNRAS,
  483, 4114–4139. 31
- CURRIE, T., MUTO, T., KUDO, T., HONDA, M., BRANDT, T.D., GRADY, C., FUKAGAWA, M., BURROWS, A., JANSON, M., KUZUHARA, M., MCEL-WAIN, M.W., FOLLETTE, K., HASHIMOTO, J., HENNING, T., KANDORI, R., KUSAKABE, N., KWON, J., MEDE, K., MORINO, J.I., NISHIKAWA, J., PYO, T.S., SERABYN, G., SUENAGA, T., TAKAHASHI, Y., WISNIEWSKI, J.
& TAMURA, M. (2014). Recovery of the Candidate Protoplanet HD 100546 b with Gemini/NICI and Detection of Additional (Planet-induced?) Disk Structure at Small Separations. ApJ, **796**, L30. 124

- CURRIE, T., CLOUTIER, R., BRITTAIN, S., GRADY, C., BURROWS, A., MUTO, T., KENYON, S.J. & KUCHNER, M.J. (2015). Resolving the HD 100546 Protoplanetary System with the Gemini Planet Imager: Evidence for Multiple Forming, Accreting Planets. ApJ, 814, L27. 124, 149
- DARTOIS, E., DUTREY, A. & GUILLOTEAU, S. (2003). Structure of the DM Tau Outer Disk: Probing the vertical kinetic temperature gradient. A&A, 399, 773–787. 12
- DE GREGORIO-MONSALVO, I., MÉNARD, F., DENT, W., PINTE, C., LÓPEZ, C., KLAASSEN, P., HALES, A., CORTÉS, P., RAWLINGS, M.G., TACHI-HARA, K., TESTI, L., TAKAHASHI, S., CHAPILLON, E., MATHEWS, G., JUHASZ, A., AKIYAMA, E., HIGUCHI, A.E., SAITO, M., NYMAN, L.Å., PHILLIPS, N., RODÓN, J., CORDER, S. & VAN KEMPEN, T. (2013). Unveiling the gas-and-dust disk structure in HD 163296 using ALMA observations. A&A, 557, A133. 15, 23
- DE JUAN OVELAR, M., MIN, M., DOMINIK, C., THALMANN, C., PINILLA, P., BENISTY, M. & BIRNSTIEL, T. (2013). Imaging diagnostics for transitional discs. A&A, 560, A111. 30, 119
- DE JUAN OVELAR, M., PINILLA, P., MIN, M., DOMINIK, C. & BIRNSTIEL, T. (2016). Constraining turbulence mixing strength in transitional discs with planets using SPHERE and ALMA. MNRAS, 459, L85–L89. 119
- DIONATOS, O. (2015). Gas line observations of disks. In European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 102, 00008. 45

- DIPIERRO, G., PINILLA, P., LODATO, G. & TESTI, L. (2015a). Dust trapping by spiral arms in gravitationally unstable protostellar discs. MNRAS, 451, 974–986. 81
- DIPIERRO, G., PRICE, D., LAIBE, G., HIRSH, K., CERIOLI, A. & LODATO, G. (2015b). On planet formation in HL Tau. MNRAS, 453, L73–L77. 71, 81, 175
- DONG, R. & FUNG, J. (2017). What is the Mass of a Gap-opening Planet? ApJ, 835, 146. 30
- DONG, R., ZHU, Z. & WHITNEY, B. (2015). Observational Signatures of Planets in Protoplanetary Disks I. Gaps Opened by Single and Multiple Young Planets in Disks. ApJ, 809, 93. 30
- DONG, R., LI, S., CHIANG, E. & LI, H. (2018). Multiple Disk Gaps and Rings Generated by a Single Super-Earth. II. Spacings, Depths, and Number of Gaps, with Application to Real Systems. ApJ, 866, 110. 30, 81, 175
- DONG, R., LIU, S.Y. & FUNG, J. (2019). Observational Signatures of Planets in Protoplanetary Disks: Planet-induced Line Broadening in Gaps. ApJ, 870, 72. 31
- DOUGLAS, T.A., CASELLI, P., ILEE, J.D., BOLEY, A.C., HARTQUIST, T.W., DURISEN, R.H. & RAWLINGS, J.M.C. (2013). Simulated observations of young gravitationally unstable protoplanetary discs. *MNRAS*, 433, 2064–2074. 82
- DRAINE, B.T. (2003). Interstellar Dust Grains. ARA&A, 41, 241–289. 15
- DRAINE, B.T. (2006). On the Submillimeter Opacity of Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 636, 1114–1120. 20

- DROZDOVSKAYA, M.N., WALSH, C., VISSER, R., HARSONO, D. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2015). The complex chemistry of outflow cavity walls exposed: the case of low-mass protostars. *MNRAS*, **451**, 3836–3856. 44, 156
- DURISEN, R.H., BOSS, A.P., MAYER, L., NELSON, A.F., QUINN, T. & RICE, W.K.M. (2007). Gravitational Instabilities in Gaseous Protoplanetary Disks and Implications for Giant Planet Formation. *Protostars and Planets V*, 607–622. 6, 69
- DUTREY, A., GUILLOTEAU, S., DUVERT, G., PRATO, L., SIMON, M., SCHUS-TER, K. & MENARD, F. (1996). Dust and gas distribution around T Tauri stars in Taurus-Auriga. I. Interferometric 2.7mm continuum and ^13^CO J=1-0 observations. A&A, **309**, 493–504. 19
- DUTREY, A., GUILLOTEAU, S. & GUELIN, M. (1997). Chemistry of protosolarlike nebulae: The molecular content of the DM Tau and GG Tau disks. A&A, 317, L55–L58. 14, 85
- DUTREY, A., GUILLOTEAU, S., PRATO, L., SIMON, M., DUVERT, G., SCHUS-TER, K. & MENARD, F. (1998). CO study of the GM Aurigae Keplerian disk. A&A, 338, L63–L66. 11
- DUTREY, A., WAKELAM, V., BOEHLER, Y., GUILLOTEAU, S., HERSANT, F., SEMENOV, D., CHAPILLON, E., HENNING, T., PIÉTU, V., LAUNHARDT, R., GUETH, F. & SCHREYER, K. (2011). Chemistry in disks. V. Sulfurbearing molecules in the protoplanetary disks surrounding LkCa15, MWC480, DM Tauri, and GO Tauri. A&A, 535, A104. 138
- DUTREY, A., GUILLOTEAU, S., PIÉTU, V., CHAPILLON, E., WAKELAM, V.,
  DI FOLCO, E., STOECKLIN, T., DENIS-ALPIZAR, O., GORTI, U., TEAGUE,
  R., HENNING, T., SEMENOV, D. & GROSSO, N. (2017). The Flying Saucer:

Tomography of the thermal and density gas structure of an edge-on protoplanetary disk.  $A \mathscr{C}A$ , **607**, A130. 23

- EISTRUP, C., WALSH, C. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2016). Setting the volatile composition of (exo)planet-building material. Does chemical evolution in disk midplanes matter? A&A, 595, A83. 42
- EISTRUP, C., WALSH, C. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2018). Molecular abundances and C/O ratios in chemically evolving planet-forming disk midplanes. *A&A*, **613**, A14. 45
- ERCOLANO, B. & OWEN, J.E. (2016). Blueshifted [O I] lines from protoplanetary discs: the smoking gun of X-ray photoevaporation. MNRAS, 460, 3472– 3478. 148
- ERCOLANO, B. & PASCUCCI, I. (2017). The dispersal of planet-forming discs: theory confronts observations. *Royal Society Open Science*, 4, 170114. 10, 148
- EVANS, M.G., ILEE, J.D., BOLEY, A.C., CASELLI, P., DURISEN, R.H., HARTQUIST, T.W. & RAWLINGS, J.M.C. (2015). Gravitational instabilities in a protosolar-like disc - I. Dynamics and chemistry. MNRAS, 453, 1147–1163. 70
- EVANS, N.J., II (1999). Physical Conditions in Regions of Star Formation. ARA&A, 37, 311–362. 2
- FACCHINI, S., BIRNSTIEL, T., BRUDERER, S. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2017). Different dust and gas radial extents in protoplanetary disks: consistent models of grain growth and CO emission. A&A, 605, A16. 120
- FAVRE, C., FEDELE, D., MAUD, L., BOOTH, R., TAZZARI, M., MIOTELLO, A., TESTI, L., SEMENOV, D. & BRUDERER, S. (2019). Gas Density Pertur-

bations Induced by One or More Forming Planets in the AS 209 Protoplanetary Disk as Seen with ALMA. ApJ, **871**, 107. 26

- FEDELE, D., BRUDERER, S., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., CARR, J., HERCZEG, G.J., SALYK, C., EVANS, N.J., BOUWMAN, J., MEEUS, G., HENNING, T., GREEN, J., NAJITA, J.R. & GÜDEL, M. (2013). DIGIT survey of far-infrared lines from protoplanetary disks. I. [O i], [C ii], OH, H<sub>2</sub>O, and CH<sup>+</sup>. A&A, 559, A77. 19, 87, 124
- FEDELE, D., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., KAMA, M., BRUDERER, S. & HOGER-HEIJDE, M.R. (2016). Probing the 2D temperature structure of protoplanetary disks with Herschel observations of high-J CO lines. A&A, 591, A95. 19
- FEDELE, D., CARNEY, M., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., WALSH, C., MIOTELLO, A., KLAASSEN, P., BRUDERER, S., HENNING, T. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2017). ALMA unveils rings and gaps in the protoplanetary system HD 169142: signatures of two giant protoplanets. A&A, 600, A72. 15, 26, 115
- FEDELE, D., TAZZARI, M., BOOTH, R., TESTI, L., CLARKE, C.J., PASCUCCI,
  I., KOSPAL, A., SEMENOV, D., BRUDERER, S., HENNING, T. & TEAGUE,
  R. (2018). ALMA continuum observations of the protoplanetary disk AS 209.
  Evidence of multiple gaps opened by a single planet. A&A, 610, A24. 118
- FLAHERTY, K.M., HUGHES, A.M., ROSENFELD, K.A., ANDREWS, S.M., CHIANG, E., SIMON, J.B., KERZNER, S. & WILNER, D.J. (2015). Weak Turbulence in the HD 163296 Protoplanetary Disk Revealed by ALMA CO Observations. ApJ, 813, 99. 18
- FLAHERTY, K.M., HUGHES, A.M., ROSE, S.C., SIMON, J.B., QI, C., AN-DREWS, S.M., KÓSPÁL, Á., WILNER, D.J., CHIANG, E., ARMITAGE, P.J. & BAI, X.N. (2017). A Three-dimensional View of Turbulence: Constraints on

Turbulent Motions in the HD 163296 Protoplanetary Disk Using DCO<sup>+</sup>. ApJ, 843, 150. 18

- FLOCK, M., RUGE, J.P., DZYURKEVICH, N., HENNING, T., KLAHR, H. & WOLF, S. (2015). Gaps, rings, and non-axisymmetric structures in protoplanetary disks. From simulations to ALMA observations. A&A, 574, A68. 31
- FLOWER, D.R. (1999). Rotational excitation of HCO+ by H2. MNRAS, 305, 651–653. 97
- FORGAN, D., PRICE, D.J. & BONNELL, I. (2017). On the fragmentation boundary in magnetized self-gravitating discs. *MNRAS*, **466**, 3406–3416. 81
- FUENTE, A., CERNICHARO, J., AGÚNDEZ, M., BERNÉ, O., GOICOECHEA, J.R., ALONSO-ALBI, T. & MARCELINO, N. (2010). Molecular content of the circumstellar disk in AB Aurigae. First detection of SO in a circumstellar disk. A&A, 524, A19. 123
- GAIA COLLABORATION, BROWN, A.G.A., VALLENARI, A., PRUSTI, T., DE
  BRUIJNE, J.H.J., BABUSIAUX, C., BAILER-JONES, C.A.L., BIERMANN,
  M., EVANS, D.W., EYER, L. & ET AL. (2018). Gaia Data Release 2. Summary of the contents and survey properties. A&A, 616, A1. 56
- GARUFI, A., QUANZ, S.P., SCHMID, H.M., MULDERS, G.D., AVENHAUS, H.,
  BOCCALETTI, A., GINSKI, C., LANGLOIS, M., STOLKER, T., AUGEREAU,
  J.C., BENISTY, M., LOPEZ, B., DOMINIK, C., GRATTON, R., HENNING,
  T., JANSON, M., MÉNARD, F., MEYER, M.R., PINTE, C., SISSA, E., VIGAN, A., ZURLO, A., BAZZON, A., BUENZLI, E., BONNEFOY, M., BRANDNER, W., CHAUVIN, G., CHEETHAM, A., CUDEL, M., DESIDERA, S.,
  FELDT, M., GALICHER, R., KASPER, M., LAGRANGE, A.M., LANNIER,
  J., MAIRE, A.L., MESA, D., MOUILLET, D., PERETTI, S., PERROT, C.,

## REFERENCES

SALTER, G. & WILDI, F. (2016). The SPHERE view of the planet-forming disk around HD 100546. A&A, 588, A8. 124

- GINSKI, C., STOLKER, T., PINILLA, P., DOMINIK, C., BOCCALETTI, A., DE BOER, J., BENISTY, M., BILLER, B., FELDT, M., GARUFI, A., KELLER, C.U., KENWORTHY, M., MAIRE, A.L., MÉNARD, F., MESA, D., MILLI, J., MIN, M., PINTE, C., QUANZ, S.P., VAN BOEKEL, R., BONNEFOY, M., CHAUVIN, G., DESIDERA, S., GRATTON, R., GIRARD, J.H.V., KEPPLER, M., KOPYTOVA, T., LAGRANGE, A.M., LANGLOIS, M., ROUAN, D. & VIGAN, A. (2016). Direct detection of scattered light gaps in the transitional disk around HD 97048 with VLT/SPHERE. A&A, 595, A112. 86, 119, 176
- GOODMAN, A.A., BENSON, P.J., FULLER, G.A. & MYERS, P.C. (1993). Dense cores in dark clouds. VIII - Velocity gradients. ApJ, 406, 528–547. 2
- GOTO, M., VAN DER PLAS, G., VAN DEN ANCKER, M., DULLEMOND, C.P., CARMONA, A., HENNING, T., MEEUS, G., LINZ, H. & STECKLUM, B. (2012). Warm gas at 50 AU in the disk around Herbig Be star HD 100546. A&A, 539, A81. 124
- GREAVES, J.S. & RICE, W.K.M. (2011). Do all Sun-like stars have planets? Inferences from the disc mass reservoirs of Class 0 protostars. MNRAS, 412, L88–L92. 22
- GREAVES, J.S., RICHARDS, A.M.S., RICE, W.K.M. & MUXLOW, T.W.B. (2008). Enhanced dust emission in the HL Tau disc: a low-mass companion in formation? *MNRAS*, **391**, L74–L78. 71
- GREENE, T.P. & LADA, C.J. (1996). Near-Infrared Spectra and the Evolutionary Status of Young Stellar Objects: Results of a 1.1-2.4 Survey. AJ, 112, 2184. 3

- GÜDEL, M., EIBENSTEINER, C., DIONATOS, O., AUDARD, M., FORBRICH,
  J., KRAUS, S., RAB, C., SCHNEIDER, C., SKINNER, S. & VOROBYOV, E.
  (2018). ALMA detects a radial disk wind in DG Tauri. A&A, 620, L1. 29
- GUILLOTEAU, S., DUTREY, A. & SIMON, M. (1999). GG Tauri: the ring world. *A&A*, **348**, 570–578. 19
- GUILLOTEAU, S., DUTREY, A., PIÉTU, V. & BOEHLER, Y. (2011). A dualfrequency sub-arcsecond study of proto-planetary disks at mm wavelengths: first evidence for radial variations of the dust properties. A&A, 529, A105. 18, 72
- GUILLOTEAU, S., DI FOLCO, E., DUTREY, A., SIMON, M., GROSSO, N. & PIÉTU, V. (2013). A sensitive survey for 13CO, CN, H2CO, and SO in the disks of T Tauri and Herbig Ae stars. A&A, 549, A92. 123
- GUILLOTEAU, S., REBOUSSIN, L., DUTREY, A., CHAPILLON, E., WAKELAM,
  V., PIÉTU, V., DI FOLCO, E., SEMENOV, D. & HENNING, T. (2016).
  Chemistry in disks. X. The molecular content of protoplanetary disks in Taurus.
  A&A, 592, A124. 145, 164
- GUZMÁN, V.V., ÖBERG, K.I., LOOMIS, R. & QI, C. (2015). Cyanide Photochemistry and Nitrogen Fractionation in the MWC 480 Disk. ApJ, 814, 53. 115, 117
- GUZMÁN, V.V., ÖBERG, K.I., HUANG, J., LOOMIS, R. & QI, C. (2017). Nitrogen Fractionation in Protoplanetary Disks from the H<sup>13</sup>CN/HC<sup>15</sup>N Ratio. ApJ, 836, 30. 85, 115, 118
- HALL, C., RICE, K., DIPIERRO, G., FORGAN, D., HARRIES, T. & ALEXAN-DER, R. (2018). Is the spiral morphology of the Elias 2-27 circumstellar disc due to gravitational instability? *MNRAS*, 477, 1004–1014. 31

- HARTMANN, L. & KENYON, S.J. (1996). The FU Orionis Phenomenon. ARA&A, **34**, 207–240. 5
- HARTMANN, L., CALVET, N., GULLBRING, E. & D'ALESSIO, P. (1998). Accretion and the Evolution of T Tauri Disks. *ApJ*, **495**, 385–400. 11
- HARTMANN, L., HERCZEG, G. & CALVET, N. (2016). Accretion onto Pre-Main-Sequence Stars. ARA&A, 54, 135–180. 4, 70
- HASEGAWA, T.I., HERBST, E. & LEUNG, C.M. (1992). Models of Gas-Grain Chemistry in Dense Interstellar Clouds with Complex Organic Molecules. *ApJS*, 82, 167. 44
- HASEGAWA, Y., OKUZUMI, S., FLOCK, M. & TURNER, N.J. (2017). Magnetically Induced Disk Winds and Transport in the HL Tau Disk. ApJ, 845, 31. 81
- HAWORTH, T.J., FACCHINI, S., CLARKE, C.J. & CLEEVES, L.I. (2017). First evidence of external disc photoevaporation in a low mass star forming region: the case of IM Lup. MNRAS, 468, L108–L112. 29
- HEIN BERTELSEN, R.P., KAMP, I., GOTO, M., VAN DER PLAS, G., THI,
  W.F., WATERS, L.B.F.M., VAN DEN ANCKER, M.E. & WOITKE, P. (2014).
  CO ro-vibrational lines in HD 100546. A search for disc asymmetries and the role of fluorescence. A&A, 561, A102. 124
- HENNING, T. & SEMENOV, D. (2013). Chemistry in Protoplanetary Disks. Chemical Reviews, 113, 9016–9042. 15, 18, 19
- HERBIG, G.H. (1977). Eruptive phenomena in early stellar evolution. ApJ, 217, 693–715. 5

- HERBIG, G.H. (2008). History and Spectroscopy of EXor Candidates. , 135, 637–648. 5
- HERBST, E., MILLAR, T.J., WLODEK, S. & BOHME, D.K. (1989). The chemistry of silicon in dense interstellar clouds. A&A, 222, 205–210. 159
- HILY-BLANT, P., MAGALHAES DE SOUZA, V., KASTNER, J. & FORVEILLE, T. (2019). Multiple nitrogen reservoirs in a protoplanetary disk at the epoch of comet and giant planet formation. A&A, 632, L12. 118
- HÖGBOM, J.A. (1974). Aperture Synthesis with a Non-Regular Distribution of Interferometer Baselines. A&AS, 15, 417. 40
- HOLLAS, J.M. (2004). Modern spectroscopy. John Wiley & Sons, 2013, iSBN 1118681606, 9781118681602. 45
- HONDA, M., KUDO, T., TAKATSUKI, S., INOUE, A.K., NAKAMOTO, T., FUKAGAWA, M., TAMURA, M., TERADA, H. & TAKATO, N. (2016). Water Ice at the Surface of the HD 100546 Disk. ApJ, 821, 2. 145
- HUANG, J., OBERG, K.I., QI, C., AIKAWA, Y., ANDREWS, S.M., FURUYA, K., GUZMÁN, V.V., LOOMIS, R.A., VAN DISHOECK, E.F. & WILNER, D.J. (2017). An ALMA Survey of DCN/H<sup>13</sup>CN and DCO<sup>+</sup>/H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup> in Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 835, 231. 85, 111, 115, 116, 117
- HUANG, J., ANDREWS, S.M., DULLEMOND, C.P., ISELLA, A., PÉREZ, L.M., GUZMÁN, V.V., ÖBERG, K.I., ZHU, Z., ZHANG, S., BAI, X.N., BENISTY, M., BIRNSTIEL, T., CARPENTER, J.M., HUGHES, A.M., RICCI, L., WEAVER, E. & WILNER, D.J. (2018a). The Disk Substructures at High Angular Resolution Project (DSHARP). II. Characteristics of Annular Substructures. ApJ, 869, L42. 21, 30

## REFERENCES

- HUANG, J., ANDREWS, S.M., PÉREZ, L.M., ZHU, Z., DULLEMOND, C.P., ISELLA, A., BENISTY, M., BAI, X.N., BIRNSTIEL, T., CARPENTER, J.M., GUZMÁN, V.V., HUGHES, A.M., ÖBERG, K.I., RICCI, L., WILNER, D.J. & ZHANG, S. (2018b). The Disk Substructures at High Angular Resolution Project (DSHARP). III. Spiral Structures in the Millimeter Continuum of the Elias 27, IM Lup, and WaOph 6 Disks. ApJ, 869, L43. 25
- HUGHES, A.M., WILNER, D.J., ANDREWS, S.M., QI, C. & HOGERHEIJDE, M.R. (2011). Empirical Constraints on Turbulence in Protoplanetary Accretion Disks. ApJ, 727, 85. 11
- HUGHES, A.M., DUCHÊNE, G. & MATTHEWS, B.C. (2018). Debris Disks: Structure, Composition, and Variability. ARA&A, 56, 541–591. 10
- ILEE, J.D., BOLEY, A.C., CASELLI, P., DURISEN, R.H., HARTQUIST, T.W. & RAWLINGS, J.M.C. (2011). Chemistry in a gravitationally unstable protoplanetary disc. MNRAS, 417, 2950–2961. 6, 82
- ISELLA, A., TESTI, L., NATTA, A., NERI, R., WILNER, D. & QI, C. (2007). Millimeter imaging of HD 163296: probing the disk structure and kinematics. A&A, 469, 213–222. 65
- ISELLA, A., GUIDI, G., TESTI, L., LIU, S., LI, H., LI, S., WEAVER, E., BOEHLER, Y., CARPERTER, J.M., DE GREGORIO-MONSALVO, I., MAN-ARA, C.F., NATTA, A., PÉREZ, L.M., RICCI, L., SARGENT, A., TAZZARI, M. & TURNER, N. (2016). Ringed Structures of the HD 163296 Protoplanetary Disk Revealed by ALMA. *Physical Review Letters*, **117**, 251101. 21, 26, 30, 53, 54, 56, 58, 61, 65, 68, 70, 115, 174
- ISELLA, A., HUANG, J., ANDREWS, S.M., DULLEMOND, C.P., BIRNSTIEL, T., ZHANG, S., ZHU, Z., GUZMÁN, V.V., PÉREZ, L.M., BAI, X.N.,

BENISTY, M., CARPENTER, J.M., RICCI, L. & WILNER, D.J. (2018). The Disk Substructures at High Angular Resolution Project (DSHARP). IX. A High-definition Study of the HD 163296 Planet-forming Disk. *ApJ*, **869**, L49. 54, 59

- IZIDORO, A. & RAYMOND, S.N. (2018). Formation of Terrestrial Planets, Handbook of Exoplanets, 142. 9
- JEANS, J.H. (1902). The Stability of a Spherical Nebula. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series A, 199, 1–53. 2
- JERMYN, A.S. & KAMA, M. (2018). Stellar photospheric abundances as a probe of discs and planets. MNRAS, 476, 4418–4434. 152
- JIMÉNEZ-ESCOBAR, A. & MUÑOZ CARO, G.M. (2011). Sulfur depletion in dense clouds and circumstellar regions. I. H<sub>2</sub>S ice abundance and UVphotochemical reactions in the H<sub>2</sub>O-matrix. A&A, 536, A91. 14
- JIN, S., LI, S., ISELLA, A., LI, H. & JI, J. (2016). Modeling Dust Emission of HL Tau Disk Based on Planet-Disk Interactions. ApJ, 818, 76. 81, 175
- JOHNSON, J.A., ALLER, K.M., HOWARD, A.W. & CREPP, J.R. (2010). Giant Planet Occurrence in the Stellar Mass-Metallicity Plane. PASP, 122, 905. 180
- JOHNSTON, K.G., ROBITAILLE, T.P., BEUTHER, H., LINZ, H., BOLEY, P., KUIPER, R., KETO, E., HOARE, M.G. & VAN BOEKEL, R. (2015). A Keplerian-like Disk around the Forming O-type Star AFGL 4176. ApJ, 813, L19. 5
- KALAS, P., GRAHAM, J.R., CHIANG, E., FITZGERALD, M.P., CLAMPIN, M., KITE, E.S., STAPELFELDT, K., MAROIS, C. & KRIST, J. (2008). Optical

Images of an Exosolar Planet 25 Light-Years from Earth. Science, 322, 1345.
10

- KAMA, M., FOLSOM, C.P. & PINILLA, P. (2015). Fingerprints of giant planets in the photospheres of Herbig stars. A&A, 582, L10. 151, 152
- KAMA, M., BRUDERER, S., CARNEY, M., HOGERHEIJDE, M., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., FEDELE, D., BARYSHEV, A., BOLAND, W., GÜSTEN, R., AIKUTALP, A., CHOI, Y., ENDO, A., FRIESWIJK, W., KARSKA, A., KLAASSEN, P., KOUMPIA, E., KRISTENSEN, L., LEURINI, S., NAGY, Z., PEREZ BEAUPUITS, J.P., RISACHER, C., VAN DER MAREL, N., VAN KEM-PEN, T.A., VAN WEEREN, R.J., WYROWSKI, F. & YILDIZ, U.A. (2016a). Observations and modelling of CO and [C I] in protoplanetary disks. First detections of [C I] and constraints on the carbon abundance. A&A, 588, A108. 23, 78, 96, 137, 138, 156, 157
- KAMA, M., BRUDERER, S., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., HOGERHEIJDE, M., FOLSOM, C.P., MIOTELLO, A., FEDELE, D., BELLOCHE, A., GÜSTEN, R. & WYROWSKI, F. (2016b). Volatile-carbon locking and release in protoplanetary disks. A study of TW Hya and HD 100546. A&A, 592, A83. 67, 137
- KAMA, M., SHORTTLE, O., JERMYN, A.S., FOLSOM, C.P., FURUYA, K., BERGIN, E.A., WALSH, C. & KELLER, L. (2019). Abundant refractory sulfur in protoplanetary disks. ApJ, 885, 114. 169, 170
- KAMA, M., TRAPMAN, L., FEDELE, D., BRUDERER, S., HOGERHEIJDE,
  M.R., MIOTELLO, A., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., CLARKE, C. & BERGIN, E.A.
  (2020). Mass constraints for 15 protoplanetary discs from HD 1-0. A&A, 634,
  A88. 66

- KAMP, I. (2015). Line radiative transfer and statistical equilibrium. In European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 102, 00010. 45
- KAMP, I., THI, W.F., WOITKE, P., RAB, C., BOUMA, S. & MÉNARD, F. (2017). Consistent dust and gas models for protoplanetary disks. II. Chemical networks and rates. A&A, 607, A41. 94
- KANAGAWA, K.D., MUTO, T., TANAKA, H., TANIGAWA, T., TAKEUCHI, T., TSUKAGOSHI, T. & MOMOSE, M. (2016). Mass constraint for a planet in a protoplanetary disk from the gap width. *PASJ*, 68, 43. 30
- KASTNER, J.H., ZUCKERMAN, B., WEINTRAUB, D.A. & FORVEILLE, T. (1997). X-ray and molecular emission from the nearest region of recent star formation. *Science*, **277**, 67–71. 85
- KELLER, L.P., HONY, S., BRADLEY, J.P., MOLSTER, F.J., WATERS, L.B.F.M., BOUWMAN, J., DE KOTER, A., BROWNLEE, D.E., FLYNN, G.J., HENNING, T. & MUTSCHKE, H. (2002). Identification of iron sulphide grains in protoplanetary disks. *Nature*, **417**, 148–150. 14
- KENYON, S.J. & HARTMANN, L. (1987). Spectral energy distributions of T Tauri stars - Disk flaring and limits on accretion. ApJ, 323, 714–733. 18
- KEPPLER, M., BENISTY, M., MÜLLER, A., HENNING, T., VAN BOEKEL,
  R., CANTALLOUBE, F., GINSKI, C., VAN HOLSTEIN, R.G., MAIRE, A.L.,
  POHL, A., SAMLAND, M., AVENHAUS, H., BAUDINO, J.L., BOCCALETTI,
  A., DE BOER, J., BONNEFOY, M., CHAUVIN, G., DESIDERA, S., LANGLOIS, M., LAZZONI, C., MARLEAU, G.D., MORDASINI, C., PAWELLEK,
  N., STOLKER, T., VIGAN, A., ZURLO, A., BIRNSTIEL, T., BRANDNER,
  W., FELDT, M., FLOCK, M., GIRARD, J., GRATTON, R., HAGELBERG,

## REFERENCES

J., Isella, A., Janson, M., Juhasz, A., Kemmer, J., Kral, Q., La-GRANGE, A.M., LAUNHARDT, R., MATTER, A., MÉNARD, F., MILLI, J., Mollière, P., Olofsson, J., Pérez, L., Pinilla, P., Pinte, C., Quanz, S.P., SCHMIDT, T., UDRY, S., WAHHAJ, Z., WILLIAMS, J.P., BUENZLI, E., CUDEL, M., DOMINIK, C., GALICHER, R., KASPER, M., LANNIER, J., MESA, D., MOUILLET, D., PERETTI, S., PERROT, C., SALTER, G., SISSA, E., WILDI, F., ABE, L., ANTICHI, J., AUGEREAU, J.C., BARUFFOLO, A., BAUDOZ, P., BAZZON, A., BEUZIT, J.L., BLANCHARD, P., BREMS, S.S., BUEY, T., DE CAPRIO, V., CARBILLET, M., CARLE, M., CASCONE, E., CHEETHAM, A., CLAUDI, R., COSTILLE, A., DELBOULBÉ, A., DOHLEN, K., FANTINEL, D., FEAUTRIER, P., FUSCO, T., GIRO, E., GLUCK, L., GRY, C., HUBIN, N., HUGOT, E., JAQUET, M., LE MIGNANT, D., LLORED, M., MADEC, F., MAGNARD, Y., MARTINEZ, P., MAUREL, D., MEYER, M., MÖLLER-NILSSON, O., MOULIN, T., MUGNIER, L., ORIGNÉ, A., PAVLOV, A., PERRET, D., PETIT, C., PRAGT, J., PUGET, P., RABOU, P., RAMOS, J., RIGAL, F., ROCHAT, S., ROELFSEMA, R., ROUSSET, G., ROUX, A., SALASNICH, B., SAUVAGE, J.F., SEVIN, A., SOENKE, C., STADLER, E., SUAREZ, M., TURATTO, M. & WEBER, L. (2018). Discovery of a planetarymass companion within the gap of the transition disk around PDS 70.  $A \mathscr{C}A$ , 617, A44. 32

KEPPLER, M., TEAGUE, R., BAE, J., BENISTY, M., HENNING, T., VAN BOEKEL, R., CHAPILLON, E., PINILLA, P., WILLIAMS, J.P., BERTRANG, G.H.M., FACCHINI, S., FLOCK, M., GINSKI, C., JUHASZ, A., KLAHR, H., LIU, Y., MÜLLER, A., PÉREZ, L.M., POHL, A., ROSOTTI, G., SAMLAND, M. & SEMENOV, D. (2019). Highly structured disk around the planet host PDS 70 revealed by high-angular resolution observations with ALMA. A&A, 625, A118. 32

- KIM, S., NOMURA, H., TSUKAGOSHI, T., KAWABE, R. & MUTO, T. (2019). The Synthetic ALMA Multiband Analysis of the Dust Properties of the TW Hya Protoplanetary Disk. ApJ, 872, 179. 23
- KIM, W.T. & OSTRIKER, E.C. (2001). Amplification, Saturation, and Q Thresholds for Runaway: Growth of Self-Gravitating Structures in Models of Magnetized Galactic Gas Disks. ApJ, 559, 70–95. 81
- KLAASSEN, P.D., JUHASZ, A., MATHEWS, G.S., MOTTRAM, J.C., DE GREGORIO-MONSALVO, I., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., TAKAHASHI, S., AKIYAMA, E., CHAPILLON, E., ESPADA, D., HALES, A., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., RAWLINGS, M., SCHMALZL, M. & TESTI, L. (2013a). ALMA detection of the rotating molecular disk wind from the young star HD 163296. A&A, 555, A73. 29, 170
- KLAASSEN, P.D., JUHASZ, A., MATHEWS, G.S., MOTTRAM, J.C., DE GREGORIO-MONSALVO, I., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., TAKAHASHI, S., AKIYAMA, E., CHAPILLON, E., ESPADA, D., HALES, A., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., RAWLINGS, M., SCHMALZL, M. & TESTI, L. (2013b). ALMA detection of the rotating molecular disk wind from the young star HD 163296. A&A, 555, A73. 148
- KLAPPER, G., SURIN, L., LEWEN, F., MULLER, H.S.P., PAK, I. & WIN-NEWISSER, G. (2003). Laboratory precision measurements of the rotational spectrum of12c17o and13c17o. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 582, 262–268. 55
- KLEY, W. & NELSON, R. (2012). Planet-disk interaction and orbital evolution. ARA&A, 50, 211–249. 30
- KRATTER, K. & LODATO, G. (2016). Gravitational Instabilities in Circumstellar Disks. ARA&A, 54, 271–311. 6

- KRIJT, S., SCHWARZ, K.R., BERGIN, E.A. & CIESLA, F.J. (2018). Transport of CO in Protoplanetary Disks: Consequences of Pebble Formation, Settling, and Radial Drift. ApJ, 864, 78. 67
- KWON, W., LOONEY, L.W. & MUNDY, L.G. (2011). Resolving the Circumstellar Disk of HL Tauri at Millimeter Wavelengths. *ApJ*, **741**, 3. 72
- KWON, W., LOONEY, L.W., MUNDY, L.G. & WELCH, W.J. (2015). Resolving Protoplanetary Disks at Millimeter Wavelengths with CARMA. ApJ, 808, 102. 76, 175
- LAAS, J.C. & CASELLI, P. (2019). Modeling sulfur depletion in interstellar clouds. A&A, 624, A108. 169
- LAGAGE, P.O., DOUCET, C., PANTIN, E., HABART, E., DUCHÊNE, G., MÉNARD, F., PINTE, C., CHARNOZ, S. & PEL, J.W. (2006). Anatomy of a flaring proto-planetary disk around a young intermediate-mass star., 314, 621–623. 87
- LAGRANGE, A.M., GRATADOUR, D., CHAUVIN, G., FUSCO, T., EHRENRE-ICH, D., MOUILLET, D., ROUSSET, G., ROUAN, D., ALLARD, F., GEN-DRON, É., CHARTON, J., MUGNIER, L., RABOU, P., MONTRI, J. & LA-COMBE, F. (2009). A probable giant planet imaged in the β Pictoris disk. VLT/NaCo deep L'-band imaging. A&A, 493, L21–L25. 10
- LAGRANGE, A.M., BOCCALETTI, A., LANGLOIS, M., CHAUVIN, G., GRAT-TON, R., BEUST, H., DESIDERA, S., MILLI, J., BONNEFOY, M., CHEETHAM, A., FELDT, M., MEYER, M., VIGAN, A., BILLER, B., BONAVITA, M., BAUDINO, J.L., CANTALLOUBE, F., CUDEL, M., DAEM-GEN, S., DELORME, P., D'ORAZI, V., GIRARD, J., FONTANIVE, C., HAGELBERG, J., JANSON, M., KEPPLER, M., KOYPITOVA, T., GALICHER,

R., LANNIER, J., LE COROLLER, H., LIGI, R., MAIRE, A.L., MESA, D., Messina, S., Müeller, A., Peretti, S., Perrot, C., Rouan, D., SALTER, G., SAMLAND, M., SCHMIDT, T., SISSA, E., ZURLO, A., BEUZIT, J.L., MOUILLET, D., DOMINIK, C., HENNING, T., LAGADEC, E., MÉNARD, F., SCHMID, H.M., TURATTO, M., UDRY, S., BOHN, A.J., CHARNAY, B., GOMEZ GONZALES, C.A., GRY, C., KENWORTHY, M., KRAL, Q., MOR-DASINI, C., MOUTOU, C., VAN DER PLAS, G., SCHLIEDER, J.E., ABE, L., ANTICHI, J., BARUFFOLO, A., BAUDOZ, P., BAUDRAND, J., BLANCHARD, P., BAZZON, A., BUEY, T., CARBILLET, M., CARLE, M., CHARTON, J., CASCONE, E., CLAUDI, R., COSTILLE, A., DEBOULBE, A., DE CAPRIO, V., DOHLEN, K., FANTINEL, D., FEAUTRIER, P., FUSCO, T., GIGAN, P., GIRO, E., GISLER, D., GLUCK, L., HUBIN, N., HUGOT, E., JAQUET, M., KASPER, M., MADEC, F., MAGNARD, Y., MARTINEZ, P., MAUREL, D., LE MIGNANT, D., MÖLLER-NILSSON, O., LLORED, M., MOULIN, T., ORIGNÉ, A., PAVLOV, A., PERRET, D., PETIT, C., PRAGT, J., SZU-LAGYI, J. & WILDI, F. (2019). Post-conjunction detection of  $\beta$  Pictoris b with VLT/SPHERE. A&A, 621, L8. 10

- LAMBRECHTS, M. & JOHANSEN, A. (2012). Rapid growth of gas-giant cores by pebble accretion. A&A, 544, A32. 9
- LARSON, R.B. (2003). The physics of star formation. Reports on Progress in Physics, 66, 1651–1697. 2
- LIQUE, F., DUBERNET, M.L., SPIELFIEDEL, A. & FEAUTRIER, N. (2006). Rotational excitation of sulfur monoxide in collision with helium at high temperature. A&A, 450, 399–405. 45, 137
- LISKOWSKY, J.P., BRITTAIN, S.D., NAJITA, J.R., CARR, J.S., DOPP-MANN, G.W. & TROUTMAN, M.R. (2012). High-resolution Near-infrared

Spectroscopy of HD 100546. I. Analysis of Asymmetric Ro-vibrational OH Emission Lines. *ApJ*, **760**, 153. 124

- LIU, S.F., JIN, S., LI, S., ISELLA, A. & LI, H. (2018). New Constraints on Turbulence and Embedded Planet Mass in the HD 163296 Disk from Planet-Disk Hydrodynamic Simulations. ApJ, 857, 87. 54, 68, 70, 174
- LONG, F., HERCZEG, G.J., PASCUCCI, I., APAI, D., HENNING, T., MANARA, C.F., MULDERS, G.D., SZŰCS, L. & HENDLER, N.P. (2018a). An ALMA Survey of Faint Disks in the Chamaeleon I Star-forming Region: Why Are Some Class II Disks so Faint? ApJ, 863, 61. 22
- LONG, F., PINILLA, P., HERCZEG, G.J., HARSONO, D., DIPIERRO, G., PAS-CUCCI, I., HENDLER, N., TAZZARI, M., RAGUSA, E., SALYK, C., ED-WARDS, S., LODATO, G., VAN DE PLAS, G., JOHNSTONE, D., LIU, Y., BOEHLER, Y., CABRIT, S., MANARA, C.F., MENARD, F., MULDERS, G.D., NISINI, B., FISCHER, W.J., RIGLIACO, E., BANZATTI, A., AVEN-HAUS, H. & GULLY-SANTIAGO, M. (2018b). Gaps and Rings in an ALMA Survey of Disks in the Taurus Star-forming Region. ApJ, 869, 17. 25
- LONG, Z.C., AKIYAMA, E., SITKO, M., FERNANDES, R.B., ASSANI, K., GRADY, C.A., CURE, M., DANCHI, W.C., DONG, R., FUKAGAWA, M., HASEGAWA, Y., HASHIMOTO, J., HENNING, T., INUTSUKA, S.I., KRAUS, S., KWON, J., LISSE, C.M., BAOBABU LIU, H., MAYAMA, S., MUTO, T., NAKAGAWA, T., TAKAMI, M., TAMURA, M., CURRIE, T., WISNIEWSKI, J.P. & YANG, Y. (2018c). Differences in the Gas and Dust Distribution in the Transitional Disk of a Sun-like Young Star, PDS 70. ApJ, 858, 112. 32

- LOOMIS, R.A., ÖBERG, K.I., ANDREWS, S.M. & MACGREGOR, M.A. (2017). A Multi-ringed, Modestly Inclined Protoplanetary Disk around AA Tau. ApJ, 840, 23. 31
- LOOMIS, R.A., CLEEVES, L.I., ÖBERG, K.I., AIKAWA, Y., BERGNER, J., FURUYA, K., GUZMAN, V.V. & WALSH, C. (2018a). The Distribution and Excitation of CH<sub>3</sub>CN in a Solar Nebula Analog. *ApJ*, **859**, 131. 24
- LOOMIS, R.A., ÖBERG, K.I., ANDREWS, S.M., WALSH, C., CZEKALA, I., HUANG, J. & ROSENFELD, K.A. (2018b). Detecting Weak Spectral Lines in Interferometric Data through Matched Filtering. AJ, 155, 182. 41, 54, 55, 134, 152
- LOVELACE, R.V.E. & ROMANOVA, M.M. (2014). Rossby wave instability in astrophysical discs. *Fluid Dynamics Research*, **46**, 041401. 31
- LYNDEN-BELL, D. & PRINGLE, J.E. (1974). The evolution of viscous discs and the origin of the nebular variables. *MNRAS*, **168**, 603–637. 6, 11
- MACGREGOR, M.A., MATRÀ, L., KALAS, P., WILNER, D.J., PAN, M., KENNEDY, G.M., WYATT, M.C., DUCHENE, G., HUGHES, A.M., RIEKE, G.H., CLAMPIN, M., FITZGERALD, M.P., GRAHAM, J.R., HOLLAND, W.S., PANIĆ, O., SHANNON, A. & SU, K. (2017). A Complete ALMA Map of the Fomalhaut Debris Disk. ApJ, 842, 8. 8, 10
- MANARA, C.F., MORBIDELLI, A. & GUILLOT, T. (2018). Why do protoplanetary disks appear not massive enough to form the known exoplanet population? A&A, 618, L3. 22, 83, 179
- MARKWICK, A.J., ILGNER, M., MILLAR, T.J. & HENNING, T. (2002). Molecular distributions in the inner regions of protostellar disks. *A&A*, **385**, 632–646. 16

- MARTÍN-DOMÉNECH, R., JIMÉNEZ-SERRA, I., MUÑOZ CARO, G.M., MÜLLER, H.S.P., OCCHIOGROSSO, A., TESTI, L., WOODS, P.M. & VITI, S. (2016). The sulfur depletion problem: upper limits on the gas-phase abundances toward the low-mass warm core IRAS 16293-2422. A&A, 585, A112.
  14
- MARTIN-PINTADO, J., BACHILLER, R. & FUENTE, A. (1992). SiO emission as a tracer of shocked gas in molecular outflows. *A&A*, **254**, 315–326. 151
- MASSALKHI, S., AGÚNDEZ, M. & CERNICHARO, J. (2019). Study of CS, SiO, and SiS abundances in carbon star envelopes: assessing their role as gas-phase precursors of dust. A&A, 628, A62. 165
- MATHEWS, G.S., KLAASSEN, P.D., JUHÁSZ, A., HARSONO, D., CHAPIL-LON, E., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., ESPADA, D., DE GREGORIO-MONSALVO,
  I., HALES, A., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., MOTTRAM, J.C., RAWLINGS, M.G.,
  TAKAHASHI, S. & TESTI, L. (2013). ALMA imaging of the CO snowline of the HD 163296 disk with DCO<sup>+</sup>. A&A, 557, A132. 115
- MCCLURE, M.K., BERGIN, E.A., CLEEVES, L.I., VAN DISHOECK, E.F.,
  BLAKE, G.A., EVANS, N.J., II, GREEN, J.D., HENNING, T., ÖBERG,
  K.I., PONTOPPIDAN, K.M. & SALYK, C. (2016). Mass Measurements in
  Protoplanetary Disks from Hydrogen Deuteride. ApJ, 831, 167. 23, 66, 78
- MCELROY, D., WALSH, C., MARKWICK, A.J., CORDINER, M.A., SMITH, K.
  & MILLAR, T.J. (2013). The UMIST database for astrochemistry 2012. A&A, 550, A36. 42, 96
- MCGUIRE, B.A. (2018). 2018 census of interstellar, circumstellar, extragalactic, protoplanetary disk, and exoplanetary molecules. *ApJS*, **239**, 17. 18

- MCKEE, C.F. & OSTRIKER, E.C. (2007). Theory of star formation. ARA&A, 45, 565–687. 5
- MCKEE, C.F., ZWEIBEL, E.G., GOODMAN, A.A. & HEILES, C. (1993). Magnetic Fields in Star-Forming Regions - Theory. In E.H. Levy & J.I. Lunine, eds., Protostars and Planets III, 327. 2
- MCMULLIN, J.P., WATERS, B., SCHIEBEL, D., YOUNG, W. & GOLAP, K. (2007a). CASA Architecture and Applications. In R.A. Shaw, F. Hill & D.J. Bell, eds., Astronomical Data Analysis Software and Systems XVI, vol. 376 of Astronomical Society of the Pacific Conference Series, 127. 39
- MCMULLIN, J.P., WATERS, B., SCHIEBEL, D., YOUNG, W. & GOLAP, K. (2007b). CASA Architecture and Applications. In R.A. Shaw, F. Hill & D.J. Bell, eds., Astronomical Data Analysis Software and Systems XVI, vol. 376 of Astronomical Society of the Pacific Conference Series, 127. 74
- MEEUS, G., MONTESINOS, B., MENDIGUTÍA, I., KAMP, I., THI, W.F., EIROA, C., GRADY, C.A., MATHEWS, G., SANDELL, G., MARTIN-ZAÏDI, C., BRITTAIN, S., DENT, W.R.F., HOWARD, C., MÉNARD, F., PINTE, C., ROBERGE, A., VANDENBUSSCHE, B. & WILLIAMS, J.P. (2012). Observations of Herbig Ae/Be stars with Herschel/PACS. The atomic and molecular contents of their protoplanetary discs. A&A, 544, A78. 87
- MEEUS, G., SALYK, C., BRUDERER, S., FEDELE, D., MAASKANT, K., EVANS, N.J., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., MONTESINOS, B., HERCZEG, G., BOUWMAN, J., GREEN, J.D., DOMINIK, C., HENNING, T. & VICENTE, S. (2013a). DIGIT survey of far-infrared lines from protoplanetary discs. II. CO. A&A, 559, A84. 87

- MEEUS, G., SALYK, C., BRUDERER, S., FEDELE, D., MAASKANT, K., EVANS, N.J., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., MONTESINOS, B., HERCZEG, G., BOUWMAN, J., GREEN, J.D., DOMINIK, C., HENNING, T. & VICENTE, S. (2013b). DIGIT survey of far-infrared lines from protoplanetary discs. II. CO. A&A, 559, A84. 124
- MENDIGUTÍA, I., BRITTAIN, S., EIROA, C., MEEUS, G., MONTESINOS, B., MORA, A., MUZEROLLE, J., OUDMAIJER, R.D. & RIGLIACO, E. (2013). Accretion Variability of Herbig Ae/Be Stars Observed by X-Shooter HD 31648 and HD 163296. ApJ, 776, 44. 70
- MILLAR, T.J. & HERBST, E. (1990). Organo-sulphur chemistry in dense interstellar clouds. A&A, 231, 466–472. 146
- MIOTELLO, A., BRUDERER, S. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2014). Protoplanetary disk masses from CO isotopologue line emission. A&A, 572, A96. 23, 77, 100, 112
- MIOTELLO, A., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., WILLIAMS, J.P., ANSDELL, M., GUIDI, G., HOGERHEIJDE, M., MANARA, C.F., TAZZARI, M., TESTI, L., VAN DER MAREL, N. & VAN TERWISGA, S. (2017). Lupus disks with faint CO isotopologues: low gas/dust or high carbon depletion? A&A, 599, A113. 78, 173
- MIOTELLO, A., FACCHINI, S., VAN DISHOECK, E.F. & BRUDERER, S. (2018). Probing the protoplanetary disk gas surface density distribution with <sup>13</sup>CO emission. A&A, **619**, A113. 26
- MIOTELLO, A., FACCHINI, S., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., CAZZOLETTI, P., TESTI, L., WILLIAMS, J.P., ANSDELL, M., VAN TERWISGA, S. & VAN DER MAREL,

N. (2019). Bright C<sub>2</sub>H emission in protoplanetary discs in Lupus: high volatile C/O &gt; 1 ratios. A &A, 631, A69. 179

- MOLYAROVA, T., AKIMKIN, V., SEMENOV, D., HENNING, T., VASYUNIN, A.
  & WIEBE, D. (2017). Gas Mass Tracers in Protoplanetary Disks: CO is Still the Best. ApJ, 849, 130. 66
- MULDERS, G.D., PAARDEKOOPER, S.J., PANIĆ, O., DOMINIK, C., VAN BOEKEL, R. & RATZKA, T. (2013). Planet or brown dwarf? Inferring the companion mass in HD 100546 from the wall shape using mid-infrared interferometry. A&A, 557, A68. 124
- MÜLLER, H.S.P., THORWIRTH, S., ROTH, D.A. & WINNEWISSER, G. (2001). The Cologne Database for Molecular Spectroscopy, CDMS. A&A, 370, L49– L52. 57, 125
- MÜLLER, H.S.P., SCHLÖDER, F., STUTZKI, J. & WINNEWISSER, G. (2005). The Cologne Database for Molecular Spectroscopy, CDMS: a useful tool for astronomers and spectroscopists. *JMoSt*, **742**, 215–227. 55, 58, 153
- MURO-ARENA, G.A., DOMINIK, C., WATERS, L.B.F.M., MIN, M., KLAR-MANN, L., GINSKI, C., ISELLA, A., BENISTY, M., POHL, A., GARUFI, A., HAGELBERG, J., LANGLOIS, M., MENARD, F., PINTE, C., SEZESTRE, E., VAN DER PLAS, G., VILLENAVE, M., DELBOULBÉ, A., MAGNARD, Y., MÖLLER-NILSSON, O., PRAGT, J., RABOU, P. & ROELFSEMA, R. (2018). Dust modeling of the combined ALMA and SPHERE datasets of HD 163296. Is HD 163296 really a Meeus group II disk? A&A, 614, A24. 87
- NERO, D. & BJORKMAN, J.E. (2009). Did Fomalhaut, HR 8799, and HL Tauri Form Planets Via the Gravitational Instability? Placing Limits on the Required Disk Masses. ApJ, 702, L163–L167. 72

- NOMURA, H., TSUKAGOSHI, T., KAWABE, R., ISHIMOTO, D., OKUZUMI, S., MUTO, T., KANAGAWA, K.D., IDA, S., WALSH, C., MILLAR, T.J. & BAI, X.N. (2016). ALMA Observations of a Gap and a Ring in the Protoplanetary Disk around TW Hya. ApJ, 819, L7. 26
- NOTSU, S., NOMURA, H., ISHIMOTO, D., WALSH, C., HONDA, M., HIROTA, T. & MILLAR, T.J. (2016). Candidate Water Vapor Lines to Locate the H2O Snowline through High-dispersion Spectroscopic Observations. I. The Case of a T Tauri Star. ApJ, 827, 113. 16
- NOTSU, S., NOMURA, H., ISHIMOTO, D., WALSH, C., HONDA, M., HIROTA, T. & MILLAR, T.J. (2017). Candidate Water Vapor Lines to Locate the H<sub>2</sub>O Snowline through High-dispersion Spectroscopic Observations. II. The Case of a Herbig Ae Star. ApJ, 836, 118. 117
- NOTSU, S., AKIYAMA, E., BOOTH, A., NOMURA, H., WALSH, C., HIROTA, T., HONDA, M., TSUKAGOSHI, T. & MILLAR, T.J. (2019). Dust Continuum Emission and the Upper Limit Fluxes of Submillimeter Water Lines of the Protoplanetary Disk around HD 163296 Observed by ALMA. *ApJ*, **875**, 96. 54
- ÖBERG, K.I., QI, C., FOGEL, J.K.J., BERGIN, E.A., ANDREWS, S.M., ES-PAILLAT, C., VAN KEMPEN, T.A., WILNER, D.J. & PASCUCCI, I. (2010). The Disk Imaging Survey of Chemistry with SMA. I. Taurus Protoplanetary Disk Data. ApJ, 720, 480–493. 19, 111
- ÖBERG, K.I., QI, C., FOGEL, J.K.J., BERGIN, E.A., ANDREWS, S.M., ES-PAILLAT, C., WILNER, D.J., PASCUCCI, I. & KASTNER, J.H. (2011). Disk Imaging Survey of Chemistry with SMA. II. Southern Sky Protoplanetary Disk Data and Full Sample Statistics. ApJ, 734, 98. 111

- ÖBERG, K.I., FURUYA, K., LOOMIS, R., AIKAWA, Y., ANDREWS, S.M., QI,
  C., VAN DISHOECK, E.F. & WILNER, D.J. (2015). Double DCO<sup>+</sup> Rings
  Reveal CO Ice Desorption in the Outer Disk Around IM Lup. ApJ, 810, 112.
  28, 115
- O'DELL, C.R., WEN, Z. & HU, X. (1993). Discovery of new objects in the Orion nebula on HST images - Shocks, compact sources, and protoplanetary disks. ApJ, 410, 696–700. 17
- OKUZUMI, S., MOMOSE, M., SIRONO, S.I., KOBAYASHI, H. & TANAKA, H. (2016). Sintering-induced Dust Ring Formation in Protoplanetary Disks: Application to the HL Tau Disk. *ApJ*, **821**, 82. 31, 71, 76
- PACHECO-VÁZQUEZ, S., FUENTE, A., BARUTEAU, C., BERNÉ, O., AGÚNDEZ, M., NERI, R., GOICOECHEA, J.R., CERNICHARO, J. & BACHILLER, R. (2016). High spatial resolution imaging of SO and H<sub>2</sub>CO in AB Auriga: The first SO image in a transitional disk. A&A, 589, A60. 144, 146
- PANIĆ, O., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., BELLOCHE, A., GÜSTEN, R., BOLAND, W. & BARYSHEV, A. (2010). Observations of warm molecular gas and kinematics in the disc around HD 100546. A&A, 519, A110. 124, 147
- PANIĆ, O., HOLLAND, W.S., WYATT, M.C., KENNEDY, G.M., MATTHEWS,
  B.C., LESTRADE, J.F., SIBTHORPE, B., GREAVES, J.S., MARSHALL, J.P.,
  PHILLIPS, N.M. & TOTTLE, J. (2013). First results of the SONS survey: submillimetre detections of debris discs. MNRAS, 435, 1037–1046. 10
- PASCUCCI, I., STERZIK, M., ALEXANDER, R.D., ALENCAR, S.H.P., GORTI,
  U., HOLLENBACH, D., OWEN, J., ERCOLANO, B. & EDWARDS, S. (2011a).
  The Photoevaporative Wind from the Disk of TW Hya. ApJ, 736, 13. 29

- PASCUCCI, I., STERZIK, M., ALEXANDER, R.D., ALENCAR, S.H.P., GORTI,
  U., HOLLENBACH, D., OWEN, J., ERCOLANO, B. & EDWARDS, S. (2011b).
  The Photoevaporative Wind from the Disk of TW Hya. ApJ, 736, 13. 148
- PÉREZ, L.M., CARPENTER, J.M., ANDREWS, S.M., RICCI, L., ISELLA, A., LINZ, H., SARGENT, A.I., WILNER, D.J., HENNING, T., DELLER, A.T., CHANDLER, C.J., DULLEMOND, C.P., LAZIO, J., MENTEN, K.M., CORDER, S.A., STORM, S., TESTI, L., TAZZARI, M., KWON, W., CALVET, N., GREAVES, J.S., HARRIS, R.J. & MUNDY, L.G. (2016). Spiral density waves in a young protoplanetary disk. *Science*, **353**, 1519–1521. 25
- PEREZ, S., DUNHILL, A., CASASSUS, S., ROMAN, P., SZULÁGYI, J., FLORES,
  C., MARINO, S. & MONTESINOS, M. (2015). Planet Formation Signposts:
  Observability of Circumplanetary Disks via Gas Kinematics. ApJ, 811, L5. 32
- PHUONG, N.T., CHAPILLON, E., MAJUMDAR, L., DUTREY, A., GUIL-LOTEAU, S., PIÉTU, V., WAKELAM, V., DIEP, P.N., TANG, Y.W., BECK, T. & BARY, J. (2018). First detection of H<sub>2</sub>S in a protoplanetary disk. The dense GG Tauri A ring. A&A, 616, L5. 170
- PIÉTU, V., DUTREY, A. & GUILLOTEAU, S. (2007). Probing the structure of protoplanetary disks: a comparative study of DM Tau, LkCa 15, and MWC 480. A&A, 467, 163–178. 85, 116
- PINEDA, J.E., QUANZ, S.P., MERU, F., MULDERS, G.D., MEYER, M.R., PANIĆ, O. & AVENHAUS, H. (2014). Resolved Images of the Protoplanetary Disk around HD 100546 with ALMA. ApJ, 788, L34. 124
- PINILLA, P., BENISTY, M. & BIRNSTIEL, T. (2012). Ring shaped dust accumulation in transition disks. A&A, 545, A81. 30

- PINILLA, P., BIRNSTIEL, T. & WALSH, C. (2015). Sequential planet formation in the HD 100546 protoplanetary disk? A&A, 580, A105. 124
- PINILLA, P., FLOCK, M., OVELAR, M.D.J. & BIRNSTIEL, T. (2016). Can dead zones create structures like a transition disk? A&A, 596, A81. 31
- PINTE, C. (2015). Continuum radiative transfer. In European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 102, 00006. 45
- PINTE, C., DENT, W.R.F., MÉNARD, F., HALES, A., HILL, T., CORTES,
  P. & DE GREGORIO-MONSALVO, I. (2016). Dust and Gas in the Disk of HL
  Tauri: Surface Density, Dust Settling, and Dust-to-gas Ratio. ApJ, 816, 25.
  76, 80
- PINTE, C., PRICE, D.J., MÉNARD, F., DUCHÊNE, G., DENT, W.R.F., HILL,
  T., DE GREGORIO-MONSALVO, I., HALES, A. & MENTIPLAY, D. (2018).
  Kinematic Evidence for an Embedded Protoplanet in a Circumstellar Disk.
  ApJ, 860, L13. 31, 32, 54, 69, 70, 174
- PINTE, C., VAN DER PLAS, G., MÉNARD, F., PRICE, D.J., CHRISTIAENS, V., HILL, T., MENTIPLAY, D., GINSKI, C., CHOQUET, E., BOEHLER, Y., DUCHÊNE, G., PEREZ, S. & CASASSUS, S. (2019). Kinematic detection of a planet carving a gap in a protoplanetary disk. *Nature Astronomy*, 3, 1109–1114. 31, 32, 86, 119, 144, 176
- PODIO, L., CODELLA, C., GUETH, F., CABRIT, S., BACHILLER, R., GUSDORF, A., LEE, C.F., LEFLOCH, B., LEURINI, S., NISINI, B. & TAFALLA, M. (2015). The jet and the disk of the HH 212 low-mass protostar imaged by ALMA: SO and SO<sub>2</sub> emission. A&A, 581, A85. 123

- POLLACK, J.B., HUBICKYJ, O., BODENHEIMER, P., LISSAUER, J.J., PODOLAK, M. & GREENZWEIG, Y. (1996). Formation of the Giant Planets by Concurrent Accretion of Solids and Gas. *Icarus*, **124**, 62–85. 9
- PONTOPPIDAN, K.M., SALYK, C., BLAKE, G.A., MEIJERINK, R., CARR, J.S.
  & NAJITA, J. (2010). A Spitzer Survey of Mid-Infrared Molecular Emission from Protoplanetary Disks. i. Detection Rates. ApJ, 720, 887–903. 19
- PONTOPPIDAN, K.M., SALYK, C., BERGIN, E.A., BRITTAIN, S., MARTY, B., MOUSIS, O. & ÖBERG, K.I. (2014). Volatiles in Protoplanetary Disks. *Protostars and Planets VI*, 363–385. 14
- PONTOPPIDAN, K.M., SALYK, C., BANZATTI, A., BLAKE, G.A., WALSH, C., LACY, J.H. & RICHTER, M.J. (2019). The Nitrogen Carrier in Inner Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 874, 92. 14
- POWELL, D., MURRAY-CLAY, R., PÉREZ, L.M., SCHLICHTING, H.E. & ROSENTHAL, M. (2019). New Constraints From Dust Lines on the Surface Densities of Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 878, 116. 65, 69
- PRINGLE, J.E. (1981). Accretion discs in astrophysics. *ARA&A*, **19**, 137–162. 6, 7
- PRZYGODDA, F., VAN BOEKEL, R., ÅBRAHÀM, P., MELNIKOV, S.Y., WA-TERS, L.B.F.M. & LEINERT, C. (2003). Evidence for grain growth in T Tauri disks. A&A, 412, L43–L46. 15
- QI, C., HO, P.T.P., WILNER, D.J., TAKAKUWA, S., HIRANO, N., OHASHI,
  N., BOURKE, T.L., ZHANG, Q., BLAKE, G.A., HOGERHEIJDE, M., SAITO,
  M., CHOI, M. & YANG, J. (2004). Imaging the Disk around TW Hydrae with
  the Submillimeter Array. ApJ, 616, L11–L14. 19

- QI, C., WILNER, D.J., CALVET, N., BOURKE, T.L., BLAKE, G.A., HOGER-HEIJDE, M.R., HO, P.T.P. & BERGIN, E. (2006). CO J = 6-5 Observations of TW Hydrae with the Submillimeter Array. ApJ, 636, L157–L160. 23
- QI, C., D'ALESSIO, P., ÖBERG, K.I., WILNER, D.J., HUGHES, A.M., AN-DREWS, S.M. & AYALA, S. (2011). Resolving the CO Snow Line in the Disk around HD 163296. ApJ, 740, 84. xvii, 13, 23, 56, 58, 60, 61, 64, 96, 174
- QI, C., ÖBERG, K.I. & WILNER, D.J. (2013a). H<sub>2</sub>CO and N<sub>2</sub>H<sup>+</sup> in Protoplanetary Disks: Evidence for a CO-ice Regulated Chemistry. ApJ, **765**, 34. 115
- QI, C., ÖBERG, K.I., WILNER, D.J., D'ALESSIO, P., BERGIN, E., AN-DREWS, S.M., BLAKE, G.A., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2013b). Imaging of the CO Snow Line in a Solar Nebula Analog. *Science*, **341**, 630–632. 28
- QI, C., OBERG, K.I., ANDREWS, S.M., WILNER, D.J., BERGIN, E.A., HUGHES, A.M., HOGHERHEIJDE, M. & D'ALESSIO, P. (2015). Chemical Imaging of the CO Snow Line in the HD 163296 Disk. ApJ, 813, 128. xvii, 28, 61, 63, 115
- QI, C., ÖBERG, K.I., ESPAILLAT, C.C., ROBINSON, C.E., ANDREWS, S.M., WILNER, D.J., BLAKE, G.A., BERGIN, E.A. & CLEEVES, L.I. (2019). Probing CO and N<sub>2</sub> Snow Surfaces in Protoplanetary Disks with N<sub>2</sub>H<sup>+</sup> Emission. *ApJ*, 882, 160. 28
- QUANZ, S.P., BIRKMANN, S.M., APAI, D., WOLF, S. & HENNING, T. (2012). Resolving the inner regions of the HD 97048 circumstellar disk with VLT/NACO polarimetric differential imaging. A&A, 538, A92. 144

- QUANZ, S.P., AMARA, A., MEYER, M.R., KENWORTHY, M.A., KASPER, M.
  & GIRARD, J.H. (2013). A Young Protoplanet Candidate Embedded in the Circumstellar Disk of HD 100546. ApJ, 766, L1. 123, 124, 149
- QUANZ, S.P., AMARA, A., MEYER, M.R., GIRARD, J.H., KENWORTHY, M.A. & KASPER, M. (2015). Confirmation and Characterization of the Protoplanet HD 100546 bDirect Evidence for Gas Giant Planet Formation at 50 AU. ApJ, 807, 64. 123, 124, 149
- QUILLEN, A.C. (2006). The Warped Circumstellar Disk of HD 100546. ApJ,
  640, 1078–1085. 147
- RAFIKOV, R.R. (2005). Can Giant Planets Form by Direct Gravitational Instability? ApJ, 621, L69–L72. 81
- REBULL, L.M., WOLFF, S.C. & STROM, S.E. (2004). Stellar Rotation in Young Clusters: The First 4 Million Years. AJ, 127, 1029–1051. 70
- REFFERT, S., BERGMANN, C., QUIRRENBACH, A., TRIFONOV, T. & KÜNSTLER, A. (2015). Precise radial velocities of giant stars. VII. Occurrence rate of giant extrasolar planets as a function of mass and metallicity. A&A, 574, A116. 180
- REMIJAN, A., SNYDER, L.E., FRIEDEL, D.N., LIU, S.Y. & SHAH, R.Y. (2003). A Survey of Acetic Acid toward Hot Molecular Cores. ApJ, 590, 314– 332. 58

REMIJAN, A.E.A. (2019). ALMA Technical Handbook. 36

RICCI, L., ROBBERTO, M. & SODERBLOM, D.R. (2008). THEHUBBLE SPACE TELESCOPE/ADVANCED CAMERA FOR SURVEYS ATLAS OF PROTOPLANETARY DISKS IN THE GREAT ORION NEBULA. The Astronomical Journal, **136**, 2136–2151. 17

- RICE, W.K.M., ARMITAGE, P.J., BATE, M.R. & BONNELL, I.A. (2003). The effect of cooling on the global stability of self-gravitating protoplanetary discs. MNRAS, 339, 1025–1030. 10
- RICE, W.K.M., LODATO, G., PRINGLE, J.E., ARMITAGE, P.J. & BONNELL, I.A. (2004). Accelerated planetesimal growth in self-gravitating protoplanetary discs. MNRAS, 355, 543–552. 6, 70, 81
- ROBITAILLE, T.P., WHITNEY, B.A., INDEBETOUW, R. & WOOD, K. (2007). Interpreting Spectral Energy Distributions from Young Stellar Objects. II. Fitting Observed SEDs Using a Large Grid of Precomputed Models. ApJS, 169, 328–352. 70
- RODRIGUEZ, L.F., CANTO, J., TORRELLES, J.M., GOMEZ, J.F., ANGLADA,
  G. & HO, P.T.P. (1994). Subarcsecond VLA maps of the disk and the jet in
  HL Tauri. ApJ, 427, L103–L106. 18
- ROSENFELD, K.A., ANDREWS, S.M., HUGHES, A.M., WILNER, D.J. & QI, C. (2013). A Spatially Resolved Vertical Temperature Gradient in the HD 163296 Disk. ApJ, 774, 16. 12, 77
- ROSENFELD, K.A., CHIANG, E. & ANDREWS, S.M. (2014). Fast Radial Flows in Transition Disk Holes. ApJ, **782**, 62. 116
- ROSOTTI, G.P., JUHASZ, A., BOOTH, R.A. & CLARKE, C.J. (2016). The minimum mass of detectable planets in protoplanetary discs and the derivation of planetary masses from high-resolution observations. *MNRAS*, 459, 2790– 2805. 30, 119

- RUFFLE, D.P., HARTQUIST, T.W., CASELLI, P. & WILLIAMS, D.A. (1999). The sulphur depletion problem. *MNRAS*, **306**, 691–695. 14, 141
- RUGE, J.P., FLOCK, M., WOLF, S., DZYURKEVICH, N., FROMANG, S., HENNING, T., KLAHR, H. & MEHEUT, H. (2016). Gaps, rings, and nonaxisymmetric structures in protoplanetary disks: Emission from large grains. A&A, 590, A17. 31
- SAKAI, N., OYA, Y., LÓPEZ-SEPULCRE, A., WATANABE, Y., SAKAI, T., HI-ROTA, T., AIKAWA, Y., CECCARELLI, C., LEFLOCH, B., CAUX, E., VAS-TEL, C., KAHANE, C. & YAMAMOTO, S. (2016). Subarcsecond Analysis of the Infalling-Rotating Envelope around the Class I Protostar IRAS 04365+2535. *ApJ*, 820, L34. 123
- SALINAS, V.N., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., MATHEWS, G.S., ÖBERG, K.I., QI, C., WILLIAMS, J.P. & WILNER, D.J. (2017). DCO<sup>+</sup>, DCN, and N<sub>2</sub>D<sup>+</sup> reveal three different deuteration regimes in the disk around the Herbig Ae star HD 163296. A&A, 606, A125. 74
- SCHÖIER, F.L., VAN DER TAK, F.F.S., VAN DISHOECK, E.F. & BLACK, J.H. (2005). An atomic and molecular database for analysis of submillimetre line observations. A&A, 432, 369–379. 46, 89, 125, 152
- SCHWARZ, K.R., BERGIN, E.A., CLEEVES, L.I., BLAKE, G.A., ZHANG, K., ÖBERG, K.I., VAN DISHOECK, E.F. & QI, C. (2016). The Radial Distribution of H<sub>2</sub> and CO in TW Hya as Revealed by Resolved ALMA Observations of CO Isotopologues. ApJ, 823, 91. 23
- SCHWARZ, K.R., BERGIN, E.A., CLEEVES, L.I., ZHANG, K., BERG, K.I., BLAKE, G.A. & ANDERSON, D. (2018). Unlocking CO depletion in protoplanetary disks. i. the warm molecular layer. ApJ, 856, 85. 23, 78, 173, 175

- SCHWARZ, K.R., TEAGUE, R. & BERGIN, E.A. (2019). Line Ratios Reveal  $N_2H^+$  Emission Originates above the Midplane in TW Hydrae. ApJ, 876, L13. 28
- SEMENOV, D., WIEBE, D. & HENNING, T. (2004). Reduction of chemical networks. II. Analysis of the fractional ionisation in protoplanetary discs. A&A, 417, 93–106. 16
- SHAKURA, N.I. & SUNYAEV, R.A. (1973). Black holes in binary systems. Observational appearance. A&A, 24, 337–355. 7
- SHU, F.H. (1977). Self-similar collapse of isothermal spheres and star formation. ApJ, 214, 488–497. 2
- SHU, F.H., ADAMS, F.C. & LIZANO, S. (1987). Star formation in molecular clouds - Observation and theory. ARA&A, 25, 23–81. 2
- SMITH, B.A. & TERRILE, R.J. (1984). A Circumstellar Disk around β Pictoris. Science, 226, 1421–1424. 17
- SMITH, D. & ADAMS, N.G. (1980). Laboratory studies of isotope fractionation in the reactions of C+ and HCO+ with CO - Interstellar implications. ApJ, 242, 424–431. 113
- SMITH, R.L., PONTOPPIDAN, K.M., YOUNG, E.D. & MORRIS, M.R. (2015). Heterogeneity in <sup>12</sup>CO/<sup>13</sup>CO Abundance Ratios toward Solar-type Young Stellar Objects. ApJ, 813, 120. 79
- STROM, K.M., STROM, S.E., EDWARDS, S., CABRIT, S. & SKRUTSKIE, M.F. (1989). Circumstellar material associated with solar-type pre-main-sequence stars - A possible constraint on the timescale for planet building. AJ, 97, 1451–1470. 18

- STURM, B., BOUWMAN, J., HENNING, T., EVANS, N.J., ACKE, B., MUL-DERS, G.D., WATERS, L.B.F.M., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., MEEUS, G., GREEN, J.D., AUGEREAU, J.C., OLOFSSON, J., SALYK, C., NAJITA, J., HERCZEG, G.J., VAN KEMPEN, T.A., KRISTENSEN, L.E., DOMINIK, C., CARR, J.S., WAELKENS, C., BERGIN, E., BLAKE, G.A., BROWN, J.M., CHEN, J.H., CIEZA, L., DUNHAM, M.M., GLASSGOLD, A., GÜDEL, M., HARVEY, P.M., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., JAFFE, D., JØRGENSEN, J.K., KIM, H.J., KNEZ, C., LACY, J.H., LEE, J.E., MARET, S., MEIJERINK, R., MERÍN, B., MUNDY, L., PONTOPPIDAN, K.M., VISSER, R. & YILDIZ, U.A. (2010). First results of the Herschel key program "Dust, Ice and Gas In Time" (DIGIT): Dust and gas spectroscopy of HD 100546. A&A, 518, L129. 124
- SZULÁGYI, J., MASSET, F., LEGA, E., CRIDA, A., MORBIDELLI, A. & GUIL-LOT, T. (2016). Circumplanetary disc or circumplanetary envelope? MNRAS, 460, 2853–2861. 32
- TABONE, B., CABRIT, S., BIANCHI, E., FERREIRA, J., PINEAU DES FORÊTS,
  G., CODELLA, C., GUSDORF, A., GUETH, F., PODIO, L. & CHAPILLON,
  E. (2017). ALMA discovery of a rotating SO/SO<sub>2</sub> flow in HH212. A possible MHD disk wind? A&A, 607, L6. 29, 170
- TAFALLA, M., SANTIAGO-GARCÍA, J., HACAR, A. & BACHILLER, R. (2010). A molecular survey of outflow gas: velocity-dependent shock chemistry and the peculiar composition of the EHV gas. A&A, 522, A91. 123
- TAKAHASHI, S.Z. & INUTSUKA, S.I. (2016). An Origin of Multiple Ring Structure and Hidden Planets in HL Tau: A Unified Picture by Secular Gravitational Instability. AJ, 152, 184. 72

- TAN, J.C., BELTRÁN, M.T., CASELLI, P., FONTANI, F., FUENTE, A., KRUMHOLZ, M.R., MCKEE, C.F. & STOLTE, A. (2014). Massive Star Formation. Protostars and Planets VI, 149–172. 5
- TAPIA, C., LIZANO, S., SIERRA, A., CARRASCO-GONZÁLEZ, C. & BAYONA-BOBADILLA, E. (2019). Exploring the Grain Properties in the Disk of HL Tau with an Evolutionary Model. ApJ, 887, 244. 79
- TAZZARI, M., TESTI, L., ERCOLANO, B., NATTA, A., ISELLA, A., CHAN-DLER, C.J., PÉREZ, L.M., ANDREWS, S., WILNER, D.J., RICCI, L., HEN-NING, T., LINZ, H., KWON, W., CORDER, S.A., DULLEMOND, C.P., CAR-PENTER, J.M., SARGENT, A.I., MUNDY, L., STORM, S., CALVET, N., GREAVES, J.A., LAZIO, J. & DELLER, A.T. (2016). Multiwavelength analysis for interferometric (sub-)mm observations of protoplanetary disks. Radial constraints on the dust properties and the disk structure. A&A, 588, A53. 23
- TEAGUE, R., GUILLOTEAU, S., SEMENOV, D., HENNING, T., DUTREY, A.,
  PIÉTU, V., BIRNSTIEL, T., CHAPILLON, E., HOLLENBACH, D. & GORTI,
  U. (2016). Measuring turbulence in TW Hydrae with ALMA: methods and
  limitations. A&A, 592, A49. 18
- TEAGUE, R., SEMENOV, D., GORTI, U., GUILLOTEAU, S., HENNING, T.,
  BIRNSTIEL, T., DUTREY, A., VAN BOEKEL, R. & CHAPILLON, E. (2017).
  A Surface Density Perturbation in the TW Hydrae Disk at 95 au Traced by
  Molecular Emission. ApJ, 835, 228. 27
- TEAGUE, R., BAE, J., BERGIN, E.A., BIRNSTIEL, T. & FOREMAN-MACKEY,
  D. (2018). A Kinematical Detection of Two Embedded Jupiter-mass Planets
  in HD 163296. ApJ, 860, L12. 31, 54, 69, 70, 174
- TEREBEY, S., SHU, F.H. & CASSEN, P. (1984). The collapse of the cores of slowly rotating isothermal clouds. ApJ, 286, 529–551. 3
- TESTI, L., BIRNSTIEL, T., RICCI, L., ANDREWS, S., BLUM, J., CARPENTER,
  J., DOMINIK, C., ISELLA, A., NATTA, A., WILLIAMS, J.P. & WILNER,
  D.J. (2014). Dust Evolution in Protoplanetary Disks. In H. Beuther, R.S.
  Klessen, C.P. Dullemond & T. Henning, eds., *Protostars and Planets VI*, 339.
  7
- TESTI, L., SKEMER, A., HENNING, T., BAILEY, V., DEFRÈRE, D., HINZ, P., LEISENRING, J., VAZ, A., ESPOSITO, S., FONTANA, A., MARCONI, A., SKRUTSKIE, M. & VEILLET, C. (2015). Hunting for Planets in the HL Tau Disk. ApJ, 812, L38. 71
- THE, P.S., FELENBOK, P., CUYPERS, H. & TJIN-A-DJIE, H.R.E. (1985). High resolution spectroscopic and photometric study of the possibility that HD 76534 and HD 163296 are Herbig Ae/Be-type stars. A&A, 149, 429–436. 54
- THI, W.F., VAN ZADELHOFF, G.J. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2004). Organic molecules in protoplanetary disks around T Tauri and Herbig Ae stars. A&A, 425, 955–972. 85
- THI, W.F., MÉNARD, F., MEEUS, G., MARTIN-ZAÏDI, C., WOITKE, P., TAT-ULLI, E., BENISTY, M., KAMP, I., PASCUCCI, I., PINTE, C., GRADY, C.A., BRITTAIN, S., WHITE, G.J., HOWARD, C.D., SANDELL, G. & EIROA, C. (2011). Detection of CH<sup>+</sup> emission from the disc around HD 100546. A&A, 530, L2. 124
- TIEFTRUNK, A., PINEAU DES FORETS, G., SCHILKE, P. & WALMSLEY, C.M. (1994). SO and H2S in low density molecular clouds. A&A, 289, 579–596. 14

- TILLING, I., WOITKE, P., MEEUS, G., MORA, A., MONTESINOS, B., RIVIERE-MARICHALAR, P., EIROA, C., THI, W.F., ISELLA, A., ROBERGE, A., MARTIN-ZAIDI, C., KAMP, I., PINTE, C., SANDELL, G., VACCA, W.D., MÉNARD, F., MENDIGUTÍA, I., DUCHÊNE, G., DENT, W.R.F., ARESU, G., MEIJERINK, R. & SPAANS, M. (2012). Gas modelling in the disc of HD 163296. A&A, 538, A20. 65
- TOOMRE, A. (1964). On the gravitational stability of a disk of stars. ApJ, **139**, 1217–1238. 6, 69, 80
- TSUKAGOSHI, T., MUTO, T., NOMURA, H., KAWABE, R., KANAGAWA, K.D., OKUZUMI, S., IDA, S., WALSH, C., MILLAR, T.J., TAKAHASHI, S.Z., HASHIMOTO, J., UYAMA, T. & TAMURA, M. (2019). Discovery of An auscale Excess in Millimeter Emission from the Protoplanetary Disk around TW Hya. ApJ, 878, L8. 32
- VAN BOEKEL, R., WATERS, L.B.F.M., DOMINIK, C., BOUWMAN, J., DE KOTER, A., DULLEMOND, C.P. & PARESCE, F. (2003). Grain growth in the inner regions of Herbig Ae/Be star disks. A&A, 400, L21–L24. 15
- VAN BOEKEL, R., MIN, M., WATERS, L.B.F.M., DE KOTER, A., DOMINIK, C., VAN DEN ANCKER, M.E. & BOUWMAN, J. (2005). A 10 μm spectroscopic survey of Herbig Ae star disks: Grain growth and crystallization. A&A, 437, 189–208. 15
- VAN DEN ANCKER, M.E., DE WINTER, D. & TJIN A DJIE, H.R.E. (1998).
  HIPPARCOS photometry of Herbig Ae/Be stars. A&A, 330, 145–154. 56, 86, 124
- VAN DER MAREL, N., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., BRUDERER, S., BIRNSTIEL, T., PINILLA, P., DULLEMOND, C.P., VAN KEMPEN, T.A., SCHMALZL, M.,

BROWN, J.M., HERCZEG, G.J., MATHEWS, G.S. & GEERS, V. (2013). A Major Asymmetric Dust Trap in a Transition Disk. Science, 340, 1199–1202. 25, 31, 145

- VAN DER MAREL, N., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., BRUDERER, S., PÉREZ, L. & ISELLA, A. (2015). Gas density drops inside dust cavities of transitional disks around young stars observed with ALMA. A&A, 579, A106. 25
- VAN DER MAREL, N., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., BRUDERER, S., ANDREWS, S.M., PONTOPPIDAN, K.M., HERCZEG, G.J., VAN KEMPEN, T. & MIOTELLO, A. (2016). Resolved gas cavities in transitional disks inferred from CO isotopologs with ALMA. A&A, 585, A58. 25
- VAN DER MAREL, N., WILLIAMS, J.P. & BRUDERER, S. (2018). Rings and Gaps in Protoplanetary Disks: Planets or Snowlines? *ApJ*, **867**, L14. 120
- VAN DER PLAS, G., VAN DEN ANCKER, M.E., ACKE, B., CARMONA, A., DOMINIK, C., FEDELE, D. & WATERS, L.B.F.M. (2009). Evidence for CO depletion in the inner regions of gas-rich protoplanetary disks. A&A, 500, 1137– 1141. 86, 92
- VAN DER PLAS, G., CASASSUS, S., MÉNARD, F., PEREZ, S., THI, W.F., PINTE, C. & CHRISTIAENS, V. (2014). Spatially Resolved HCN J = 4-3 and CS J = 7-6 Emission from the Disk around HD 142527. ApJ, **792**, L25. 116
- VAN DER PLAS, G., VAN DEN ANCKER, M.E., WATERS, L.B.F.M. & DO-MINIK, C. (2015). The structure of disks around Herbig Ae/Be stars as traced by CO ro-vibrational emission. A&A, 574, A75. 86
- VAN DER PLAS, G., WRIGHT, C.M., MÉNARD, F., CASASSUS, S., CANOVAS, H., PINTE, C., MADDISON, S.T., MAASKANT, K., AVENHAUS, H., CIEZA,

L., PEREZ, S. & UBACH, C. (2017). Cavity and other radial substructures in the disk around HD 97048. *A&A*, **597**, A32. 86, 87, 88, 90, 91, 119, 144, 176

- VAN DER TAK, F.F.S., BLACK, J.H., SCHÖIER, F.L., JANSEN, D.J. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2007). A computer program for fast non-LTE analysis of interstellar line spectra. With diagnostic plots to interpret observed line intensity ratios. A&A, 468, 627–635. 137
- VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2014). Astrochemistry of dust, ice and gas: introduction and overview. *Faraday Discussions*, **168**, 9. 43
- VAN DISHOECK, E.F., THI, W.F. & VAN ZADELHOFF, G.J. (2003). Detection of DCO<sup>+</sup> in a circumstellar disk. A&A, 400, L1–L4. 24
- VAN LEEUWEN, F. (2007). Validation of the new Hipparcos reduction. A&A,
  474, 653–664. 86
- VAN 'T HOFF, M.L.R., WALSH, C., KAMA, M., FACCHINI, S. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2017). Robustness of  $N_2H^+$  as tracer of the CO snowline. A & A, 599, A101. 28, 68
- VAN 'T HOFF, M.L.R., PERSSON, M.V., HARSONO, D., TAQUET, V., JØRGENSEN, J.K., VISSER, R., BERGIN, E.A. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2018). Imaging the water snowline in a protostellar envelope with H<sup>13</sup>CO<sup>+</sup>. A&A, 613, A29. 117
- VAN ZADELHOFF, G.J., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., THI, W.F. & BLAKE, G.A. (2001). Submillimeter lines from circumstellar disks around pre-main sequence stars. A&A, 377, 566–580. 85
- VENUTI, L., BOUVIER, J., FLACCOMIO, E., ALENCAR, S.H.P., IRWIN, J., STAUFFER, J.R., CODY, A.M., TEIXEIRA, P.S., SOUSA, A.P., MICELA,

G., CUILLANDRE, J.C. & PERES, G. (2014). Mapping accretion and its variability in the young open cluster NGC 2264: a study based on u-band photometry. *A&A*, **570**, A82. 70

- VISSER, R., VAN DISHOECK, E.F. & BLACK, J.H. (2009). The photodissociation and chemistry of CO isotopologues: applications to interstellar clouds and circumstellar disks. A&A, 503, 323–343. 79, 96, 112
- VISSER, R., BRUDERER, S., CAZZOLETTI, P., FACCHINI, S., HEAYS, A.N. & VAN DISHOECK, E.F. (2018). Nitrogen isotope fractionation in protoplanetary disks. A&A, 615, A75. 25
- VLEMMINGS, W.H.T., LANKHAAR, B., CAZZOLETTI, P., CECCOBELLO, C., DALL'OLIO, D., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., FACCHINI, S., HUMPHREYS, E.M.L., PERSSON, M.V., TESTI, L. & WILLIAMS, J.P. (2019). Stringent limits on the magnetic field strength in the disc of TW Hya. ALMA observations of CN polarisation. A&A, 624, L7. 18
- WAGNER, K., FOLLETE, K.B., CLOSE, L.M., APAI, D., GIBBS, A., KEP-PLER, M., MÜLLER, A., HENNING, T., KASPER, M., WU, Y.L., LONG, J., MALES, J., MORZINSKI, K. & MCCLURE, M. (2018). Magellan Adaptive Optics Imaging of PDS 70: Measuring the Mass Accretion Rate of a Young Giant Planet within a Gapped Disk. ApJ, 863, L8. 32, 181
- WAKELAM, V., HERBST, E., LOISON, J.C., SMITH, I.W.M., CHAN-DRASEKARAN, V., PAVONE, B., ADAMS, N.G., BACCHUS-MONTABONEL, M.C., BERGEAT, A., BÉROFF, K., BIERBAUM, V.M., CHABOT, M., DAL-GARNO, A., VAN DISHOECK, E.F., FAURE, A., GEPPERT, W.D., GERLICH, D., GALLI, D., HÉBRARD, E., HERSANT, F., HICKSON, K.M., HONVA-ULT, P., KLIPPENSTEIN, S.J., LE PICARD, S., NYMAN, G., PERNOT, P.,

SCHLEMMER, S., SELSIS, F., SIMS, I.R., TALBI, D., TENNYSON, J., TROE, J., WESTER, R. & WIESENFELD, L. (2012). A KInetic Database for Astrochemistry (KIDA). *ApJS*, **199**, 21. 42

- WALSH, C., MILLAR, T.J. & NOMURA, H. (2010). Chemical Processes in Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 722, 1607–1623. 40, 60, 115
- WALSH, C., NOMURA, H., MILLAR, T.J. & AIKAWA, Y. (2012). Chemical Processes in Protoplanetary Disks. II. On the Importance of Photochemistry and X-Ray Ionization. ApJ, 747, 114. 40, 95
- WALSH, C., JUHÁSZ, A., PINILLA, P., HARSONO, D., MATHEWS, G.S., DENT, W.R.F., HOGERHEIJDE, M.R., BIRNSTIEL, T., MEEUS, G., NO-MURA, H., AIKAWA, Y., MILLAR, T.J. & SANDELL, G. (2014a). ALMA Hints at the Presence of two Companions in the Disk around HD 100546. ApJ, 791, L6. 15, 39, 124, 126, 127
- WALSH, C., MILLAR, T.J., NOMURA, H., HERBST, E., WIDICUS WEAVER, S., AIKAWA, Y., LAAS, J.C. & VASYUNIN, A.I. (2014b). Complex organic molecules in protoplanetary disks. A&A, 563, A33. 44
- WALSH, C., NOMURA, H. & VAN DISHOECK, E. (2015). The molecular composition of the planet-forming regions of protoplanetary disks across the luminosity regime. A&A, 582, A88. 16, 116, 156
- WALSH, C., JUHÁSZ, A., MEEUS, G., DENT, W.R.F., MAUD, L.T., AIKAWA,
  Y., MILLAR, T.J. & NOMURA, H. (2016a). ALMA Reveals the Anatomy of the mm-sized Dust and Molecular Gas in the HD 97048 Disk. *ApJ*, 831, 200.
  86, 87, 88, 91, 92, 94, 104, 105, 119, 126, 143, 144, 176
- WALSH, C., LOOMIS, R.A., ÖBERG, K.I., KAMA, M., VAN 'T HOFF, M.L.R., MILLAR, T.J., AIKAWA, Y., HERBST, E., WIDICUS WEAVER, S.L. & NO-

MURA, H. (2016b). First Detection of Gas-phase Methanol in a Protoplanetary Disk. ApJ, 823, L10. 180

- WALSH, C., DALEY, C., FACCHINI, S. & JUHÁSZ, A. (2017). CO emission tracing a warp or radial flow within ≤100 au in the HD 100546 protoplanetary disk. A&A, 607, A114. 31, 127, 143, 147
- WATERS, L.B.F.M. & WAELKENS, C. (1998). Herbig Ae/Be Stars. ARA&A, 36, 233–266. 5
- WEIDENSCHILLING, S.J. (1977). Aerodynamics of solid bodies in the solar nebula. MNRAS, 180, 57–70. 9
- WICHITTANAKOM, C., OUDMAIJER, R.D., FAIRLAMB, J.R., MENDIGUTÍA, I., VIOQUE, M. & ABABAKR, K.M. (2020). The accretion rates and mechanisms of Herbig Ae/Be stars. *MNRAS*, 166. 54, 70, 86, 124
- WILLIAMS, J.P. & BEST, W.M.J. (2014). A Parametric Modeling Approach to Measuring the Gas Masses of Circumstellar Disks. ApJ, 788, 59. 13, 21, 65, 95, 179
- WILLIAMS, J.P. & CIEZA, L.A. (2011). Protoplanetary Disks and Their Evolution. ARA&A, 49, 67–117. 7, 8, 11
- WILLIAMS, J.P. & MCPARTLAND, C. (2016). Measuring Protoplanetary Disk Gas Surface Density Profiles with ALMA. ApJ, 830, 32. 65
- WILNER, D.J. (2004). Imaging protoplanetary disks with a square kilometer array. New A Rev., 48, 1363–1375. 182
- WILSON, T.L. (1999). Isotopes in the interstellar medium and circumstellar envelopes. *Reports on Progress in Physics*, 62, 143–185. 58, 77, 93, 97

- WOITKE, P. (2015). Heating and cooling processes in disks. In European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, vol. 102 of European Physical Journal Web of Conferences, 00011. 12
- WOITKE, P., KAMP, I. & THI, W.F. (2009a). Radiation thermo-chemical models of protoplanetary disks. I. Hydrostatic disk structure and inner rim. A&A, 501, 383–406. 12
- WOITKE, P., THI, W.F., KAMP, I. & HOGERHEIJDE, M.R. (2009b). Hot and cool water in Herbig Ae protoplanetary disks. A challenge for Herschel. A&A, 501, L5–L8. 117
- WOITKE, P., MIN, M., PINTE, C., THI, W.F., KAMP, I., RAB, C., AN-THONIOZ, F., ANTONELLINI, S., BALDOVIN-SAAVEDRA, C., CARMONA, A., DOMINIK, C., DIONATOS, O., GREAVES, J., GÜDEL, M., ILEE, J.D., LIEBHART, A., MÉNARD, F., RIGON, L., WATERS, L.B.F.M., ARESU, G., MEIJERINK, R. & SPAANS, M. (2016). Consistent dust and gas models for protoplanetary disks. I. Disk shape, dust settling, opacities, and PAHs. A&A, 586, A103. 94
- WOITKE, P., KAMP, I., ANTONELLINI, S., ANTHONIOZ, F., BALDOVIN-SAVEEDRA, C., CARMONA, A., DIONATOS, O., DOMINIK, C., GREAVES, J., GÜDEL, M., ILEE, J.D., LIEBHARDT, A., MENARD, F., MIN, M., PINTE, C., RAB, C., RIGON, L., THI, W.F., THUREAU, N. & WATERS, L.B.F.M. (2019). Consistent Dust and Gas Models for Protoplanetary Disks. III. Models for Selected Objects from the FP7 DIANA Project. PASP, 131, 064301. 65, 94, 156, 157

- WOOD, K., KENYON, S.J., WHITNEY, B.A. & BJORKMAN, J.E. (1996). Magnetic Accretion and Photopolarimetric Variability in T Tauri Stars. ApJ, 458, L79. 4
- WOODS, P.M. & WILLACY, K. (2009). Carbon Isotope Fractionation in Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 693, 1360–1378. 25, 97, 100, 112, 113, 176
- WRIGHT, M., PLAMBECK, R., HIROTA, T., GINSBURG, A., MCGUIRE, B., BALLY, J. & GODDI, C. (2020). Observations of the orion source i disk and outflow interface. *The Astrophysical Journal*, 889, 155. 165
- WU, C.J., HIRANO, N., TAKAKUWA, S., YEN, H.W. & ASO, Y. (2018). Physical and Chemical Conditions of the Protostellar Envelope and the Protoplanetary Disk in HL Tau. ApJ, 869, 59. 72, 79, 80, 175
- YEN, H.W., KOCH, P.M., LIU, H.B., PUSPITANINGRUM, E., HIRANO, N., LEE, C.F. & TAKAKUWA, S. (2016a). Stacking Spectra in Protoplanetary Disks: Detecting Intensity Profiles from Hidden Molecular Lines in HD 163296. *ApJ*, 832, 204. 56
- YEN, H.W., LIU, H.B., GU, P.G., HIRANO, N., LEE, C.F., PUSPITAN-INGRUM, E. & TAKAKUWA, S. (2016b). Gas Gaps in the Protoplanetary Disk around the Young Protostar HL Tau. ApJ, 820, L25. 75
- YEN, H.W., GU, P.G., HIRANO, N., KOCH, P.M., LEE, C.F., LIU, H.B.
  & TAKAKUWA, S. (2019). HL Tau Disk in HCO<sup>+</sup> (32) and (10) with ALMA: Gas Density, Temperature, Gap, and One-arm Spiral. ApJ, 880, 69. 76, 82
- YOUDIN, A.N. & GOODMAN, J. (2005). Streaming Instabilities in Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 620, 459–469. 9

- ZHANG, K., BLAKE, G.A. & BERGIN, E.A. (2015). Evidence of Fast Pebble Growth Near Condensation Fronts in the HL Tau Protoplanetary Disk. ApJ, 806, L7. 31, 71, 76
- ZHANG, K., BERGIN, E.A., BLAKE, G.A., CLEEVES, L.I., HOGERHEIJDE, M., SALINAS, V. & SCHWARZ, K.R. (2016). On the Commonality of 10-30 AU Sized Axisymmetric Dust Structures in Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 818, L16. 92
- ZHANG, K., BERGIN, E.A., BLAKE, G.A., CLEEVES, L.I. & SCHWARZ, K.R. (2017). Mass inventory of the giant-planet formation zone in a solar nebula analogue. *Nature Astronomy*, 1, 0130. 16, 21
- ZHANG, K., BERGIN, E.A., SCHWARZ, K., KRIJT, S. & CIESLA, F. (2019). Systematic Variations of CO Gas Abundance with Radius in Gas-rich Protoplanetary Disks. ApJ, 883, 98. 26
- ZHANG, K., BOSMAN, A.D. & BERGIN, E.A. (2020). Excess C/H in Protoplanetary Disk Gas from Icy Pebble Drift Across the CO Snowline. ApJ, 891, L16. 67
- ZHANG, S., ZHU, Z., HUANG, J., GUZMÁN, V.V., ANDREWS, S.M., BIRN-STIEL, T., DULLEMOND, C.P., CARPENTER, J.M., ISELLA, A., PÉREZ, L.M., BENISTY, M., WILNER, D.J., BARUTEAU, C., BAI, X.N. & RICCI, L. (2018). The Disk Substructures at High Angular Resolution Project (DSHARP). VII. The Planet-Disk Interactions Interpretation. ApJ, 869, L47. 25, 30
- ZHU, Z., NELSON, R.P., HARTMANN, L., ESPAILLAT, C. & CALVET, N. (2011). Transitional and Pre-transitional Disks: Gap Opening by Multiple Planets? ApJ, 729, 47. 29

- ZHU, Z., NELSON, R.P., DONG, R., ESPAILLAT, C. & HARTMANN, L. (2012). Dust Filtration by Planet-induced Gap Edges: Implications for Transitional Disks. ApJ, 755, 6. 119
- ZHU, Z., ZHANG, S., JIANG, Y.F., KATAOKA, A., BIRNSTIEL, T., DULLE-MOND, C.P., ANDREWS, S.M., HUANG, J., PÉREZ, L.M., CARPENTER, J.M., BAI, X.N., WILNER, D.J. & RICCI, L. (2019). One Solution to the Mass Budget Problem for Planet Formation: Optically Thick Disks with Dust Scattering. ApJ, 877, L18. 21, 83
- ZIURYS, L.M., FRIBERG, P. & IRVINE, W.M. (1989). Interstellar SiO as a Tracer of High-Temperature Chemistry. ApJ, 343, 201. 151
- ZSOM, A., ORMEL, C.W., GÜTTLER, C., BLUM, J. & DULLEMOND, C.P. (2010). The outcome of protoplanetary dust growth: pebbles, boulders, or planetesimals? II. Introducing the bouncing barrier. A&A, 513, A57. 7